
Date Published: 17 November 2021     

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 25 November 2021 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Election of Chairperson for the meeting Andrea Clarke

2  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

3  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

4  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

5  Safeguarding Children in Gloucestershire (Pages 7 - 18) Dr Marion 
Andrews-
Evans, 
Detective 
Superintendent 
Arman 
Mathieson, 
Chris Spencer

PLEASE SEND IN QUESTIONS ON THE FOLLOWING AGENDA ITEMS BY END OF DAY 
MONDAY 22 NOVEMBER 2021

6  Improvement Board Update (Pages 19 - 24) Andrew Ireland

7  Accelerated Improvement Plan (Pages 25 - 40) Gail Hancock

8  Performance Report (Pages 41 - 70) Andy Dempsey

9  Quality Assurance Framework (Pages 71 - 98) Rob England



    

10  Revenue Monitoring Report (Pages 99 - 106) Suzanne Hall

11  Ofsted Annual Conversation Outcome Letter (Pages 107 - 112) Chris Spencer, 
Cllr Stephen 
Davies, Cllr 
Philip Robinson

Membership – Cllr Alastair Chambers, Cllr Linda Cohen, Cllr David Drew, Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-
Chair), Cllr Nick Housden, Cllr Beki Hoyland, Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, 
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller (Chairman) and Cllr Emma Nelson

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese)

Co-Opted Member - Fiona Crouch and Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday 16 September 2021 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Charlotte Blanch
Cllr Alastair Chambers
Cllr Linda Cohen
Fiona Crouch
Cllr David Drew
Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-Chair)

Cllr Nick Housden
Cllr Beki Hoyland
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller (Chairman)
Cllr Emma Nelson
Ambassador for Vulnerable Children &
Young People

Officers in attendance: Andy Dempsey - Head of Strategy and Partnerships
Clare Dudman - Head of School Improvement
Lyn Green - Participation Officer
Kirsten Harrison - Director of Education
Mandy Quayle – Director of People and Digital Services 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
In respect of agenda item 5: Education Provision in Gloucestershire: -
 Cllr Ben Evans declared a personal interest as a Director of Chime Management 

CiC.
 Cllr Nick Housden declared a personal interest as a Director of Bridge Youth 

Services.

2. NOTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS - 17 JUNE AND 15 JULY 2021 
The notes of the meetings held on 17 June and 15 July 2021 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.  

3. CO-OPTION OF THE ROLE OF AMBASSADOR FOR VULNERABLE CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
The committee agreed to co-opt the role of Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young 
People on to the committee for the duration of this council.

4. EDUCATION PROVISION IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
4.1 The committee was pleased to welcome Kirsten Harrison, Director of Education, and Clare 

Dudman, Head of School Improvement, particularly as both had only been in post for two 
weeks. (The presentation slides to accompany this agenda item were published on the 
council website.)

4.2 The Director of Education informed the committee that their key role was to look to 
establish appropriate vehicles for change and improvement, and develop collaborative 
system leadership. They stated that their focus would be to aim for influence on the system 
in the best interests of the children and young people of Gloucestershire. 

4.3 The committee was informed that the new Ofsted framework brought outstanding schools 
back into the inspection regime. Over 20 schools in Gloucestershire have not been 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

inspected for over 10 years; there could have been many changes in the school during that 
time.

4.4 The current climate was challenging for everyone, including, but not limited to, the recovery 
from Covid, financial challenges, and pressures on high needs provision. 

4.5 Members were informed that the council does not have a fixed position around 
Academisation, but could not ignore the national agenda. The Education Reference Group, 
which brought together the Director of Education, the Director of Strategy and Partnerships, 
the Regional Schools’ Commissioner’s Office, the Dioceses and the Chairs of the 
Headteacher’s Associations – secondary, primary and special, was established in the 
summer term 2021 and has met twice. The purpose of the group was to discuss local 
education system areas of operation, opportunities and barriers to collaborative working as 
well as considering innovative ways to work together for the benefit of young people.

4.6 The committee noted that the SEND area review was due within the next 18 months to two 
years. A SEND strategy document would be received by Cabinet in December 2021.

4.7 Both the Director and Head of School Improvement would be spending time getting to 
know the teams, and looking at those schools and aspects of the school system that were 
causing particular concern. 

4.8 The committee was informed that one of the upsides of Covid was that it had led to more 
effective weekly communication with Headteachers, which had resulted in a better level of 
trust and understanding; it would be important to build on this. 

4.9 Members were informed that officers were working actively to achieve closer harmonisation 
between education and social care teams to better collectively  support the most vulnerable 
children and young people. 

4.10 It was questioned whether the performance data indicated that educational achievement in 
Gloucestershire was benefiting from pupils from outside the county accessing our grammar 
schools. It was explained that this type of data would be hard to extrapolate, and that it was 
important to note that young people from Gloucestershire also travelled cross border for 
their education.

4.11 In response to a question the committee was informed that it was the council’s role to 
support schools to ensure that the pupil premium was used as effectively as possible. 
However its operational and strategic use was determined by individual schools. 

4.12 It was questioned whether Elective Home Education (EHE) was an issue that would be 
investigated? The Director explained that this would be a focus area. There has been a 
significant increase in the number of young people home educating across 2019/20, and it 
would be important to understand the reasons why parents were making this choice, and 
the impact of Covid.

4.13 In response to a question regarding alternative provision the Director explained that this 
provision was being reviewed as part of a transformation project; there was the possibility 
that we did not have the right provision in place to meet the needs of all children and young 
people. It was agreed that this was a potential item for the committee’s workplan. Members 
agreed that it would be important to ensure that this provision was of the required quality. 
The Head of School Improvement informed members that it was important that schools 
provided a curriculum that was fit for purpose. Ofsted would be looking closely at this 
aspect of provision.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

4.14 A member shared their concerns regarding a particular Academy Trust, and asked a 
question about what could be done with regard to Academy Trusts that were not 
performing as required. It was explained that all the local authority could do was to try and 
build a good working relationship with a Trust, and work with the Regional Schools 
Commissioner. It was also explained that with regard to school buildings the responsibility 
for these also sat within the Trust; the Regional Schools Commissioner would have teams 
looking at the quality of buildings. Another significant factor was the shift to an ACEs 
trauma aware practice and a focus on how it could be ensured that Academies (and Multi 
Academy Trusts (MATs)) were taking this on board. The Director informed members that 
these issues would be worked through the Education Reference Group; working with 
systems leaders to get system buy in and make progress with these issues.

4.15 With regard to school exclusions the committee was aware that some MATs have a zero 
tolerance approach; this was at odds with the restorative practice approach promoted by 
the local authority. The committee had commissioned a task group to look at the issue of 
school exclusions in the previous council. Members remained concerned with the number 
of students being excluded and indicated that they would wish to follow up on this matter. 
These were our most vulnerable children and young people and it was important that they 
did not miss out on their education. The committee was informed that there was a lot of 
work in place with regard to this area of concern. 

4.16 The Director agreed that being excluded was one of the most catastrophic things that could 
happen to a child/young person. It was important to try to understand what had brought 
them to that crisis point. The Head of School Improvement stated that it would be good to 
think that the school would reach out for support before it got to this point. It was stated that 
it was often the case that the individual at risk of being excluded was known to other 
agencies. It was acknowledged that partnership working/multi agency support was 
important. A key factor would be the support that the school put in place around the child to 
avoid permanent exclusion.

4.17 It was questioned how every child who was good enough to go to a grammar school could 
be encouraged to do so. The Director indicated that they did not know the answer to this 
question. Some members agreed that this needed to change; it was important that every 
child was encouraged to reach their potential.

4.18 In response to a question the committee was informed that the county would be welcoming 
35 Afghan refugee families; this would be coordinated through GARAS (Gloucestershire 
Action for Refugees and Asylum Seekers www.garas.org.uk). 

4.19 Members were concerned with regard to the morale and mental health and wellbeing of 
teachers. The Director informed the committee that they met with GASH (Gloucestershire 
Association of Secondary Headteachers), GAPH (Gloucestershire Association of Primary 
Headteachers), and GASSH (Gloucestershire Association of Special School 
Headteachers), on a weekly basis. Mental health and wellbeing was discussed at these 
meetings, and an education wellbeing charter had recently been published by the DfE for 
rollout in schools. 

4.20 It was stated that it would be helpful to have a map of Gloucestershire showing where 
schools were located, and their Ofsted rating, to better understand the picture across the 
county.
ACTION: Kirsten Harrison

Page 3

http://www.garas.org.uk/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

5. DIGITAL AND ICT SERVICE CHILDREN'S SERVICES REPORT 
5.1 The committee received a briefing from the Director of People and Digital Services. The 

Director was clear that the state of the ICT service had negatively impacted on children’s 
services. However, they wanted to give the committee confidence that there was a plan in 
place to address this position.

5.2 The Director described the challenges that had been encountered as the council tried to 
move toward a more sustainable future for its ICT Service. The pandemic had proved to be 
a particularly challenging time with the service not immediately best placed to be able to 
support the level of remote working that would be required. This had also delayed some of 
the planned improvement work. The focus now was on improving and replacing much of 
the infrastructure. The committee was informed that some of the inherited inconsistencies 
were causing some issues, but things were improving month on month. The service was 
now receiving positive feedback from children’s services. 

5.3 It was noted that the service was about to begin the rollout of Microsoft 365 which would be 
a further increase in the stability of ICT.

5.4 The Cabinet Member Safeguarding Children and Early Years informed members that they 
had met with Director on this matter. They wished to record their thanks for the work 
undertaken to improve the situation. The committee was also informed that the Cabinet 
Member had seen an improvement in feedback from Children’s Services.

5.5 Members were concerned that this could have a negative impact on the expected Ofsted 
Inspection. The Director stated that there was no straightforward answer to this question. 
There was a difficult period in April and May (2021) as the (inherited) system had not been 
fully documented by the previous provider and was not fully understood by the present 
incumbent. However, the number of Priority 1 incidents had now significantly reduced, and 
the previous issues around the MASH were no longer being seen. There had been a period 
where there had been a lot of frustration.

5.6 The Director informed members that Ofsted would want to see that there was a plan in 
place to address issues. The Director believed that the current position with ICT was not 
negatively impacting the council’s ability to keep children safe.

5.7 The Director of Partnerships and Strategy (Children’s Services) informed the committee 
that the operational impact at the start of the pandemic had included connectivity issues 
related to LiquidLogic, logging on to the system, and an inability to have collective 
conversations. These issues had impacted on performance data; children’s services were 
required to respond to particular issues within 4 hours. A WhatsApp group had been 
established to enable an immediate sharing of problems. The traffic in this group has fallen 
significantly; the concerns and number of incidents have reduced. As part of the 6 month 
review officers had spoken with the DfE and were clear that this situation was not 
preventing council from keeping children safe. The SEF (Statement of Evidence) would 
reference this situation but would show that there has been improvement. The Director was 
cautiously optimistic. 

5.8 It was agreed that when Microsoft365 was rolled out that there must be the appropriate 
training and support for officers.

5.9 The committee asked that a timeline of key milestones be produced to enable members to 
better track progress.
ACTION: Mandy Quayle

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

6. COMMITTEE WORKPLAN 
6.1 In addition to the items already included in the work plan to add: -

 The outcome of the Ofsted Inspection (this may require an additional meeting of the 
committee)

 Exclusions – the Timpson review into exclusions and the committee’s task group 
report to be shared with members

 Domestic Abuse – January 2022
 Alternative provision
 Adoption
 Fostering
 Peer to peer violence 
 Education – how can children and young people be inspired to achieve.
 Gangs

6.2 It was agreed that Performance Reports be scheduled on a quarterly basis, and that 
members would send in questions on these reports at least two days in advance of the 
meeting. 

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.33 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



P a g e  | 0 

 

 

  

GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
SAFEGUARDING 

CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP 
      

 

Summary Overview for CFOSG - A full copy of the Partnerships 

Published arrangements can be found on the GSCP Website 

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gscp/working-together-

arrangements/ 

2021 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gscp/working-together-arrangements/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gscp/working-together-arrangements/


P a g e  | 1 

Foreword  
 
Working Together to Safeguard Children places a ‘shared and equal duty’ on NHS Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group, Gloucestershire Constabulary and Gloucestershire County Council for 
local arrangements. We embrace those responsibilities and view this as a real opportunity to further 
embed child safeguarding considerations across our own agencies and the wider local partnership 
under the banner of the “Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Partnership” (GSCP).    

 
The arrangements set out in this document allow us to both build on best practice and to develop our 
own local approach.  Learning from past incidents and embedding that learning within our 
organisations are matters that can develop along local lines reflecting Gloucestershire's collective 
commitment towards a trauma informed and restorative approach to practice, informed by the 
learning from ACEs.  Our arrangements will continue to develop as confidence increases.  We welcome 
the contribution of our partners and stakeholders and community to what we would hope is an 
ongoing and rich conversation.   

 
We all share the same aim; namely, that the safety, health, welfare  and wellbeing of our children and 
young people is secured and that we remain open to learning and improving in order to deal with the 
many challenges and opportunities presented by a rapidly changing world.  

 
Safeguarding though remains ‘everybody’s business’ and we thank you for your continued support, 
hard work and commitment.’  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Marion Andrews Evans 

Chair GSCP Executive 

Executive Nurse 

Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

Craig Holden   

Assistant Chief Constable 

Gloucestershire 

Constabulary 

Chris Spencer 

Director of Childrens 

Services Gloucestershire 

County Council 

Page 8



 

P a g e  | 2 

 

Table of Contents 
Foreword .................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Working Together to Safeguard Children Local arrangements for child safeguarding in Gloucestershire 3 

1.0   Background .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2.0  Key Groups .................................................................................................................................... 4 

3.0  GSCP Business Unit ....................................................................................................................... 5 

4.0 Independent Scrutiny..................................................................................................................... 6 

5.0  Funding of Local Arrangements ..................................................................................................... 6 

6.0  Annual Reporting, Business Planning, Performance Management and Quality Assurance ......... 7 

7.0  Multi-agency Threshold Arrangements ........................................................................................ 7 

8.0  Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) ....................................................................................... 7 

9.0  Links with Schools, Educational settings and Early Years Providers ............................................. 7 

10.0 Child Death, Rapid Review and Serious Incident Notifications ..................................................... 8 

11.0 Escalation of Professional Concerns – Dispute Resolution ............................................................ 8 

12.0 The Views of Children and Families ............................................................................................... 8 

13.0 Domestic Homicide Review Protocol ............................................................................................. 9 

14.0 Child Death Overview Panel .......................................................................................................... 9 

15.0 Channel Panel ................................................................................................................................ 9 

16.0 People in Positions of Trust: Allegations Management Arrangements ......................................... 9 

17.0 Duties under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 ................................................ 9 

Working Together links to Gloucestershire Governance Network .......................................................... 11 

 

  

Page 9

file://///SVRSHIR160/dajones$/Desktop/GSCP%20Executive%20Published%20Arrangements%20Redacted%20DRJV1.docx%23_Toc86752505


 

Page 3 of 11 
 

Local arrangements for Child Safeguarding in Gloucestershire 
 

1.0 Background 
 

1.1. The document sets out the arrangements to enable the local partner agencies in 
Gloucestershire to meet the requirements of Working Together to Safeguard Children 
guidance collectively, as the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Partnership (GSCP).  This 
document should be read alongside Working Together To Safeguard Children guidance which 
is currently 2018 amended December 2020. All reference to Working Together in this 
document relates to this guidance. 
 

1.2. Working Together to Safeguard Children is the key statutory guidance for local partner 
agencies to ensure children are kept safe from harm.  Within the guidance, safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children is defined as: 

 protecting  children from maltreatment 

 preventing impairment of children’s health or development 

 ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe and effective 
care; and 

 taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes 

1.3 The arrangements set out in these proposals will apply to the County of Gloucestershire, with 
the safeguarding partners (as defined above) being: 

 Gloucestershire County Council 

 Gloucestershire Constabulary 

 NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

1.4 The Child Death Review partners for Gloucestershire are: 

 Gloucestershire County Council 

 NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

1.5 The three safeguarding partners, working though the safeguarding structure established under 
these arrangements, will co-ordinate their safeguarding services and engage the wider range 
of partners with continuing Section 11 duties, including: 

 local authority - children’s and adult social 
care services, public health, housing, sport, 
culture and leisure services, licensing 
authorities and youth services 

 NHS organisations and agencies and the 
independent sector, including NHS England 
and clinical commissioning groups, NHS 
Trusts, NHS Foundation Trusts and General 
Practitioners 

 Police, including police and crime 
commissioners and the chief officer of 

each police force in England and the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime in 
London and the British Transport Police 

 National Probation Service  

 Governors/Directors of Prisons and Young 
Offender Institutions (YOIs) 

 Directors of Secure Training Centres (STCs) 

 Principals of Secure Colleges 

 Youth Offending Teams/Services (YOT)

 
1.6 Within these arrangements, the wider safeguarding partnership comprises of the following 

‘Relevant Agencies’: 

 Gloucester City Council  Cheltenham Borough Council 

Page 10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/942454/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_inter_agency_guidance.pdf


 

Page 4 of 11 
 

 Stroud District Council 

 Tewkesbury Borough Council 

 Forest of Dean District Council 

 Cotswold District Council 

 HM Court Services 

 Crown Prosecution Service 

 National Probation Service 

 CAFCASS 

 Gloucestershire Health & Care Services 

 General Practitioners Representative 

 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust 

 South West Ambulance Service Trust 

 Gloucestershire Association of Special 
School Heads 

 Gloucestershire Association of Primary 
School Heads 

 Gloucestershire Association of Secondary 
School Heads 

 Further Education 

 Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service 

 Gloucestershire Diocese 

 Voluntary Sector   

 

1.7 The GSCP is a signatory to the South West Child Protection Procedures and, in addition, have a 
library of established local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements. 

1.8 Information sharing is essential for effective safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children and young people. Gloucestershire’s Information Sharing Partnership Arrangements 
(GISPA) provides the framework for effective and lawful sharing of information across the 
partnership and has been agreed by all parties. 

1.9 The GSCP identifies its priorities through a cycle of needs assessment, planning, delivery and 
review.  The priorities (below) comprise of a range of capacity building measures aimed to 
enhance collective arrangements alongside specific areas of concern or risk. These include: 

Capacity building: 

 Ongoing development of Child 
Safeguarding Performance Dashboard and 
quality assurance arrangements. 

 Ensuring the consistent application of 
Thresholds across all safeguarding partners 

 Evaluating the impact of training and 
learning from child safeguarding practice 
reviews, serious incidents and rapid 
reviews etc. 

 Development of an 
exploitation/vulnerability Profile/Strategy 

 Ensuring compliance with safeguarding 
procedures, protocols and tools 

 Exploring the conduct and effectiveness of 
Strategy Discussions 

 Information Sharing for the Safeguarding 
of Children 

 
Key safeguarding themes: 

 Children of Concern – developing a multi-agency response before children are in crisis 

 Assurance on Early Help – including issues of consent 

 Impact of Exploitation and Missing Strategy and Action Plan 

 Inclusion  - including missing education, exclusions and Elective Home Education 

 Improving the multi-agency response to Neglect including use of the Neglect Toolkit 

 Pre-birth and reducing injuries in non-mobile babies. 

2.0 Key Groups  
 

2.1 The essential architecture of Gloucestershire’s arrangements to deliver the requirements of 
Working Together will comprise: 

 A Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Partnership Executive comprising of the three principal 
Safeguarding Partner Strategic Leads, their respective Lead Officers, GSCP Business Manager and 

Page 11

https://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/gloucestershire/index.html
https://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/gloucestershire/local_resources.html
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/data-protection/information-sharing/


 

Page 5 of 11 
 

(37Hrs) 

GSCP Business Manager 

(30Hrs) 
Senior Administrator  

(37Hrs) 
Practice Development 

Manager 

(37 Hrs)  
Statutory Review Coordinator  
Child Death/ Safeguarding Reviews 

(37Hrs) 
Safeguarding in 

Education Traded 
Service Manager  

(16 Hrs) 
Safeguarding in 

Education Officer 

(22 Hrs) 
Performance 
Improvement 

Officer 

(55 hrs)  
Administration 

Chair of the GSCP Management Group.  The GSCP sets the strategic direction for the partnership 
and is the key decision-making group for policy, procedural and process changes. 
 

 A GSCP Management Group chaired by a senior officer from one of the safeguarding partners and 
comprising of representatives of the local partner and relevant agencies The Chair will be 
appointed and mandated by the Executive. The Management Group provides direction and 
support for the GSCP Subgroups who are the engine room for the development of local child 
safeguarding and welfare arrangements as mandated by the GSCP Executive.  Its membership is 
drawn from the Chairs of the formal GSCP Subgroups, the Safeguarding Support Unit Manager and 
GSCP Rapid Review Lead Officer. 

 

 GSCP Subgroups are in place to  drive and deliver the work of the partnership and are as follows:  

a. Quality and Improvement in Practice 
Subgroup (QiiP)  

b. Education and Early Years Subgroup 
c. Child Exploitation and Missing Subgroup 

d. CSPA&MASH Subgroup  
e. Districts Safeguarding Subgroup 
f. Policies and Procedures Subgroup 
g. Child Death Overview Panel 

 

 A Scheme of Delegation has been developed setting out the responsibilities and accountabilities 
for the Executive, Management Group and Subgroups to ensure decisions are taken at the most 
appropriate level and subject to effective oversight.   

2.2 The GSCP will have strong links with the Health and Well Being Board and Safer 
Gloucestershire. The attached structure chart outlines how the work of the Safeguarding 
Partners established under Working Together will integrate within the strategic governance 
arrangements for Gloucestershire.  

3.0  GSCP Business Unit 
 
3.1  The child safeguarding arrangements set out in this document are supported by the GSCP 

Business Unit, managed by the GSCP Business Manager and reporting directly to the GSCP 
Executive Chair. Its unique role representing the partnership affords it the opportunity to 
provide the GSCP with a management hub for independent scrutiny activity.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/10570/gscp-scheme-of-delegation.pdf


 

Page 6 of 11 
 

 

 

3.2  The Business Unit is responsible for delivering the secretariat function for the GSCP. In addition 
to the oversight and delivery of the following on behalf of the Executive:  

 Multi-agency Safeguarding Arrangements  
o Management and deployment of the Independent Scrutiny function  
o Section 11 and S175 Audit processes 
o GSCP Budget Management  
o Commissioning Annual Report writing and publication  
o Administration for the GSCP Safeguarding Structure   

 Improving Child Protection and Safeguarding Practice 
o Serious Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews Process 
o Child Death & Acute Life-Threatening Event (ALTE) Review Processes  
o Multi-agency Audits  
o Safeguarding Data Reporting as directed by the GSCP Executive 
o Multi-agency Safeguarding Training 

 

3.0 Independent Scrutiny 
 

4.1  Independent Scrutiny of these arrangements is provided by a range of means and processes. 
The role of independent scrutiny is to provide assurance around the effectiveness of multi-
agency arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in a local area, 
including arrangements to identify and review serious child safeguarding incidents. 
Independent scrutiny forms part of a wider assurance system which includes independent 
inspectorates’ (Ofsted, CQC), individual safeguarding partners internal assurance processes, 
Section 11/175 audits and Joint Targeted Area Inspections.  

4.2  The GSCP have set out its arrangements for independent scrutiny and the reporting process 
for feeding back on the effectiveness of local arrangements. 

 

4.0 Funding of Local Arrangements 
 

5.1     Working Together requires that Safeguarding Partners agree a fair and equitable approach to 
the funding of any local arrangements. The GSCP agreed an equitable funding model in 
keeping with the Alan Woods recommendation “Ensuring that local arrangements are 
appropriately funded is one of the key tasks of the three safeguarding partners” maintaining 
the previously agreed funding model for 2020. The Local Authority, who have historically been 
the largest contributor, have retained that position but with increased contributions from both 
the Clinical Commissioning Group and the Constabulary provides funding sustainability for the 
GSCP to meet its statutory duties.  

 

Partner Contributions Budgeted Contribution % of Budget 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group £90,381 29.93% 

Gloucestershire Constabulary £50,118 16.60% 

Gloucestershire County Council £161,488 53.48% 

Page 13

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11694/gloucestershire-safeguarding-children-partnership-independent-scrutiny-function-april-2021.pdf


 

Page 7 of 11 
 

5.0 Annual Reporting, Business Planning, Performance Management and Quality 
Assurance 
 

6.1 In order to bring transparency for children, families and all practitioners about the activity 
undertaken, the safeguarding partners must publish a report at least once in every 12-month 
period. The report must set out what they have done as a result of the arrangements, 
including on child safeguarding practice reviews, and how effective these arrangements have 
been in practice.  GSCP Executive Annual Reports  

6.2 GSCP has an approved a child safeguarding data dashboard drawn from an appropriate range 
of national indicators with the GSCP Subgroups developing the arrangements for data 
collection and exceptions reporting at a subgroup level to the Executive. The Executive have a 
contracted Performance Improvement Officer as part of the Business Unit to support and 
improve the partnerships ability to collect, collate and analyse data. 

6.3 The GSCP currently uses a variety of approaches to test the effectiveness of safeguarding 
arrangements across agencies including the use of an annual safeguarding audit – Section 11 
Audit (for agencies) and a Section 175 Audit (for schools and colleges).  Section 11 
responsibilities are reinforced within Working Together to Safeguard Children; the GSCP has 
developed a model for Section 11 audits and the potential for shorter thematic audits where a 
clear links to serious safeguarding case review and other review findings dictate the need for 
assurances. 

7.0  Multi-agency Threshold Arrangements 
 
7.1 GSCP regularly revises their collective approach toward the provision of support for children 

and families.  They set out Gloucestershire’s Levels of Intervention Guidance – Working 
Together to Provide Early Help, Targeted and Specialist Support for Children and Families in 
Gloucestershire.  

8.0  Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
 
8.1 The multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is subject to collective oversight by a Childrens 

Single Point of Contact & MASH (CSPA&MASH) Subgroup which comprises of senior 
representatives from local partner agencies and is, in turn, accountable to the Executive. The 
designation of the subgroup being CSPA & MASH reflects that not all contacts to the front door 
are for safeguarding services. There is a consensus amongst the Safeguarding Partners that the 
Gloucestershire MASH is the key interface for operational activity to safeguard children.  
Gloucestershire MASH is underpinned by a multi-agency threshold document to ensure a 
consistent approach amongst partners towards referrals for children’s social care and 
intervention. 

9.0  Links with Schools, Educational settings and Early Years Providers 
 
9.1 Schools, education settings and early year’s providers have a pivotal role to play in promoting 

the safeguarding and welfare of children and young people. It is important to note that the 
guidance provided by Working Together to Safeguard Children applies in its entirety to all 
education and early years settings, as ‘Relevant Agencies’. The GSCP seeks assurance about the 
effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements within these sectors through its annual Section 
175 audit process. 

9.2  The GSCP Education and Early Years Subgroup provides a robust link with the sector, including 
the Further Education, Independent schools and other independent Training Providers, of 
which there are a number in Gloucestershire. The education sector is engaged at all levels of 

Page 14

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gscp/working-together-arrangements/annual-reports/
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11836/gsce-section-11-procedure-v12-sept-2021.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11755/gloucestershire-revised-loi-guidance-v8-july-2021.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11755/gloucestershire-revised-loi-guidance-v8-july-2021.pdf


 

Page 8 of 11 
 

the GSCP including at the GSCP Executive and relationships are robust and well developed. 
Engagement with early years’ settings is via an active ‘Early Years Forum’ with representation 
drawn from across the sector. This will continue to form part of these arrangements. 

9.3  There is a Traded Service for Education & Early Years Settings in place under the GSCP, 
delivered through its Business Unit. It offers bespoke training, information advice and 
guidance, regular updates and brief guides around thematic issues. The team currently serves 
around 85% of settings in Gloucestershire.  

10.0 Child Death, Serious Incident Notifications and Serious Safeguarding Reviews  
 
10.1 Ofsted has published guidance on how local authorities should report a serious incident of 

child abuse or neglect, or the death of a child who is looked after.  Since 29 June 2018, local 
authorities in England have been required to notify the national Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel within 5 working days of becoming aware of a serious incident.  

10.2 In order to ensure Gloucestershire safeguarding partners and local agencies can comply with 
these changes, a multi-agency process guide has been developed. Its aim is to ensure a timely 
and appropriate response by local agencies when they become aware of a child death, acute 
life-threatening event or serious safeguarding incident.   

Once notification has commenced, this will then flow into a Child Death Review or child 
safeguarding practice review at local or national level, the latter informed by the views of the 
Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel (National Panel). 

10.3 Responsibility for learning the lessons from serious child safeguarding incidents lies at a 
national level with the National Panel and at local level with the GSCP. The QiiP Subgroup will 
ensure dissemination of learning and provide the link between the national and local response 
to incidents. 

11.0 Escalation of Professional Concerns – Dispute Resolution 
 
11.1  The GSCP has a robust escalation and dispute resolution guidance policy document and 

process in line with Working Together and the South West Child Protection Procedure Manual.  

11.2 A central feature of our arrangements is a commitment to ongoing inter-agency 
communication based on openness; transparency and mutual respect in order resolve 
concerns by informal means, with the use of formal processes kept to a minimum. Dispute 
resolution will also be child-centred, with clarity on the impact/change for the child the 
escalation is seeking to achieve.   

11.3 As part of the GSCP’s dispute resolution process the GSCP Resolution Group enables senior 
GSCP Executive members to realise a shared and equal responsibility for serious safeguarding 
situations and to avoid taking a reactive stance along specialist divisions. It is a multi-agency 
‘statutory partner’ advisory group  ensuring that senior managers become more involved in 
overseeing risk management, the resolution of disputes and providing consultation or 
resources. 

11.4 The Chair of the GSCP Executive supported by the Business Manager will be the final stage of 
local resolution.  It is acknowledged that Safeguarding Partners are able in extremis to escalate 
concerns to the Secretary of State if local resolution is not achieved. 

12.0 The Views of Children and Families 
 

Page 15

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11849/gscp-safeguarding-practice-review-procedure-2021-v12-sept-2021.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11758/escalation-policy-july-2021-v13-approved.pdf


 

Page 9 of 11 
 

12.1 Obtaining the views of children, young people and families is essential in ensuring that local 
agencies and services are well positioned to meet their needs and particularly so in ensuring 
that the most vulnerable children are effectively safeguarded.  

12.3 The effectiveness of advocacy, return interview and support services for children and young 
people is a further area for development as part of these arrangements. 

13.0 Domestic Homicide Review Protocol 
 
13.1 Safer Gloucestershire, which is the county wide partnership for safer community activity in 

Gloucestershire, has a published protocol for Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHR) in order to 
ensure a consistent approach to the completion and dissemination of multi-agency learning 
across the county. 

14.0 Child Death Overview Panel 
14.1 Gloucestershire has a well-established Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) that facilitates 

comprehensive multi-agency reviews of child deaths and Acute Life-Threatening Events, in 
order to better understand how and why children die.  

14.2 The child death review partners with the responsibility for Child Death Reviews (CDR) are the 
Local Authority and the Clinical Commissioning Group.  

15.0 Channel Panel 
 
15.1 Gloucestershire has a well-established Channel Panel that operates alongside our multi-agency 

child safeguarding arrangements, acknowledging that the radicalisation of children and young 
people involves the potential for safeguarding harm.  The involvement of children’s social care 
practitioners within both our Channel and Safeguarding Partnership ensures that where 
vulnerabilities are identified that require intervention from social services or the individual is 
known to social services the appropriate support is provided. 

 

16.0 People in Positions of Trust: Allegations Management Arrangements  
 
16.1 All organisations and agencies working with children and families have a responsibility to 

manage allegations against people who they employ or engage (paid or voluntary) to work 
with children. They must have clear policies for dealing with such allegations, including how 
they will engage with local arrangements. The Local Authority should put in place 
arrangements to provide advice and guidance to employers, voluntary organisations and 
agencies on how to deal with allegations against people who work with children. Local 
authorities should also ensure that there are appropriate arrangements in place to liaise 
effectively with the police and other organisations and agencies to monitor the progress of 
cases and ensure that they are dealt with as quickly as possible, consistent with a thorough 
and fair process. 

 
16.2  In Gloucestershire the Local Authority has an appointed Local Authority Designated Officer 

(LADO) to manage allegations against people in a position of trust.   
 
16.3  It is the function of the GSCP to seek assurances with regards to the effectiveness of 

Allegations Management arrangements within the local Authority and all Relevant Agencies 
 

17.0 Duties under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 
 
17.1  Licensing Authorities (each of the six Districts) are required by regulations to state the 

principles they will apply in exercising their powers (2005 Act, s.157(h)) to designate, in 

Page 16

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/10547/glos-dhr-protocol-2019.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gscp/lado-allegations/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gscp/lado-allegations/


 

Page 10 of 11 
 

writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children 
from harm. The principles are: 

17.2  In accordance with the guidance the Licensing Authorities have designated the Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Children Partnership (GSCP), comprising of Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucestershire Constabulary.  

17.3  The GSCP Executive will review and delegate its duties as ‘Responsible Authority’ to the most 
suitable safeguarding partners for this purpose setting out its arrangements in its own 
‘Published Arrangements’ document.  

17.4  The partners delegated to operate as the responsible authority in this area will be 
Gloucestershire Constabulary and Gloucestershire Public Health.  

Page 17



 

Page 11 of 11 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 

 

Safer Gloucestershire 

Gloucestershire Health & 

Wellbeing Board 

Joint 

Commissioning 

Partnership Board 

Joint 

Commissioning 

Partnership 

Executive 

Adverse Childhood 

Experiences (ACES) 

Panel 

Domestic Abuse 

& Sexual Violence 

Executive 

Domestic Abuse 

& Sexual Violence 

Delivery Group  

GSCP Executive 

GSCP Management Group 

Drug & 

Alcohol 

Group 

GSCP Subgroups 

Child Death Overview Panel 

Youth Justice 

Board 

Prevent 

Board 

Task & Finish or Specific Working 

Groups 
District Community 

Safeguarding Partnerships 

 

Multi-agency Groups: 

Multi Agency Public 
Protection 
Arrangements  

 Integrated Offender 
Management  

Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment 
Conference 

Multi Agency Child  
Exploitation Meeting 

GSCP Resolution 

Group 

Channel 

Panel  

Working Together links to Gloucestershire Governance Network 

P
age 18



Gloucestershire County Council Children’s Services Scrutiny 
Committee
Report from Independent Chair of the Children’s Services 
Improvement Board 

1. Introduction

1.1. This report is for consideration by the Committee at its meeting on 25 
November 2021.

1.2. My last report as Independent Chair was for the Committee’s July meeting 
which had been the first for a considerable time. I was able to report on the 
measures taken by the service and the continuation of the work of the 
Improvement Board through the various lockdowns. I am able to report that the 
Board has continued to be very active and has continued to meet virtually on a 
monthly basis. 

1.3. Following discussions between the Council and the DFE there has been a 
recent change in the pattern of Board meetings which have moved to being 
every other month. There has also been an agreement that the agenda should 
move to a more thematic basis and a reduction in the routine reporting. It is too 
early at this stage to comment on the effectiveness of this but the change does 
have the support of Board members. I have continued to have regular 
discussions and meetings with relevant staff and Board members in between 
meetings, also virtually.

1.4. I have continued to be very active in the period between July and now and have 
held regular discussions with:

 Directors and senior managers within the Children’s Services
 Senior managers from other parts of the Council, including the Chief 

Executive
 Cabinet Member
 Board members individually
 DFE colleagues

1.5. Again, I have continued to be able to meet, albeit virtually, with front line 
managers and teams. I am most grateful to them for making, at times, 
complicated arrangements to enable this to happen but it has been absolutely 
invaluable in order to keep in touch with how staff have been coping with the 
emergency arrangements necessary and how effectively they believe they have 
been able to work as well as how morale has been holding up. In particular I 
have held meetings with:

 The Cotswold Locality
 The Leaving Care Service
 MASH

2. Position Statement 

2.1. At the time of my last report to the Committee, which spanned a long period of 
time, I was highlighting the following:

 the welcome increase in the pace of improvement

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



 the sustained level of that improvement and the improved quality of social 
work practice

 audit outcomes demonstrating a higher proportion of good or outstanding 
casework.

 recognition of these points by Ofsted in their focused visit of 2020 and of 
the important strides that the Council had made in maintaining and 
developing services during the pandemic

 the huge effort it has taken to achieve this and the toll on staff, particularly 
in the third lockdown and expectation that the phased return to offices will 
have a positive impact on morale

 whether, as a consequence of this, there had been a flattening of the 
performance improvement curve, although still moving in the right 
direction

 there remained a need for significant improvements to be achieved rapidly 
in some specific areas of activity such as stability of placements for 
children in care

 the continuing strength of the quality assurance processes and the 
embedding of the practice fundamentals model

 the innovation that had occurred during the lockdown, some of which such 
as Trevone House has received national recognition.

2.2. The Committee can be reassured that the momentum and attention to practice 
improvement remains evident within the reports received by the Board. This is 
in spite of all of the issues arising from the management of the pandemic.

2.3. However, I do not think it would be contentious to say that the pace of change 
has slowed. There are three key reasons for this that need to be brought to the 
Committee’s considerations.

2.4. The first is that there is a level of tiredness within the service. The emergency 
working conditions and the loss of opportunity for the informal peer support 
which is so important for staff in this work have taken their toll. This has been 
discussed previously but the situation has been exacerbated by the other two 
points discussed below. Again, the waiting for inspection remains a growing 
pressure on staff and managers.

2.5. The second is that there has been a significant and sustained increase in 
referrals and demand. This has, to some extent, been a national phenomenon 
and not entirely unexpected. It was always likely that demand was suppressed 
last year as a consequence of lockdown and some services reducing their level 
of activity or being closed completely. The increase in demand and activity has 
been persistent and rising. Most importantly a significant proportion of it is real 
and high priority. Relatively low levels of it can be assessed as needing no 
action or simply referred on to other agencies. Inevitably this has intensified the 
pressure evident within the service. The Council faces one that is running hot 
as it prepares for inspection, a scenario which could be seen as less than ideal.

2.6. Thirdly, the service has seen a significant and concerning downturn in 
recruitment and retention of social workers. It is clear that the recruitment 
market has become more active and in favour of applicants. Strong competition 
has reappeared between local authorities, a bidding war between them. This is 
causing significant gaps in the establishment of some teams which has led to 
the number of social workers with higher caseloads than target has increased 
markedly and the numbers of children experiencing multiple social workers 
within a short space of time. The service has also described to me examples of 

Page 20



unprofessional conduct from some agency workers in moving on to other 
assignments within weeks of their arrival. All this has uncomfortable echoes of 
the situation some years ago and it represents a clear risk to the improvement 
programme.

2.7. In addition, the report laid particular emphasis on the major problems that had 
been experienced with the I. T. platform. At that stage some improvements 
were becoming apparent. It is pleasing to be able to note that those 
improvements have been sustained. The platform is proving to be significantly 
more reliable and having far less impact upon social workers’ ability to progress 
their work and, thus, on performance. Staff have been at pains to point out to 
me that the problems are not wholly resolved but are acknowledging the 
improvement. This has been as a result of considerable work across the whole 
Council. 

2.8. A further development of specific note in the work of the Improvement Board 
has been a change in the method of engagement with and input from the 
Ambassadors. The need for this has arisen from the need for Board meetings 
to be virtual. This has made it very difficult for young people to attend as would 
have been the case previously. The change has been that the Ambassadors 
have produced a video discussing issues of concern to them and commenting 
on agenda items being considered by the Board. The contents of the video are 
discussed at Board meetings and a response to the issues raised is sent to 
them from myself as Chair. To date this approach has been well received on all 
sides.

3. Analysis

3.1. At the time of writing the Council is still awaiting notification from Ofsted of an 
inspection. This is a pressure on the whole service and there is a view 
expressed that the sooner the inspection comes the better. Although it is the 
case that there is always more that can be done, in my view that the Service is 
ready for it to happen.

3.2. The overall position is one of a continued drive for improvement but one which 
is under threat, particularly in terms of pace. This comes from external 
circumstances to a significant degree. There are a number of important 
positives which provide a now more fully embedded foundation to a service 
moving in the right direction. These include:

 A strong self-awareness as reflected in the Self Assessment document
 Clearer evidence of social workers knowing their children well and able to 

speak authoritatively about the work they are doing.
 An effective and functioning quality assurance system
 A Team Improvement programme which appears to be having beneficial 

and lasting impact
 A practice model which is well understood and embedded and will provide 

a strong foundation from which to move on to a clearer model of systemic 
social work.

 A strong sense of shared purpose across the key agencies
 A sustained commitment across the Council to achieve lasting 

improvements to services for children, young people and their families.
 A dynamic and creative approach to service commissioning.

Page 21



3.3. All of these issues and more are and will stand the service in good stead not 
just for the forthcoming challenge but, more importantly, for the longer term 
challenge of achieving a sustainably good service.

3.4. However, as this report has set out above, this is a service under some strain 
and which is finding it increasingly difficult to maintain the momentum which 
has been created. As has been stated, these are largely the local 
manifestations of national trends but, inevitably, for an Authority in 
Gloucestershire’s position the implications are sharper and the impact more 
profound. All experience shows that for a service which continues to carry a 
judgement of “inadequate,” issues around recruitment and retention and 
provider behaviour can be that much more difficult to manage through.

3.5. This report has previously identified the key components creating this strain. 
They are, no doubt, inter - related to a degree. They do, however, represent 
points of risk to the Service. Encouragingly, managers are being active in trying 
to address and mitigate them where possible. Self-evidently, significant 
increases in demand upon an already tired staff group coming out of the 
emergency lockdown arrangements are going to be problematic. There has 
been some increase in staffing resources and some movement to shore up key 
services. There has also been key inter agency discussion on mitigation of this 
reported to the Improvement Board.

3.6. In terms of risk, the factor that is causing the greatest anxiety is the current, 
deteriorating position on recruitment and retention. As with the ICT issues, this 
will require a combined effort across the Children’s and Corporate services to 
make inroads into the problem. The Committee can take some reassurance 
from the discussions held at the Improvement Board which demonstrate that 
this commitment exists and actions have been taken to try and address the 
problem, including the harmonisation of agency rates of pay. However, it is 
clearly not a situation entirely within the control of the Council. It is particularly 
of concern that the opening up of the market again has seen the re-emergence 
in the Council’s experience of agency staff coming and going within weeks 
when they might have received an improved financial offer or an opportunity 
closer to home. Whilst this could be seen as understandable one wonders 
where consideration of the child features in this thinking.

3.7. This aspect is also one of concern, very eloquently pointed out by the 
Ambassadors in their most recent video contribution to the Board. None of this 
happens without impact on the children and young people affected. It will be of 
huge importance that staff and management at all levels do not lose sight of 
this aspect of the issue as this will become more widely apparent. 

4. Conclusion

4.1. This report on the work of the Improvement Board has attempted to 
demonstrate the various pressures upon the service alongside the continued 
drive for improvement. The Committee will have recognised that there are 
some clear nuances within the current situation, considerable strengths but 
equally some clear risks. The balance at the moment is a delicate one, but 
considering it in full, there remains a strong reason for optimism for the 
Committee.

Page 22



4.2. The major areas of risk have been set out above and represent major 
challenges for the senior management and to the corporate centre of the 
Council. Again, the Committee can be reassured that there is effective working 
together and focus on Children’s Services as a priority. This, of course, should 
not be something that is in doubt. More difficult and more important is the 
impact of these issues on front line staff and especially children, young people 
and their families. The figures on a performance report only tell one so much, 
collectively we need to ensure that we are taking the measures which enable 
us to understand impact and to be able to demonstrate that understanding both 
positive and less so. The Council is doing a great deal in this regard and with 
some success but experience suggests that it can be difficult to retain that 
perspective to the desired degree when under severe pressure.

4.3. This may, or may not, be my final report before inspection. Whilst there is still 
much to play for and scope for things to go wrong always, there remains cause 
for optimism about how well it might go.

Andrew Ireland
Independent Chair, Gloucestershire Children’s Services Improvement Board.

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Accelerated Improvement Plan October 2021 

Aim of the plan To deliver consistently good services so children are safer, sooner
Priorities                                     1. To reduce the proportion of inadequate practice and increase the proportion of improving practice so that practice is consistently good or better.

2. To ensure full participation in Essentials and in-house Management and Leadership Programmes to deliver consistency, compliance and quality of 
practice and performance as quickly as possible.

3. To improve the quality and performance of social work practice in line with the Practice Fundamentals Tool, including:
a) Supervision and Management Oversight (to be regular, reflective and appropriately recorded in order to drive good practice outcomes)
b) Visiting and Direct Work (to be timely, purposeful and champion the voice of the child - including MASH red RAG rated contacts)
c) Assessment of needs, risks and circumstances (to reflect the Essentials 2.0 Programme ‘Anchor’ and ‘Risk’ principles)
d) Planning and Reviewing (to be C-SMART, adaptive and effective) 
e) Case Recording (to be up to date, clear and comprehensive)

4. To communicate with Practitioners, Managers and Leaders and engage their ‘hearts and minds’ to deliver practice and performance improvements
5. To protect children through timely decisions and risk informed intervention and support that has a positive impact and improves outcomes
6. To achieve permanence for children at the earliest appropriate opportunity to improve their life chances and overall outcomes

D A S H B O A R D
Reporting period: I m p r o v e m e n t  B o a r d  –  2 7  O c t o b e r  2 0 2 1

Actions Status Impact Status
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

1. To reduce the proportion of inadequate practice and 
increase the proportion of improving practice so that 
practice is consistently good or better.

 Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

2. To ensure full participation in Essentials and in-house 
Management & Leadership Programmes to deliver 
consistency, compliance and quality of practice and 
performance as quickly as possible.

 Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

3.a.To improve the quality and performance of social work 
practice in line with the Practice Fundamentals Tool

Supervision and Management Oversight
 Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

3.b.To improve the quality and performance of social work 
practice in line with the Practice Fundamentals Tool

Visiting and Direct Work
 Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

3.c.To improve the quality and performance of social work 
practice in line with the Practice Fundamentals Tool

Assessment  Completed  Completed

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 7



2

 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

3.d.To improve the quality and performance of social work 
practice in line with the Practice Fundamentals Tool 

Planning and Reviewing  Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk At risk

3.e.To improve the quality and performance of social work 
practice in line with the Practice Fundamentals Tool

Case Recording  Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

4. To communicate with Practitioners, Managers and 
Leaders and engage their ‘hearts and minds’ to deliver 
practice and performance improvements

 Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

5. To protect children through timely and consistent risk 
informed intervention and support that has a positive 
impact and improves outcomes

 Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

6. To provide care and achieve permanence for children at 
the earliest appropriate opportunity to improve their life 
chances and overall outcomes

 Completed  Completed

Actions & Progress made

1. To reduce the 
proportion of inadequate 
practice and increase the 
proportion of improving 
practice so that practice is 
consistently good or 
better.

Monthly case file audits - these continue to be undertaken on a monthly basis. The table below set out Quarter 2 performance for 2021/22 and the following table sets out 
performance over the past year.

 

P
age 26



3

2. To ensure full 
participation in Essentials 
and in-house Management 
& Leadership 
Programmes to deliver 
consistency, compliance 
and quality of practice and 
performance as quickly as 
possible.

 The Social Work Academy has moved to new premises in Quayside. Delivery of Essentials 2.0 and 3.0 programmes were paused during August to allow for the 
Academy to relocate and re-started in September 2021.

 The Essentials 2.0 Programme – Since the start of September 2021, sessions have continued to be offered by the Social Work Academy once per week with the 
places available for each session oversubscribed from 16 to 24, as agreed at the Academy Board meeting in July 2021.
 Within Children’s Services, a total of 563 staff are currently required to complete Essentials 2.0 Modules as part of their role.  As of 24/09/21, 54% of the eligible 

staff group had completed all 3 modules.
 The breakdown of data in relation to module completion is as follows:

No. of Modules Completed No. of Staff % of Eligible Staff Group
3 303 54%
2 58 10%
1 39 7%
0 163 29%

 The Essentials 3.0 Programme - the Essentials 3.0 thematic programme has been developed and modules are being delivered through a virtual classroom. 

 NAAS/PQS - GCC continues to be part of the National Assessment & Accreditation System (NAAS) / Post Qualifying Standard (PQS) Trailblazer Programme which 
commenced in December 2020. This enables children’s social workers to develop skills and knowledge to improve outcomes for children and families. GCC is an 
identified trailblazer. The NAAS/PQS development and endorsement processes is providing wider benefits in clarifying role profiles and career progression pathways 
for staff.  This has had an initial benefit in qualifying the experience needed for Senior Social Worker and Advanced Practitioner roles. As part of our NAAS pilot there 
are now 3 staff cohorts of trailblazers with a total of 34 participants:
 Of the 34 NAAS participants, 27 (80%) are undertaking the endorsement programme as part of our new senior social work progression route, which supports the 

development and retention of social workers.  
 The evaluation process for the Management and Leadership programme (see below) will support the endorsement of Team Managers.

 Team Manager Management and Leadership Programme – The first cohort of our Leadership and Management Programme, which was developed in line with the 
Practice Supervisor Post Qualifying Standards (PQS), has now been completed. On completion of the programme, there were 40 team managers within the cohort.  
The Academy delivered the following modules: Introduction; Quality Improvement (QI); Quality Control (QC); Quality Assurance (QA); Power, Authority and Influence; 
Shaping and Improving the System; Performance and Resource Management; and Emotionally Intelligent Supervision.  There has also been 2 days focusing on systemic 

P
age 27



4

leadership from the Institute of Family Therapy (IFT). 

On completion of the programme, 11 team managers (28%) had attended all 10 modules.  During the course of the 12 month programme we have seen 11 managers 
leave GCC or move to a new role, and 5 managers have commenced their systemic practice training.  The breakdown of data in relation to module completion for the 
Management & Leadership Programme is as follows:

No. of Managers No. of Management & Leadership  Modules Completed
11 10
8 9
5 8
1 7
8 6
2 5
2 4
3 3

Evaluation and feedback from team managers attending the programme has been positive and the Academy has recently undertaken a review of the modules in 
readiness for delivering the programme to a second cohort of team managers in October 2021.

 Transformation Programme :
o Remodelling – The re-modelling transformation project has continued to be progressed with the support of Jack Cordery, transformation consultant/subject 

expert who has now completed his assignment with GCC. SLT has reviewed the proposed staffing structures for the Area-Based teams, Edge of Care and 16+ 
Adolescent Service at its meeting in August 2021. Some further consideration is being given to proposals for Early Help and spans of control for Children’s Social 
Care. In view of the imminent Ofsted inspection, SLT has decided to pause the remodelling. SLT will continue to review the implications of the proposed structures  
over the next couple of months and incorporate the feedback from the Ofsted inspection to inform the formal consultation with affected staff.

o Systemic Practice – The systemic practice transformation project has progressed with support from Clare Chamberlain, transformation consultant and subject 
expert. Formal and accredited training commenced with the Centre for Systemic Social Work (CfSSW) in June 2021 with cohorts of social work practitioners and 
practice supervisors/practice leaders. The 1st cohort includes 19 x Practitioners and 10 x Practice Supervisors and the 2nd cohort which started in September 
2021, includes 35 staff - 20 practitioners, 10 supervisors and 5 practice leaders (Heads of Service and Service Managers). The Systemic Practice Launch took 
place on 14 September and was attended by 70+ practitioners/manager. A Systemic Practice Awareness Workshop is planned for SLT on 22 October 2021 and 
will be co-facilitated by the CfSSW and Clare Chamberlain. Thereafter, the workshop will be cascaded to all Children’s Heads of Service in Children’s Social Care 
and across Commissioning and Education. Plans are underway to explore options for integrating systemic clinical leads within practice to support practitioners 
and managers under-going CfSSW training and to support implement systemic learning in practice. Preliminary discussions have rule out CAMHS 
sessional/secondment opportunities due to capacity issues however negotiations with the CfSSW is likely to identify capacity and expertise provided by 
professionals with joint-qualifications in systemic practice and social work and this is being activity considered at the moment.  Implementation of the Systemic 
Practice programme is likely to be a 3 to 5-year programme and marks a significant milestone for the service. 

o Fostering Transformation Board – Following the independent review of the in-house Fostering Service undertaken by Karen Simmons (LGA Associate) and 
previously presented to the Improvement Board, the service has now established a new Fostering Transformation Board chaired by the interim Director for 
Safeguarding and Care. The inaugural Fostering Transformation Board was held on 19 October 2021. The Fostering Transformation Board is a multi-
agency/disciplinary and is tasked with the strategic oversight and direction of the Operational Project Group and the delivery of the 7 workstreams including:
 Service Development - This includes the development of the Strategic Plan and the underpinning Vision and Operating Model for the Fostering Service; a 

workforce development plan for the Fostering Service which includes its interface with the wider Directorate; an options appraisal and implementation of a 
therapeutic model to strengthen the consistency and quality of care; an options appraisal and development of bespoke fostering models for children with 
complex needs

 Support to Children - This incorporates an alignment of existing resources to support placements and the development of enhanced support services 
including contribution of partner agencies for children with complex needs; closer integration of the Fostering Service with placing social workers regarding 
use of care teams, placement stability meetings and permanence planning

 Support to Foster Carers - This includes development of 24/7 support arrangements to foster carers; delivery of bespoke training, incorporating the agreed 
therapeutic model, to support carers to respond to the needs of complex children; the development of enhanced assessment, supervision and support 
arrangements and bespoke arrangements for connected carers

 Recruitment and Retention - Benchmark activity regarding support and renumeration; development of refreshed recruitment and retention and marketing 
strategies with potential additional investment.  Creative use of resources including Fostering Champions

 Placements - This includes the development of an options appraisal for a streamlined approach to manage resources and processes to identify placements
 Care Planning - This includes an options appraisal regarding social work capacity to support permanence planning and the development of an early 

permanence pathway for long-term fostering and connected carers
 Quality Assurance and Performance - As a regulated Service, this includes the development of measures to strengthen audit and performance 

P
age 28



5

management arrangements to drive improvements in the quality of care 

 SLT ‘Leadership Fundamentals’ and Leadership Programme –The leadership fundamentals initiative has been completed by SLT with support from Claire Burgess, 
DfE Advisor, and Jack Cordery, Remodelling Transformation consultant and subject expert. This is now starting to be used to shape, inform and underpin a range of 
improvement, development and transformation activities. The Staff College has been commissioned to co-produce the SLT Leadership Programme and support the 
delivery of the Transformation Programme. A preliminary planning session was held between the Staff College and SLT in June 2021 and the programme is scheduled 
to commence shortly now that the new Director for Education, Kirsten Harrison, in role. This initiative is funded by the DfE grant. 

 Staff College Coaching Programme - The DfE grant is also being used to fund a comprehensive coaching programme for all Team Managers, Service Managers and 
Heads of Service. Following completion of the introductory orientation sessions, all managers were matched with a Staff College Associate Coach following a preliminary 
‘chemistry conversation’ and individual coaching sessions are now underway and progressing well. Each manager will receive up to 6 coaching sessions over a six-
month period. The programme has a broad specification and capacity to address a wide range of professional and organisational priorities. The coaching offer provides 
a maximum of 6 hours coaching over 4 or 6 coaching sessions depending on whether sessions are an hour or one and a half hours. All coaching is being delivered 
remotely and virtually and there was a staggered start beginning with Heads of Service, then Service Managers and Team Managers. The programme will be evaluated 
and surveys are now starting to be distributed to managers and coaches for completion and evaluation as their scheduled coaching sessions are completed. To date 
anecdotal feedback is very positive with managers reporting via 1:1 supervision that they are appreciative of the coaching offer and the dedicated time, space and 
independent coaching expertise delivered by the Staff College associate coaches. It is anticipated that the Staff College will be able to analyse the coaching survey 
feedback and present an evaluation report by February 2022 when all managers will have completed their coaching sessions.

 Service Manager Leadership and Management Programme - The DfE grant has funded the design and delivery of a Management and Leadership Development 
Programme for Service Managers which is scheduled to commence at the conclusion of the Team Manager Management and Leadership Programme. 

 Trauma Informed Model of Care (TIMoC) - The DfE grant provided match funding to deliver the TIMOC training for Trevone House staff as part of a phase 1 pilot. The 
official Trevone House virtual launch took place on 11 March 2021 and all Trevone House staff are now TIMOC trained. A number of operational social work staff have 
also started their training which is targeted to prioritise social workers, team managers, service managers and Heads of Service who have young people already living 
in Trevone House or with agreed plans for young people to transition into Trevone House. Planning is now underway for the TIMOC phase 2 development  focusing on 
the in-house Fostering Service. As part of the extended training offer, Dr Draper is also providing consultation to staff, and identified externally commissioned placement 
providers, to help promote a TIMoC with a number of young people presenting with very complex needs and this has assisted in bringing a more therapeutic and nuanced 
understanding to the care young people in crisis have received. This has helped to stabilise a number of placements and reduce repeat placement disruption. 

3.a.To improve the quality 
and performance of 
social work practice in 
line with the Practice 
Fundamentals Tool

Supervision and 
Management Oversight

 Supervision - There are three supervisory components which are tracked and reported including casework supervision (focusing on allocated children, young people 
and families), professional supervision (focusing on individual staff and professional issues) and reflective/clinical supervision (focusing on a group learning approach to 
promote professional curiosity and a deeper appreciation of the relevant issues to problem solve and explore appropriate remedial action):

o Casework supervision – the casework supervision target has been stretched to 95% for 2021/22, up from 80% in 2020/21. The Interim Director of Safeguarding 
maintains on-going scrutiny of supervision performance with monthly compliance reporting performance dropped below target and has been affected by high/latent 
demand, increasing caseloads, workforce ‘churn’ as well as sickness and leave arrangements.

o Professional supervision performance for August 2021 decreased to 86% (from 92% in July) but increased back to 92% in September 2021.
o Reflective / clinical group supervision over the last 12 months this has continued but has been impacted by CV-19. Advanced Practitioners have aimed to 

facilitate these sessions on a remote and virtual basis although teams are beginning to report that they are increasingly starting to undertake this on a face to 
face basis. Moving forward the plan is to use the reflective/clinical group supervision sessions to focus on the development of systemic practice and this will start 
from September 2021 onwards alongside the implementation of the CfSSW training.

 The Team Improvement Project (TIP) – The TIP has continued to be led by the lead improvement and development consultant and focuses on identified teams most 
likely to produce the weakest / inadequate practice based on analysis of performance and QA evidence:

o A previous review of the Tracker and membership of the TIP already identified teams that had made sufficient progress to exit the TIP. These teams have 
sustained practice and performance improvement and continue to progress. As there had been ‘proof of concept’ for the TIP following the impact and outcome it 

P
age 29



6

had delivered in the pilot phase of implementation, the scope was expanded to some other teams, not necessarily inadequate but certainly requiring improvement. 
Membership of the TIP is agreed based on the on-going performance and QA evidence.

o The most recent TIP review identified 4 priority teams/service areas with enduring concerns about practice and performance in the Forest of Dean and Tewkesbury 
Localities plus the 11-25 Service Cheltenham and Gloucester North Teams. The Safeguarding Director and Lead Improvement Consultant have met with the 
relevant Heads of Service for these areas to discuss and agree recovery plans. A further review is being undertaken to monitor the impact of the 4 recovery plans 
mentioned above. 

o The next TIP review will consider a refresh of TIP membership based on current performance and QA evidence.
o The Director of Children’s Safeguarding and Care continues to review the monthly Social Worker and Team Performance Tracker which targets priority key 

performance indicators by scrutinising individual social worker and team level data. Based on the most recent Tracker in August 2021 (which now include again 
dental checks), there is evidence of an increase of social workers RAG rated Amber or Red for 3 or more months (13 in September compared to 7 in July). The 
numbers of Teams rated Amber or Red for 3 or more months has increased since March 2021 to 30 teams out of 44. Some of this will inevitably have been due 
to the ICT issues experienced over the past few months but with the ICT recovery programme starting to progress from July, it is hoped that this will have a 
positive impact. In addition, the inclusion of KPI data for dental checks for eligible Children in Care, which has been adversely affected by the CV19 pandemic 
does report a backlog. The improving trend  seen since March slowed in August and has reduced slightly in September, with 76.5% of children in care having an 
up to date dental assessment in September.

 The Practice Fundamentals Tool was developed and launched in May 2020 to control the quality of practice and promote individual and collective professional 
accountability for achieving and maintaining consistently good standards of practice. A dip sampling tool and approach was developed by staff and launched in August 
2020 to test the implementation and impact of this approach. The Practice Fundamentals dip sampling has continued to run alongside the monthly case file auditing 
process for over a year now and evidence indicates that the tool is well liked and evident in example of best practice. A decision has now been taken to de-centralise 
the auditing and moderation of the Practice Fundamentals so that individual Heads of Service and their respective management groups can decide how to maintain and 
develop the use of the tool at a local level.

3.b.To improve the quality 
and performance of 
social work practice in 
line with the Practice 
Fundamentals Tool

Visiting and Direct Work

 Visits to children - Timeliness of initial visits saw a decline in performance for September 2021 to 65%. Performance of visiting for children progressing under 
Section 47 also saw a marked increase to 87.5% compared to August (54%). The visiting standard require  face to face visits as part of the CV19 business continuity 
planning moving from response to recovery:
 The overall 12-month position for children seen within timescale for initial visits following contact was 64.8% in September 2021 (s47 enquiries was 87.5% and 

s17 was 63.4%) which is below the target of 85%
 The percentage of children subject to a Child Protection Plan seen within timescale was 91% in September 2021 which is an increase since July
 The percentage of Children in Need seen within timescale was 90% in September, which is within tolerance of target (93%), 
 The percentage of Children in Care receiving statutory visits within timescale was 93.8% in September, which is within tolerance of target (95%)

 The Principal Social Worker & Participation Champions - an updated and refreshed direct work tool kit has been developed and launched. The PSW has identified 
and coordinates a network of Participation Champions across all teams to act as a single point of contact to promote and support direct work with children and young 
people. 

 The child’s voice and diversity - A quality assurance exercise focusing on dip sampling children’s electronic records alongside additional qualitative discussions with 
practitioners was undertaken in April / May 2021 to test the evidence base for:
 The impact of the ‘Social Graces’ training to improve practice about difference and diversity
 Best practice in respect of life story work to help children achieve a secure understanding about their past, present and future
 The impact of the ‘Language that Cares’ campaign regarding the language that is used to speak with and about care experienced children and young people

The report concludes that whilst there is clear evidence of professional interest, awareness and motivation to improve practice in the relevant areas there continues to 
be inconsistent evidence of sustained attention to the three activities outlined above in the assessments, plans and recording. A number of targeted remedial actions for 
each area have been agreed, including:
 Direct PSW contact with APs to explore the application of Social Graces at team level
 Further development of the Practice Fundamentals Tool to incorporate more explicit references to culture and identity as part of assessments
 Maintain and extend the Language that Cares’ focus in monthly QA auditing and reporting
 Undertaken roadshows promoting Social Graces, Life Story Work and Language that Cares to further emphasise the importance of these approaches in all 

aspects of practice with children, young people and their families

 ICT issues – ICT difficulties and the disruption that has previously been reported and discussed with Improvement Board members has largely been addressed in 
accordance with the proposed corporate ICT improvement and development plan. Clear improvements have been felt since July 2021 with far were incidents of concern 
and disruption being reported. This has had a positive impact on staff morale as well as practice and performance. 

P
age 30



7

3.c.To improve the quality 
and performance of 
social work practice in 
line with the Practice 
Fundamentals Tool

Assessment 

 Partnership Contacts and Referrals – The Ofsted Focus Visit letter published on 20 November 2021 highlighted the comparatively high rate of contacts not meeting 
the agreed levels of intervention for a statutory social work service. Inspectors queried whether this was because the partnership is risk averse and/or not understanding 
or complying with locally agreed thresholds. 
o In June 2021 a high proportion of contacts continued to result in ‘No Further Action’:
 1,240 of 3,114 (39%) of all contacts received by Children’s Social Care were closed with ‘No Further Action’ which is up from 33% on the same time in 2020.
 Just over half of all contacts (52%) resulting in ‘No Further Action’ received information, advice or guidance.
 Of the 199 contacts relating to professional concerns about Neglect only 3 contacts (2%) included a completed neglect toolkit checklist

o Following previous reporting to the Improvement Board about the continuing high number of contacts from Police, Health and Schools/Education to Children’s Social 
Care Services that do not meet the threshold for statutory social work intervention, a multi-agency audit was completed under the auspices of the GSCP. The 
Partnership has agreed a number of recommendations to address the issues and these need to be progressed at pace: 
 A review of the Partnership agreement allowing Partner agencies to use adapted MARF’s to notify MASH of a safeguarding incident. 
 Review of Partnership agreement for Partner agencies to use adapted risk assessments 
 Review of the audit sample to understand the percentage of notifications concluded NFA including the reasons for why they concluded with NFA. 
 Further exploration into the reasons for delay and a better understanding of the complexities of the Health system. 
 Obtain advise on the services within the Health system that will have varying knowledge of the child and family to ascertain which services have the ability to 

include quality information compared to services that will have limited  /restricted information. 
 Understand the usability of GSCP Toolkits/screening tools e.g. Neglect, Exploitation, Pre-Birth
 Further review of Health audit sample to extrapolate further information and context with consideration of establishing a Health Triage / interim measure to 

support and scrutinise Health notification prior to contact and referral
 Review of automated emailing system for missing children/young adults to ensure engagement with Health
 Undertaken a deeper dive to ascertain whether notifications submitted were reasonable due to the presented risk. 
 Police collaboration with Partner agencies to adapt the VIST to include pre-birth protocol questions. 

o In line with recent changes to the governance of the MASH Board, the new C-SPA and MASH Sub Group of the GSCP will now take forward the above 
recommendations. The Acting Head of Service for MASH, EDT, Missing and Exploitation, Claire Connolly, is the new Sub-Group chair person.

 C-SPA and MASH Processes – The Children’s Single Point of Contact (C-SPA) continues to show high levels of demand activity. This high demand includes:
 a proportion of contacts still not reaching the statutory threshold
 evidence of latent demand leading to a 30% increase when compared to pre-CV19; and,
 increasing complexity (spike in Red RAG rated MASH enquiries)

The combination of these factors has had an impact on the timeliness of initial decision-making,  declining from the mid-90%’s to the low 80%’s. The timeliness of end-
to-end decision had decreased in August (72%) but improved in September to 78%. At the same time there has been a significant increase in the number of contacts 
RAG rated as Red rising to 210 compared to a monthly average of 70 between September 2020 to August 2021. Timeliness of decision making for these children 
remained similar to August at 71%. 

 Single Assessments - The majority of social work single assessments completed in September 2021 were within timescale (83.2%) and within tolerance of target 
(87%).

 Legal Planning - Following the previous legal planning improvement work undertaken by the seconded Ofsted HMI, which started during the first CV19 lockdown in the 
summer of 2020 and ended at the end of August 2020, the Legal Planning Task and Finish Group has progressed all agreed actions. This has culminated in publication 
of new practice guidance, changes to operating protocols and a re-design of the Liquid Logic legal workspace, including a new Legal Planning Meeting recording 
template. The Liquid Logic functionality to develop a PLO pre-proceedings and court tracker has also been progressed. Most recently a decision has been taken to train 
Legal Services to be Liquid Logic users so that legal colleagues with conduct of specific pre and court care proceedings can enter their legal advice directly into the 
child’s electronic record which will be more efficient and effective. The refreshed practice guidance has been launched alongside a series of workshops facilitated by the 
lead improvement advisor with all teams and services. This activity was timely and coincided with the launch of the PLO National Working Group final report and 
recommendations. This activity relates to the Ofsted Focus Visit feedback in respect of the ‘use and tracking of pre-proceedings to bring about change effectively and 
to prevent drift and delay’.

During 2021, there has been a total of 114 Legal Planning Meetings and of these:
o 37.33% resulted in a decision to initiate care proceedings
o 56.49% resulted in a decision to initiate pre-proceedings
o 14.12% resulted in no further action

P
age 31



8

o   6.50% resulted in decisions for alternative legal action e.g. secure accommodation / deprivation of liberty etc.
o   1.10% resulted in a discharge or revocation of an existing court order

 Re-referrals - Re-referrals decreased in September 2021 (21.4%) which means performance was better than target (22.5%) and peer comparators (22.5% in March 
2020). This continues to be a priority performance issue with monthly dip sampling of all re-referrals continuing across all of the six Localities. This activity routinely 
reports to identify themes and issues and inform on-going remedial actions. 

3.d.To improve the quality 
and performance of 
social work practice in 
line with the Practice 
Fundamentals Tool 

Planning and Reviewing

 C-SMART Planning – child centred planning remains a priority across the whole service for children in need of support, protection, care and independence. Overall, 
the quality of plans is improving although not all are consistently good or better yet.

 CIN Planning and Review - The previous changes to the CIN Planning and Review Protocol are being implemented and include increased oversight and intervention 
from the Team Managers which is designed to increase the level of management oversight. Team Managers are now expected to chair the 1st CIN review 4 weeks after 
the conclusion of the Single Assessment, the next CIN review is due three months after that and then at six-monthly intervals thereafter. 78.7% of Children in Need had 
a timely review or were not yet due a review in September 2021.

 Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCs) – timeliness of ICPCs had previously been a significant long-standing performance concern. As a result of targeted 
whole system improvement activity, performance has improved significantly and been above target (80%) for five consecutive months until July. Performance has 
however declined in August and September 2021 with only 58.1% of ICPCs being timely. Repeat child protection planning continues to fluctuate with under one-third of 
children becoming subject to a plan in September for a second or subsequent time compared with one-fifth in August (17%). Performance was off target (25%). 

 Child in Care Reviews – the vast majority (99.2%) of statutory Child in Care Reviews remained timely and within tolerance of the very demanding target of 100%.

 Joint Police – Children’s Social Care Workshop – following months of delay due to CV19 the joint workshop eventually went ahead face to face at the Sabrina Centre. 
The Director (Safeguarding and Care) and the 

3.e.To improve the quality 
and performance of 
social work practice in 
line with the Practice 
Fundamentals Tool

Case Recording

 ICT - The fragility of the ICT since October 2020 has previously compromised the recording of practice and performance which had a detrimental impact on staff morale. 
ICT difficulties dating back to the Sopra Steria security breach in 2020 and although the Sopra Steria contract has now ended there is no ‘quick fix’. ICT is considered 
to pose the highest risk to children’s social care which has impacted on business as usual with concerns that this could compromise the service’s ability to safeguard 
children and/or compromise the Ofsted ILACS. The reliance that Children’s Social Care has on ICT for recording practice and performance, particularly in Liquid Logic, 
cannot be underestimated. Early changes and improvements are starting to take effect.

 Liquid Logic – Over the past year the Liquid Logic functionality has been developed and improved to support recording in a number of different areas, including the 
following, although the ICT fragility has unfortunately hampered the anticipated impact of these developments at this stage of the journey:
 Recording child protection Strategy Discussion decisions and rationale
 Recording the progress and outcome of child protection enquiries and decision making
 Recording Step-Up and Step-Down arrangements
 Recording a new exploitation episode with an updated Screening Tool
 Recoding a revised and refreshed legal workspace
 Recording placement disruptions

 Screening Review Team - Whilst most children’s social care Liquid Logic records can usually be accessed and then navigated fairly easily, the ICT fragility previously 
reported hampered efforts to achieve and maintain timely records. Record keeping has been an area the service needed to address and this has been commented upon 
by Ofsted in the previous inspection and monitoring visits. Ofsted inspectors have reported that staff generally know children and young people very well, are well placed 
to articulate clear and consistent assessment outcomes and planning decisions and are great champions, but sometimes the recording does not match these standards. 
Whilst staff made sterling efforts to overcome the ICT difficulties and manage the impact on recording at the time of the ICT disruption this is worrying scenario, especially 
so close to the much-anticipated Ofsted inspection. To mitigate associated risks the CEx and corporate leadership team generously allocated £500k which has been 
used to employ a bespoke team of experienced QA screeners to review as many Liquid Logic records as possible ahead of the Ofsted inspection. The Screening Team 
assembled ready to start screening w/c 26.07.2021 and to date have completed Screeners have been assigned to individual Heads of Service who have been directing 
their focus and overseeing remedial actions as required. A bespoke screening tool, created by the interim Director for Safeguarding and Care and the lead improvement 
and development advisor, has recorded evidence and RAG rated best practice and serious shortcomings. Two improvement and development advisors have supported 
the coordination of the screening team. 

P
age 32



9

 Screening Review Team - RAG Rating Descriptor:
RED = There are serious concerns regarding the content, quality and recording of practice, which includes omissions, gaps and delays leading to concerns about the 
safety or wellbeing of the child and requires urgent remedial action.
AMBER = There are some concerns regarding aspects of the content, quality and recording of practice which does not raise concerns about the imminent safety or 
wellbeing of the child and can be addressed by progressing the identified actions.
GREEN = No obvious concerns regarding the content, quality or recording of practice. The record is generally fit for purpose and does not need any specific action to 
be taken.

 The latest summary report dated 15 October indicates that the Screening Review Team has screened approximately 2,500 open records. Using the RAG rating criteria 
set out above the findings are as follows:

As a matter of urgency, all Heads of Service and their respective Management Teams are tasked with addressing the remedial actions identified by the Screening 
Review Team findings and recommendations. Particular attention has already been given to all the Red RAG rated findings, including management oversight from 
relevant Service Managers and Heads of Service as well as undertaking visits to confirm the safety and wellbeing of children. It has been confirmed that no children with 
a Red RAG rated record has been found to be at risk of imminent harm.

The remaining Screening Review Team capacity will now target Localities where there is most concern, most notably Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean Localities. It 
is anticipated that the Screening Review Team activity will conclude on/around 18 November 2021. One of the Screeners will be retained to provide additional capacity 
and support to the Cheltenham Locality for up to a 3 month period.

 Team Improvement Plan (TIP)  – the TIP is due for a further review and it is highly likely that all available resources will be targeted to assist teams address the 
identified remedial action highlighted by the Screening Review Team, particularly in Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean.

Locality/Service Area Red Amber Green
Gloucester Locality 12% 77% 11%
Forest of Dean Locality 28% 59% 13%
Cotswolds & Stroud Localities 9% 30% 61%
Cheltenham Locality 40% 59% 1%
Tewkesbury Locality 15% 27% 59%
Under 11s Service 4% 87% 9%
Over 11s (Cheltenham) Service 13% 87% 0%
Over 11s (Gloucester/Stroud) 12% 41% 47%
DCYPS 14% 84% 0%
Total % 16.33% 61.22% 22.33%

4.To communicate with 
Practitioners, Managers 
and Leaders and engage 
their ‘hearts and minds’ to 
deliver practice and 
performance 
improvements

 Workforce - During the past eighteen months during the CV19 pandemic and lockdowns, the Children’s Social Care workforce has remained committed and hardworking 
but is now under significant pressure due to the increases in demand, including latent demand, caseloads and complexity in the system. At the same time, the service 
has social workers and managers who are feeling very tired and experiencing rising levels of sickness alongside significant difficulties in recruiting and retaining social 
workers. The biggest risk to the improvement journey and the Ofsted inspection outcome is the current workforce pressures. Although the recruitment and retention of 
social workers is ordinarily very challenging, the market is very competitive, and potentially more aggressive than before, and as a result it has become increasingly 
difficult to attract candidates, including both agency and permanent, to fill vacancies and to retain existing staff and stop them leaving. A worrying feature that has started 
to be seen is permanent staff leaving GCC for agency roles elsewhere. In the last quarter, 55% of social work leavers left GCC within 3 months which is very high ‘churn’ 
in the system. This has an adverse impact on the service continuity for children, young people and families and impairs the standard of practice and performance. Of 
the 39 leavers during the last quarter, 21 were from the Safeguarding Teams which is where the recruitment and retention difficulties are most acute. A number of social 
workers are choosing to relocate nearer to family and where they grew up elsewhere in the country, some newly qualified social workers in their assessed and supported 
year in employment have chosen to leave GCC before their accredited year has been completed and some have decided not to remain in social work. The pandemic 
has caused staff to re-evaluate their life plans and whilst some social workers were willing to remain in GCC during the pandemic there has definitely been more 
movement over the past 6 months.  The number of social work vacancies in August 2021 remains the same in October 2021 and despite all the many and varied efforts 
to recruit the service is running very fast just to stay still due to the high level of leavers. The Director for Safeguarding and Care reviews business cases to recruit and 
transfer permanent and agency staff on a fortnightly basis with the HR Recruitment Team and Children’s Social Care Business Manager. The service is currently holding 

P
age 33



10

vacancies which it is struggling to fill quickly enough which is putting increased pressure on team/service colleagues. The evidence shows that whilst staff seek to 
transfer out of Safeguarding Teams to other parts of the service, they invariably never transfer back and staff don’t seek to transfer into Safeguarding Teams. The senior 
leadership team continues to work at pace to take action to stabilise the workforce but the reality of trying to recruit to a service that continues to be rated as inadequate 
nearly 5 years after the 2017 inspection is incredibly challenging. The actions that have been/are being taken to stabilise the social worker workforce include:
 Harmonisation of agency pay rates – to remain competitive within the top quartile of local authorities in the South West region. This action helped to attract more 

and better-quality agency CVs resulting in an uptake in interviews and new agency appointments. The agency rate is 22%
 Commissioning of the Innovate Managed Team – to add capacity to address the increasing demand in the U11s Permanence Team to complete a high volume 

of Child Permanence Plans associated with a high level of court care proceedings, as well as providing additional capacity to the 11-25 Service.
 Development of a Medium-Term Financial Strategy - to recalibrate the workforce establishment and honour the pledge to keep caseloads at 18 children or less. 

In September, 68% of social workers had a caseload of 18 children or fewer and 97.2% had 25 children or fewer. Caseloads have increased to manage the 
increased demand in the system.

 Consideration of a pay differential for social workers in Safeguarding Teams – this proposal is currently being scoped to acknowledge that these are consistently 
the hardest roles to fill. Whilst a pay differential my make Safeguarding roles more attractive to new applicants it remains vitally important to create the optimum 
conditions within which social workers and their managers can deliver best practice. This includes manageable caseloads, regular and reflective supervision, 
responsive managers, visible leadership, learning opportunities to grow and career opportunities to develop.

 Staff wellbeing – There is a premium on promoting the Council’s duty of care towards staff to counter the risks associated with the additional pressures in the system 
at the moment. It is also important to be aware of the inherent risk of ‘professional dangerousness’ whereby professionals involved in child protection work can behave 
in a way which either colludes with or increases the dangerous dynamics of the abusing family (Morrison 1990). The return to offices, whilst continuing to be managed 
and subject to CV-19 risk assessments and restrictions, provided a much-needed boost to staff morale initially but more office time in offices is now is being sought. 
This has become even more important during September and October 2021 as Cohort 10 of 40 newly qualified social workers in their first assessed and support year in 
employment begin their employment with the Council. Staff numbers in offices continue to be restricted with staff continuing to operate a hybrid working pattern moving 
between home, office and community. As local CV19 infection rates continue to persist, these arrangements continue to adhere to social distancing, the wearing of face 
masks, hand hygiene etc. There is a focus on providing social workers with face to face supervision and team meetings where meeting room size and capacity will allow. 
The service has worked with Occupational Health colleagues to promote the offer of support available to staff and managers to continue addressing the health and 
wellbeing of the workforce. This support includes the corporate Employee Assistance Programme (EAP), which is now open to agency social workers as well as 
permanent staff, plus specific support to children’s service staff such as a ‘Frontline Fatigue Workshop’ and a Manager’s ‘Wellbeing Conversation Toolkit.’ Frontline 
Fatigue Workshops began to be delivered in October 2021 and early feedback indicates that some staff are feeling very vulnerable but appreciate the support to develop 
or re-learn helpful strategies to build resilience.

 CV19 Business Continuity Planning - arrangements continue with Head of Service catch up meetings each Monday morning, an extended Bronze Group and 
Leadership Team meeting each Wednesday morning, with Services Managers attending on a monthly basis, as well as a Head of Service peer to peer meeting every 
Friday morning.

 Staff Absence Tracker - The staff tracker shows that overall sickness rates for children’s social care staff continue to be lower than before the pandemic but has 
increased since August. Staff testing positive for CV-19 has been low overall comparatively speaking throughout the pandemic and there are currently 3 staff off sick 
with a CV-19 diagnosis and one member of staff with long COVID (as of 13 October 2021). All front-line social workers and GCC foster carers have been vaccinated. 

 Staffing - The workforce strategy continues to be managed with the following initiatives being concluded for the 2020/21-year end:
 All Cohort 9 NQSW/ASYEs have established positions within the structure
 All Cohort 10 NQSW/ASYEs will have taken up their posts in September and October 2021
 Overseas social workers moving into established positions within the staffing establishment
 The conversion of agency staff onto permanent contracts remains very slow
 The Social Work Apprenticeship Scheme
 Refresh of the children’s social care recruitment microsite is partially complete and continues to be further developed

 Ofsted– The much-anticipated and very overdue notification for the Ofsted inspection remains outstanding. In February 2022, it will be 5 years since the previous 
inspection in February 2017 and it is a year since Ofsted undertook the Focus Visit. The Ofsted Annual Conversation took place on 20 September 2021. The conversation 
covered the key issues outlined in the Focus Visit letter date 20 November 2020.

 DfE Review – The recent DfE Review engaged staff in three focus groups where social workers, team managers and head of service met with DfE Advisors. DfE 
Advisors also consulted with key partners. Verbal feedback from the DfE Advisors which will be put in writing, reported a very positive, open and transparent response 
from all staff with consistent messages being reported about key themes and issues from staff and partners. The DfE reported highlights included the following:

o Clear evidence of significant progress, which has been accelerated over the last 12 – 18 months. 

P
age 34



11

o Despite identified ICT challenges, staff were reported to be mature and solution focused and the commitment from corporate and political leaders is noted
o There has been a positive cultural shift which is evidenced by what staff say about Heads of Service support and the creative and innovative practice solutions, 

including Virtual Courts, Trevone House, for example
o There is a confident ‘grip’ on performance and quality assurance reporting with a thorough and consistent ‘line of sight’ about what’s happening in the service
o Learning and development via the Social Work Academy is as good, if not better than, other local authorities
o Compare to the 2017 Ofsted inspection there have been ‘huge gains’
o The reduction in the previous over-reliance on agency staff 

In conclusion, the DfE Advisors felt that practice and performance was much further on from a year ago and that the Ofsted inspection expected in September/October 
2021 should result in a strong judgement of ‘requires improvement’, possibly with some ‘good’ features. Some staff feedback about communication and very senior 
leadership visibility will be addressed moving forward.

5.To protect children 
through timely and 
consistent risk informed 
intervention and support 
that has a positive impact 
and improves outcomes

 Ofsted Focus Visit - Following the Ofsted Focus Visit in October 2020, the feedback and learning was used to refresh the improvement and development activity. A 
number of these issues affect practice with children in need of support and protection in respect of the use and tracking of PLO Pre-Proceedings.

 PLO Pre-Proceedings and Court Recovery Plan care proceedings - Children’s Social Care has responsibility for managing the PLO pre-proceedings and care 
proceedings tracker and has dedicated staff to achieve and maintain the tracker. The revised Liquid Logic legal workspace required further attention to improve 
functionality for electronic reporting and this will help to achieve and maintain managerial ‘grip and pace’. The improvement and development lead chairs a monthly 
review meeting with the Case Professional Officers, relevant Heads of Service and Legal Services before reporting to the Director of Safeguarding and Care. A 
comprehensive report is presented to the Leadership Team.

 Public Law Outline (PLO) Pre-proceedings - activity, especially children subject to pre-proceedings for longer than 26 weeks, was highlighted in the Ofsted Focus 
Visit. A targeted action plan, which was shared with the lead Ofsted inspector at the time of the Focus Visit, has reported progress on a monthly basis. The action plan 
is designed to improve ‘grip and pace’ so that children experience effective change and drift or delay is avoided. Where evidence of the following is apparent however, 
matters are put before the court to provide the child/ren with legal protection:

 There is engagement or non-engagement from parents but the risks persist
 The impact of the identified concerns on the child has worsened
 The child’s safety cannot be managed with the child remaining in the parent’s care

As of September 2021:

 There were 57 sets of pre-proceedings (nb: a set of pre-proceedings = a family group not the number of children) and of these;
 13 sets of pre-proceedings that were concluded 
 6 new sets of pre-proceedings were started
 6 pre-proceedings progressed with decisions to issue court care proceedings

Pre-proceedings are divided across all six Localities with the Forest of Dean having the lowest number of pre-proceedings (4) where none were over 26 weeks and 
Gloucester Locality having the most (23) with 8 over 26 weeks. The most common reason for delay in pre-proceedings, which has been affected by the CV19 
pandemic/lockdowns, is the identification, availability and reporting of independent specialist assessors for parenting and psychological assessments. 

 NPLWG - In March 2021, the National Public Law Working Group (NPLWG) published its final report including 47 core recommendations and 15 longer term 
recommendations and the best practice guidance recommends that the pre-proceedings timeframe is reduced from 26 weeks to 16 weeks. In accordance with the 
NPLWG to recalibrate practice adjustments have been/are being made to develop and further improve pre-proceedings practice 

 The Court Recovery Plan – in addition to the PLO pre-proceedings activity, there continues to be an on-going focus to progress the court recovery plan in partnership 
with Cafcass and the Judiciary to ensure children receive timely legal protection when required. The impact of the pandemic has severely impacted judicial capacity 
but the development of GCC’s 8 x Virtual Court Rooms in Gloucester and Cheltenham has been an innovative solution to a relieve a difficult situation. Current 
proceedings and pre-proceedings represent an extremely busy and demanding area of practice. The latest court recovery plan report indicates that in September 2021 
there were:

o 125 set of care proceedings (plus 57 family groups subject to pre-proceedings) and of these;
o 32 sets of proceedings were allocated to Warwickshire Legal Services the remainder were allocated to GCC Legal Services
o 6 sets of proceedings were managed though the Family Drug and Alcohol Court (FDAC)
o 13 sets of new proceedings were issued in September 2021

P
age 35



12

o 16 sets of court proceedings were concluded in September 2021
Of the 125 sets of care proceeding, approximately two thirds are timetabled are timetabled for an Issues Resolution or Final Hearing over the next few months:

o 38 were awaiting an Interim Hearing (Case Management Hearing, Further Case Management Hearing or Finding of Fact Hearing)
o 68 were timetabled to an Issues Resolutions Hearing
o 19 were timetabled to Final Hearing 

 Virtual Courts – The use of the 8 x Virtual Courts in Cheltenham and Gloucester continues. The previous concerns expressed by the judiciary about GCC’s fragile ICT 
has been managed with the use of iPad / tablets with no outstanding issues.

 GCC Legal Services – Legal Services have faced considerable pressures and demand arising from volume and complexity of court care proceedings. Legal Services 
have managed to employ new staff and have also secured additional capacity from Warwickshire Legal Services. There is a corporate response to ensure GCC Legal 
Services continues to be able to meet demand.

 Child Protection Conferences - In September the timeliness of Initial Child Protection Conferences declined significantly to 58.1% and is well below target (80%)

 Repeat Child Protection Planning – Repeat child protection planning continues to fluctuate with under one-third of children becoming subject to a plan in September 
having had a second or subsequent plan compared with one-fifth in August (17%). Performance was worse than target (25%) in September 2021.

 
 Duration of Child Protection Plans – 3.1% of  children were subject to a plan for more than two years in September. This is marginally higher than our Peer Group 

comparators (2.8% March 20) and our target (2%). Half of these children are also subject to pre proceedings or court care proceedings.

 Joint safeguarding developments – There are currently several initiatives and activities to improve joint working across the children’s safeguarding partnership, 
including:
o Child Protection Strategy Discussions/Meetings – these are now convened by the relevant Locality, as opposed to the MASH, to ensure continuity of management 

oversight throughout the s47 child protection enquiry
o Refreshed Child Protection Strategy Discussion/Meeting agenda – this has been refreshed and agreed between GSCP strategic executive leads for Children’s 

Social Care, Police and Health.
o Risk Outside of the Home/Exploitation – joint planning, improvement and development activity is on-going with key partners to progress the following:

 Launch and implement the revised Exploitation Screening Tool which is now embedded in everyday practice
 Streamline and coordinate shared resources in the Joint Police / Social Care Exploitation Team to target children who are suffering, or are at risk of suffering, 

significant harm as a result of child exploitation (sexual and criminal), including ‘county lines’, missing, trafficking and modern-day slavery. 
 Complete the new draft partnership strategy to protect young people outside of the home which is due in November / December 2021
 Develop intelligence led practice to take a more pro-active about mapping vulnerable young people at risk of harm with other young people and adults 

suspected of causing harm to intervene early, protect and disrupt. A recent intelligence led review has been undertaken about a local organised crime group 
(OCG) (family) which concluded that there was no evidence to substantiate any organised exploitation of young people by the OCG in Gloucestershire.

 A Safer Gloucestershire funding bid is being made to seek funding for a partnership intelligence specialist and a partnership specialist lawyer. The intelligence 
post will be a dedicated resource to map vulnerable young people and adults suspected of causing harm and the specialist lawyer will seek to identify every 
local power and court order to disrupt adults suspected of causing harm to young people.

 The Director for Safeguarding and Care is working with the Reviewing Service to explore how the child protection conference system and the high-risk panel 
meeting process can evolve to adequately address the safeguarding challenges to safeguard young people at risk of harm outside of the home.

6.To provide care and 
achieve permanence for 
children at the earliest 
appropriate opportunity to 
improve their life chances 
and overall outcomes

 Ofsted Focus Visit - the key practice and performance priorities coming out of the Ofsted Focus Visit in 2020 in respect of children in care included:
o Edge of Care - Services for children and families at the Edge of Care
o Placement Sufficiency - Number and choice of suitable placements to meet children’s needs and reduce disruption
o Personal Education Plans - to improve the quality to be more ambitious, specific and have measurable targets

 Innovate Managed Team – In addition to the Screening Review Team already referred to above, additional corporate funding has also been used to commission a 
Managed Team with Innovate. The Managed Team model comprises of a Team Manager and 5 Social Workers with the capacity to support 100 children over a 3-month 
period. The agreed focus for the Managed Team is permanence planning in the U11s Service which is necessary to address outstanding Child Permanence Reports 
(CPRs) as a result of the increasing care proceedings as well as intensive support to children in care and care leavers in the O11s Service which is necessary due to 
the pressures associated with staff ‘churn’, especially in the Cheltenham and Gloucester North Teams. The initiation meeting took place on 16 August 2021 and the mid-
point review meeting took place on 1 October 2021. To date the Innovate Managed Team has been beset with difficulties and the experience has not been straight 
forward. Innovate staffing has been severely affected by CV19, bereavement and personal tragedy. There have been numerous changes of social worker and the Team 
Manager has changed. This has affected the continuity of service and not provided the level of support first anticipated. There has however been a firm commitment 

P
age 36



13

form the Innovate Chief Executive, Emma Blakemore, who has indicated that Innovate will honour the terms of the original contract and has provided additional staffing 
and an undertaking to work over the contractual period to ‘get the job done’. There is a weekly risks and issues meeting which continues to review progress.

 Edge of Care - The emergence of the new Edge of Care Service is integral to the children’s social care transformation remodelling and continues to be progressed. As 
part of the planned staff engagement and formal consultation process the intention is to adopt the Intensive Family Preservation Service (IFPS) approach which is an 
evidence-based approach to help families continue to look after their children and avoid the need for them to come into local authority care. The continuing focus of the 
Edge of Care Service is diversion from care, support in care and reunification home from care. Some specialist learning and development about the IFPS model is being 
sourced and it is anticipated that a bespoke programme will be initiated with relevant managers in the first instance so joint collaboration can take place with managers 
co-facilitating the training with the rest of the service. A review of impact evidence is currently underway to evaluate the first six months of the new Edge of Care Service, 
including the contribution to the Admission to Care Panel.

 Increase in children in care numbers – the number of children in care is increasing and having previously plateaued around 750 recent admissions have accelerated 
to a peak of 836. At the time of writing this AIP refresh the number of children in care was 830 (as at 21.10.2021) and the number of children in care in September  
remained high. This number is expected to rise again based on analysis of the PLO pre-proceedings tracker and evidence from the Admission to Care Panel (ATCP) 
although it is anticipated that this will plateau as the service addresses the additional demand in the system caused by the latent demand. There have been more than 
800 children in care month on month since May 2021.

 Placement Sufficiency – The Board has previously received a detailed report from the Assistant Director for Children and Families Integrated Commissioning, Wendy 
Williams, in January 2021. Since this time Trevone House has been formally launched and is now CQC registered. Trevone House has recently received a ‘Highly 
Commended’ at the 2021 MJ Awards ceremony in Central London. The next phase of the capital programme is being presented to Cabinet in December 2021 and this 
sets out an ambitious programme of activity to develop additional placement provision over the next 3 – 5 years. This addresses the Ofsted Focus Visit feedback about 
‘The number and choice of suitable placements for children to meet their needs and reduce the risk of placement disruption.’ 

 In-house Fostering - the March 2021 Improvement Board heard from Karen Simmons, an independent consultant from the LGA, about the findings and 
recommendations from a comprehensive review of the in-house Fostering Service. Karen Simmons has now been retained to provide on-going support and challenge 
to deliver on the review recommendations and there is now a Fostering Transformation Board chaired by the Director of Safeguarding and Care. There are seven 
operational workstreams designed to targeted the key areas. 

 Placement stability (long and short term) -  In respect of short-term placement stability, 16.2% of children in care had 3 or more placements over the last 12 months 
across all periods of care, this is improving but remains below target (13%). Long-term stability has improved to 66% which above target (65%) but just below statistical 
neighbours (68%). There have been, and continue to be, a number of improvement and development activities to promote and address placement stability including:

 Permanence Project Phase 1 - The first phase of the Permanence Project was completed by the beginning of June 2021 with 500 children in care considered in a 
series of 12 Permanence Panels. The phase 1 Permanence Project concluded with key actions being embedded into business as usual practice to ensure all children 
and young people in care with a permanence plan have permanent carers identified so that children and young people can be formally matched to provide secure 
emotional, placement and legal permanence. 

 Permanence Project Part 2 – Following the recommendations from phase 1, some targeted Permanence Panels were recommended for September/October 2021. To 
date a targeted approach has been taken to review the position in respect of children in care with a plan of permanence and need to be long term matched with a foster 
carer. The Under 11s Service position has already been reviewed in a Permanence Panel convened on 14 October 2021 and the quality of care planning for this cohort 
of children was good overall. The Permanence Tracker is currently reporting as follows:

 39 children are now booked into a number of additional Fostering Panels convened for a long-term match scheduled between November 2021 and February 
2022

 33 children are now living with their long-term foster carers and, subject to confirming various care planning issues/queries, will be matched at Fostering 
Panel from March 2022

 8 children have a plan for long-term fostering but are not yet living in their permanent home and targeted family-finding is underway
                 There are two additional panels being convened per month between November 2021 and February 2022, making a total of 6 fostering panels a month, with a  
                plan have two more during March and April 2022 to accommodate the 33 children who should be ready to be long term matched by then.

 Permanence Tracking – work has been undertaken to review and enhance the previous Permanence Tracker to ensure the process is aligned to the care planning 
processes already in place and scrutinises all children awaiting permanence. The Permanence Tracker has been used to inform and support the Permanence Project 
Panels.

P
age 37



14

 Placement Disruption – targeted improvement and development work has been progressed and is now concluded to address the way in which the service supports 
children in placements at risk of disruption. New and extended practice guidance, support and Liquid Logic reporting tools are now in place to establish a more effective, 
pro-active and targeted practice approach. 

 Admission to Care Panel (ATCP) – The ATCP continues to take place on a weekly basis every Wednesday afternoon and considers all requests for children and 
young people to enter care. This includes all planned admissions, including consideration of PLO pre-proceedings and court applications, as well as 
unplanned/emergency admissions, including retrospective approval following Emergency Duty Team intervention, Police Powers of Protection and Youth Court hearings. 
There has been a significant demand increase, with 830 children in care as at 21.10.2021. The Director for Children’s Safeguarding and Care and the lead for 
improvement and development oversee all requests for care and consult directly with relevant Heads of Service for every unplanned/emergency request for care. The 
ATCP comprises of key managers/officers from Edge of Care, Family Group Conferencing, Fostering, Commissioning, the Reviewing Service etc in order to provide 
challenge and support, additional scrutiny and opportunities to work better together at such a critical point in the decision-making process. Both the Virtual School and 
Child in Care Health Team are routinely provided with early notice of decisions via the ATCP decision log. Wherever appropriate alternatives to care are explored but 
the recent rise in child in care numbers reflects an increasing level of risk and complexity in the system at the moment and it is anticipated that some of this is due to the 
predicted latent demand related to the CV19 pandemic and the impact this has had on family resilience.

 Admission to Care Panel 3 monthly Review - The weekly Admission to Care Panel was launched in February 2021 to provide better oversight and management of 
the planning and decision-making process for children and young people to enter the care of the Local Authority. One of the underlying drivers for the Panel is to address 
Ofsted’s comments about what inspectors called the ‘second front door’. A 3-month review has been undertaken and the report concluded that:
o Between 3 February and 15 May 2021, 94 families / 132 children were presented to the ATCP
o Just over a third of ATCP requests related to the ratification of children who had already entered care. Most of these were a result of ‘trigger’ incidents such as injury 

to a child or Police intervention but there were also consistent numbers of requests relating to young people excluded from staying in their family home, including 
homeless 16 – 17 old presentations.

o Of the 94 ATCP requests, 11 did not result in a care admission with a recommendation of either an agreed package of diversionary support or family resolution via 
a Family Group conference / Edge of Care intervention

o The early indications from the establishment of the ATCP are broadly positive. 
o More children are now entering the care system with evidence of improved planning and decision making with improved opportunities for Fostering and 

Commissioning Services to search and match placements more reflectively with children and young people’s needs. In channelling care admissions in this way our 
edge of care response is better targeted and timelier to maximise the opportunity to support families to remain together.

o A further review of the ATCP is now underway.

 Section 20 - Of all children in care 21.1% were accommodated under a Section 20 arrangement in September 2021.This continues to follow an improving trend against 
a high number of children in care and is better than target (25%).

 Care Leaver’s Pathway Planning Quarterly Review - Performance for care leavers with an up-to-date Pathway Plan was at 87.5% in September, this is within tolerance 
of target (90%) and has improved (up to 12.3% since April 2021). 

 Care Leaver’s Accommodation - A high proportion of care leavers continue to live in suitable accommodation (90.8%). This improved in September and is within 
tolerance of target for the first time since April. Weekly tracking and leadership reporting continue for care leavers who are or may become at risk of homelessness. 
Identified young people continue to be reviewed on a weekly basis during the CV-19 pandemic to ensure continuity of support and intervention as necessary and 
appropriate. 

 Care Leavers not in Education Employment or Training (NEET) – Just over half of our Care Leavers are in employment, education or training (53.2%); Performance 
is marginally above our peer group (49.8%, March 2020) but remains a long way from our very stretched target (75%). Improvement Board members will recall that GCC 
Ambassadors requested a more ambitious stretch target to convey the aspiration and commitment that they wanted to see locally. The pandemic has had an adverse 
impact on young people and EET and this remains a key priority moving forward. The Ambassadors provided the July 2021 Improvement Board with a thematic 
presentation focusing on employment and there is a high level of activity to encourage and support young people to take up the support programmes that are in place 
to help them gain employment, including:

o AIM – these are supported internships as part of an established education employability programme for young people with Education and Health Care Plans (EHCP).  
o Step Forwards – this is a GCC corporately funded programme which specifically targets care-experienced young people to provide them with the support they need 

to move into paid work. 
o Works for Me – this is funded through the GCC Economic Recovery Plan and targets young people who are NEET and who are from areas of the highest deprivation.   
o Kickstart – this is a DWP national programme that provides paid work placements for young people to help them build their employability skills ready to move into 

full time paid work. 

P
age 38



15

o GEM Project - a project for those who are furthest from the labour market.

      Step Forwards has a Steering Group which oversees the whole system approach for and with young people. The Steering Group Vice chair role is filled by an  
      Ambassador and there has recently been an appointment of a young person as a Job Broker who is employed in and supported by the Gloucestershire Employment 
      and Skills Hub Economy, Environment and Infrastructure Directorate. The Steering Group is tasked with establishing a performance dashboard to report
      on activity, impact and outcome measures.

 Personal Education Plans (PEPs) – The Virtual School has taken targeted action to address the Ofsted Focus Visit feedback about PEPs needing to be ‘more 
ambitious, specific and measurable.’ To date extensive training and improvement activity, including external reviewing, has taken place to address the Ofsted feedback 
which confirms that improvements have been made to the process and focus of the PEP with Schools. Further analysis and evaluation are awaited via an LGA 
independent review being commissioned by the new Director for Education to determine the impact and outcome of the improvement activity in respect of children in 
care’s progress and attainment. It is anticipated that the Virtual School will be able to report to the Improvement Board about the outcome of the LGA PEP review in due 
course.

Post script: In light of recent discussions about the review and refresh of the statutory notice arrangements and the future focus of the Improvement Board, there has been a proposal 
for a thematic approach to key practice and performance issues that would benefit from a broader and deeper review of the relevant issues to address the obstacles and 
challenges. Some suggestions for a thematic focus on the Improvement Board Forward Plan are as follows:
 Contacts and Referrals: Focus on revisiting the progress of the multi-agency partnership audit recommendations and the progress that has been made.
 Child Protection Strategy Discussions/Meeting: Focus on recent joint workshops between children’s social care and police about decision making and joint working.
 Missing: Focus on the system and practice solutions to address delays in reporting missing and establish a more strategic overview of ‘push-pull’ factors.
 Children of Concern: Focus on revisiting the previous COC reporting with a focus on exploitation and the connectivity with missing (see above).
 Care Leavers: Focus on key performance indicators and practice issues (e.g. Pathway planning, visiting/keeping in touch, accommodation/risk of homelessness, NEET, 

Health Passports etc).

   

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

REPORT 
TITLE Children’s Services Performance Report

DATE OF 
MEETING 8th November 2021

REPORT 
AUTHORS

Kelly Headley, Performance and Improvement Manager
Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and Strategy

REASON FOR 
PRESENTING 
REPORT

The purpose of this report is to provide Children’s Services Leadership Team with an 
overview of performance against key metrics for September 2021. It highlights areas of 
good performance and those in which further improvement is needed. The report is 
intended as a high-level summary of key activity from contact through to permanence to 
enable Senior Leadership to understand and address key drivers of/barriers to improved 
performance.

Child level interventions (for missing or overdue visits etc) will continue to be actioned 
through the locality performance surgeries, with information available to Managers 
through daily web reporting. This report will also form the basis of reporting to Corporate 
Leadership, Improvement Board and Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Note: Stretch targets were implemented in April. As a consequence, some measures that 
were previously meeting target are currently within tolerance or worse than target.  This 
reflects the leadership’s objective of continuing to increase the standards that we set for 
the children of Gloucestershire.

REPORTING 
PERIOD

The data provided in this report represents a mature cut of performance data for 
September 2021. 

OVERVIEW

High contact demand throughout 2021/22 and a spike in Red rated contacts in 
September may be impacting our ability to make contact decisions in a timely way. 
Performance across all of these acute measures significantly below target. 

There was also a significant increase this month in the number of referrals to Social Care. 
Initial visiting timeliness may have been impacted by this, although response to children 
progressing under Section 47 was good. However, it is evident that there are other 
factors affecting initial visiting performance which has been in decline since March.

Overall, three-fifths of our performance measures achieve either Good (above 80%, with 
a good proportion in the mid-high 80%’s) or Outstanding performance (above 90%, with 
the greater proportion of the latter in the mid-high 90%’s). This is an improvement 
compared with last month. As a consequence, the majority of children being supported, 
protected or cared for in Gloucestershire are receiving a positive level of service across a 
broad range of measures. 

Continuing strengths include a reduction in the proportion of children being re-referred to 
Social Care, seeing Children in Need, subject to protection and in our care, as well as 
keeping in touch with Care Leavers and seeing our Older Care Leavers. Timely ongoing 
reviews of Children in Need and those subject to protection and in our care are further 
strengths. This ensures we are regularly considering how well we are managing and 
reducing risk, progressing work that makes a difference and sustaining our focus on 
achieving good outcomes for the child. 

We have robust oversight of our Foster Carers through up-to-date DBS and medical 
checks. While the majority of supervisions, unannounced visits and annual reviews for 
Foster Carers are timely, performance could be further improved. Improvement activity 
over recent months has also reduced the proportion of children returning to care and 
those in care accommodated under a Section 20 agreement.  We also have a better 
understanding of the availability of in-house Foster placements resulting in the high 
utilisation of this capacity. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



2

Timeliness of initial child protection conferences decreased significantly for a second 
month. We need to speak to more children who go missing and do so in a timelier 
manner. Urgent performance improvement is needed for each of these measures.. 

The greater majority of children in care have evidence of the IROs footprint on their case 
notes in the last 6 months. Our IRO’s need to more frequently contact and see our 
children in care. We also need to see more of our younger Care Leavers. More children 
subject to protection plans aged 5 years and over were seen alone in September but 
further improvement is needed.   

Putting CiN plans in place, particularly for those children stepping down from a protection 
plan, and initial reviews for Children in Need need to be timelier. We continue to see 
significant fluctuations in the proportion of children returning to a protection plan; over 
time we have higher levels of repeat protection work than our peer comparators. 

There are continuing whole system pressures impacting the timeliness of health 
assessments for children in care and the pace of completing pre and court proceedings. 
Improvement in the performance of timely dental checks for children in care plateaued 
last month and declined marginally in September.  

Pathway planning for children in care needs to improve following a decline in 
performance since May. More work is needed to support Care Leavers to find education, 
training and employment opportunities and see Higher Education as an option.

In September, 68% of workers were responsible for 18 children or fewer and 97.2% had 
25 children or fewer. This is an improvement from August (66%) and potential evidence 
of the positive impact of recent action by senior leadership although workforce stability 
and caseloads remain areas for improvement.

Page 42



3

Contents Page

Overview …………….…………….. 1

Executive Summary …………………………… 4

Performance Dashboard - Thematic …………………………… 9

Performance Dashboard – Performance Group …………………………… 14

Page 43



4

Performance Summary

Contact, Referral and Assessment

ES.01 Contact demand remained high in September. In the 3 previous financial years, the number 
of contacts received monthly, on average, was between 2,200-2,500. Since March when 
children returned to school following the third lockdown, contacts have been exceptionally 
high, with the monthly average in 2021/22 rising to 2,900. Around 40% of incoming demand 
continues to close following initial contact, with half of these contacts receiving advice, 
guidance and support at the point of contact.  

ES.02 Initial and end to end contact decisions were timely for around 80% of children in September. 
There was a significant increase in the number of contacts rated as Red this month (210 
compared to a monthly average of 70 Sep-20 to Aug-21). Timeliness of decision making for 
these children remained similar to August and is too low (71%). Performance for each of 
these measures is significantly worse than target.  

ES.03  Utilisation of the Neglect toolkit at contact continues to be low. Of the 179 contacts relating to 
Neglect from professional referral sources, neglect toolkits were completed for 4 children 
(2%). This issue needs further exploration to understand barriers impacting the use of the 
toolkit.

ES.04  While contact demand has been high throughout 2021/22, the number of referrals received 
into Social Care by assessment teams had been slightly lower than in 2019/20. However, in 
September, referrals increased significantly (967), up more than 35% compared with the 
average level of referrals received monthly in 2019/20. Referrals from Police saw a 90% 
increase compared to the same time last year, while referrals from Social Work and Early 
Help professionals were up almost 45%. The number of referrals from schools was similar to 
the same time last year.

ES.05  Timeliness of initial visits declined again in September; performance has dropped 20% points 
since February (65%). Visiting for children progressing under Section 47 continues to 
experience substantial fluctuation and, while timeliness increased to better than target in 
September, performance is insecure and needs stabilisation. Overall, visits for more than 
100 children were overdue in September, while almost 200 children are awaiting an initial 
visit which was outside of timescale. Timeliness of initial visits across all localities was worse 
than target, ranging from 52% to 79%. 

 
ES.06 The referral for around 10% of children referred in September was closed without them being 

seen. Children whose referral is closed without a visit taking place continue to experience a 
higher chance of being re-referred than those children who are seen (on average 29% 
compared to 18%). Decisions for just over half of children closed without being seen were 
timely (55%) compared to 83% at the same time last year.

ES.07 The proportion of children re-referred in September remained similar to August (21%). This is 
slightly better than target and our peer group, albeit against a much higher number of 
referrals overall. Just over 200 children were re-referred in September, compared to 140 in 
August (22%). The level of re-referrals over a 12-month period is improving with Tewkesbury 
performing within tolerance of target and Cheltenham and Stroud seeing further reductions 
which is narrowing the gap towards tolerance of target. 

ES.08 Timeliness of completion of single assessments improved slightly in September and returned 
to within tolerance of target. However, the performance trend indicates that there are 
challenges in maintaining a within tolerance position. Performance in Cotswolds declined for 
the third month from 92% in June to 61% in September. 

Page 44



5

Timeliness in the remainder of localities is within tolerance or better than target, with the 
exception of Cheltenham where performance is only marginally worse than tolerance. Over 
half of assessments continue to conclude with no requirement for a Social Care service 
(57%).

ES.09  The number of ongoing assessments increased in September (1,372) and is now at a similar 
level to February 2020 (1,376). There are 123 children for whom the completion of their 
assessment is overdue, including 14 children whose assessment has been ongoing for more 
than 90 working days.

Early Help

ES.10 One-third of the work undertaken by Targeted Support is in support of children open to a 
Social Care intervention. Almost two-fifths of the children receiving targeted support work 
have had a previous Early Help episode within the last 12 months. Further work is needed to 
understand whether this is following work undertaken by Early Help or due to repeat Social 
Care work that is receiving support from the Early Help service.
Timeliness of initial visits to children requiring targeted support work increased in September 
but remains very low, with less than a quarter of visits within timescale. Work is underway to 
disaggregate reporting so that there is a clearer picture as to where performance issues may 
arise during the allocation and visiting process. Children and Family Centres do not apply the 
same practice standards as Family Support Teams. This raises questions about inequality of 
service for children and families depending on who is providing support to them.

ES.11 Just over half of assessments were completed within timescale in September. 

ES.12 A significant proportion of episodes for families receiving advice, guidance and support 
(32%) or targeted support (20%) continue to be closed due to non-engagement or withdrawal 
of consent. 

Children in Need 

ES.13 Two-thirds of Children in Need starting a plan in September had a plan in place in a timely 
way. Pace of plan development following step down from a protection plan or care is 
impacting performance and may affect sustaining change with children and families. This 
needs improvement. 

ES.14  We continue to see and work with the greater majority of our Children in Need regularly. 
Timeliness of visits in throughout 2020 fluctuated between tolerance and better than target, 
with 6 of 12 months meeting the set performance standard. Throughout 2021, performance 
has consistently remained within tolerance of target and grip is needed to narrow the small 
gap to meet target. 

ES.15  Almost 80% of Children in Need have had a timely review; performance has been worse 
than target throughout 2021. Timeliness of initial reviews is impacting performance overall 
(60%).  

Child Protection

ES.16 There was a dip in the pace of strategy discussions for the second month, resulting in 
performance declining from better than to worse than target over the last two months. 
Timeliness of S47 enquiries improved but work is needed to ensure consistent levels of 
performance are maintained. There has been a significant drop in the performance of 
timeliness of initial child protection conferences, down 30% points since July. Response to 
risk needs to improve to ensure children receive the support and protection they need 
quickly. 

Page 45



6

ES.17 Neglect is cited as a factor in the current category of abuse in three-fifths of cases for 
children subject to a protection plan. A Neglect Toolkit has been completed for just over one-
fifth of these children, a slight reduction over the last two months. There were 44 children 
made subject to a protection plan in September where Neglect was a factor; the toolkit had 
not been completed for any of these children.

ES.18  There was an increase in made subject to a second or subsequent protection plan in 
September (31%). Performance fluctuates from month to month but overall in Quarter 2 was 
27.4% against a target of 25%. Repeat protection planning remains worse than the peer 
comparator average (23.3%).  

ES.19  The majority of children subject to a protection plan were seen in a timely way in September. 
There was improvement in the timeliness of seeing children subject to a protection plan 
alone, although performance still remains some way from target. 

ES.20 The vast majority of children subject to a protection plan had an up-to-date review.

ES.21  The number of children subject to a protection plan for more than two years remains 
relatively low (23 children); pre or court proceedings are underway for half of these children.

Children in Care

ES.22 Around one-fifth of children in care are accommodated under a Section 20 arrangement. 
This has followed an improving trend reducing from 26.8% in January to 21.1% in September 
(211 children down to 176 children). We continue to accommodate a higher proportion of 
children under a Section 20 arrangement than nationally but have narrowed the gap from 
10% points to 4% points since the beginning of 2021. Proceedings are underway for a low 
proportion of these children in order to secure permanence arrangements (20%). 

ES.23 There have been more than 800 children in care at the end of each month since May. At the 
end of September there were 834 children in care. This compares to an average of 778 in 
2020/21 and 727 in 2019/20. Over a quarter of our children in our care are living in 
placements out of County (27%). However, there has been a small reducing trend in the 
proportion of children in care accommodated out of County and more than 20 miles from 
home (22.9% in May down to 20.9%) resulting in performance moving from a worse than 
target position to better than target and in line with nationally (21.0%). Almost all of available 
in-house foster placement capacity is currently being utilised. A review is being undertaken 
of the 17% of placements that are currently unavailable.

ES.24 The vast majority of our children in care had a timely statutory visit, assessment and review. 

ES.25 The greater majority of children had their views represented at their review either by 
attending or via an Advocate, IRO or other media. A high proportion of children also have 
evidence of the IROs footprint on their case notes in the last 6 months, although 
performance has declined from a better than target to worse than target position since April, 
down from 98% to 90%. Both contact and visiting by IROs for children in care need to 
increase. Two-thirds of children in care aged 5 years and over have had contact with their 
IRO in the last 6 months (65%). For 5-11-year olds, it is considered particularly important that 
contact with their IRO is face to face. Just over a quarter of children in this age group have 
been visited by their IRO in the last six months (27%). 

ES.26 Pathway planning for children in care has been below target for more than a year with 
performance following a declining trend since May; this needs improvement. Timeliness of 
developing initial pathway plans for children who are reaching the appropriate age or have 
come into care is impacting performance, although we are now also beginning to see some 
reviews becoming overdue in recent months.

Page 46



7

ES.27 The majority of children in care have an up-to-date health check but performance has been 
worse than target throughout 2021 and is broadly static. Timeliness of review health 
assessments is impacting performance overall. The proportion of children in care aged 2 or 
older with an up to date dental assessment had followed an increasing trend since March but 
dipped slightly in September, leaving performance still almost 10% points away from target. 
Timeliness of dental checks needs to improve in Gloucester, Cheltenham and Gloucester 
North 11-25 teams which are responsible for almost half of the children overdue. A good 
proportion of children in care aged 4-17 had an up to date Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire (SDQ). We are seeing an increasing number of children who have and SDQ 
score of 17 or above which indicates that emotional wellbeing is a cause for concern (250 up 
from 204 children at the same time last year).

ES.28 Note: the short and long-term placement stability reporting has been slightly revised in order 
to align with the DfE definitions and ensure our reporting is accurate when making 
national/peer comparisons. With regard to short-term placement stability, any young people 
aged 18 who remain in care have been removed from the calculation. In addition, the 
placement code changes when an unregulated placement has been assessed and has 
become regulated. Changes to the placement code were previously counted as a placement 
move rather than a change of placement status. With regard to long term stability, where the 
plan is for a child to be adopted, the time spent in a placement awaiting matching is now 
added to the time a child lives with the family that they have been matched with for adoption 
because the change is a planned one.

There have been small incremental improvements in short-term placement stability since 
July (17.9% down to 16.2%. Performance remains a challenge and is worse than target 
(13%) and peer comparators (11%). Two-thirds of children who have been in care for 2.5 
years or more are experiencing placement stability (66%). This is slightly better than target 
but remains just below our peer group (68%). 

ES.29 The greater majority of our Foster Carers have had a timely annual review.  Timeliness of 
DBS and medical checks remained high for the overwhelming majority of Foster Carers. 90% 
of our Foster Carers have had a timely unannounced visit, however, performance has 
decreased from 96% in June, moving from a better than target position to worse than target. 
Timeliness of Foster Carer supervisions improved in September but is still 10% points worse 
than target. Continued work to improve performance is needed in order to ensure that timely 
support, development and advice is provided for Foster Carers and that there is assurance in 
terms of quality of care and risk. 

ES.30  Just over a quarter of school-aged children in care are education out of County, 8% have 
had a school move during the first month of the academic year and 3% have had a fixed-
term exclusion. School moves and fixed-term exclusions are slightly higher than at the same 
time last year (7% and 1% respectively). 82% of children have good attendance so far this 
academic year (more than 90% of school days attended). 6.3% of children have reduced 
attendance levels as the result of absence due to illness. 

Children Leaving Care

ES.31 We have been in touch with the greater majority of our Care Leavers in the last 6 months and 
see our older Care Leavers in a timely way. There continues to be a significant disparity in 
contact performance for our younger care leavers aged 16-18 years (82%) compared with 
the almost universal levels of contact that we have had with care leavers aged 19 and 
above.(98.8%). We also continue to need to see more of younger Care Leavers (70%). A 
small number of Care Leavers have not been seen since before the pandemic, with the last 
recorded visit between October 2018 and February 2020 (8 Care Leavers).

ES.32 A good proportion of Care Leavers have an up-to-date pathway plan.

Page 47



8

ES.33 The greater majority of our care leavers live in suitable accommodation with performance 
improving to within tolerance of target for the first time in six months. However, performance 
for our younger Care Leavers is again lower than for older Care Leavers (82% compared 
94% for Care Leavers aged 19 years and above).

ES.34  More than half of our Care Leavers are in some form of education, employment or training 
but this is significantly below the aspirations of our Care Leavers. A lower proportion of our 
Care Leavers are in Higher Education than in the South West and Nationally.

Missing Children and Child Exploitation

ES.35 Completion of return interviews continued to follow a declining trend, from 85% in March and 
better than target to 51% in September. Timeliness of return interviews remains low; 
performance declines when refreshed for the previous month (Aug-21 48%) indicating significant 
drift.

ES.36 Timeliness of seeing children rated them as at Moderate or Significant risk of exploitation 
following an initial screening tool being completed continues to needs improvement (47%). 

Legal Proceedings

ES.37 Overdue pre-proceedings reduced in September, down from 96 children to 28 children. 
Timeliness of completion of pre and court proceedings in low: 56% and 34% respectively 
completed within 26 weeks so far in 2021. 

Workforce

ES.38 Caseload levels improved slightly for the second month. However, the proportion of Social 
Workers with a caseload in line with our target of 18 children or fewer remains low (68%). 
The vast majority of workers continue to hold 25 children of fewer (97.2%); this is within 
tolerance of target. 

ES.39 The overwhelming majority of children had an allocated Social Worker and had had some 
activity recorded on their case file within relevant timescales at the end of September.

ES.40 While the majority of children had a timely supervision recorded, evidencing practice 
oversight, performance remains low 15% points below target. This is a critical area of work 
for Team Managers to support progress and risk management for children and improvement 
is needed. 

ES.41 Around 85% of children had fewer than 3 Social Workers in the last 6 months. Stability of 
Social Worker for our children in care remains low and declining and is worse than other 
authorities rated as Inadequate. 

Page 48



9

KEY
 Better than or within tolerance of target   Meeting of better than target
 Worse than target but not significantly so and/or not for a significant period   Within tolerance of target
 Significantly worse than target and/or off target for a significant period   Worse than target

 
White with red/green text to indicate 
• positive/negative: no target set 
• positive/negative direction of travel    

PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD BY THEMATIC AREA

Response to Risk
RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 

Group D.o.T. Trend
Change 

Since Last 
Month

Distance 
from 

Target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of Initial contact decisions 
made within 24 hours

Continued decline resulting in performance now 10% points below 
target level. Rate of decline slowing but needs turning around. 2 - declining 

6th month, down 14% 
points since March -1.0% -9.9% 92.7% 66.8% 68.3% 64.7% 64.1% 78.9% 93.6% 92.9% 88.2% 84.2% 82.6% 81.1% 80.1% 90%

 
% of end-to-end contact 
decisions made within 48 hours Off target for more than 12 months, significantly worse than target 3 - in-month 

improvement   6.0% -17.0% 85.0% 77.0% 75.0% 71.0% 68.0% 78.5% 82.0% 86.0% 81.0% 84.0% 75.0% 72.0% 78.0% 95%

 
% of decisions for Red rated 
contacts made within 4 hours

Performance insecure with substantial peaks and troughs month to 
month, significantly off target. Highest demand levels in two years 
(up 200% on 12-month average) but performance maintained at 
same levels as last month

3 - fluctuating 
 

-2.8% -19.0% 93.5% 84.1% 84.4% 81.3% 80.6% 81.5% 95.7% 90.9% 85.0% 82.5% 98.2% 73.8% 71.0% 90%

 
% of Initial visits that were within 
timescale (All)

Performance better than target for majority of 2020 but has been 
significantly worse than target for majority of 2021 and following a 
declining trend 

3 - declining 
Down 20% points 
since Feb -1.6% -20.2% 87.8% 87.0% 84.7% 75.0% 80.6% 85.3% 81.7% 83.9% 76.5% 78.4% 78.1% 66.4% 64.8% 85%

 
% of Initial visits that were within 
5 w.days of referral (S17)

Performance better than target for majority of 2020 but has been 
significantly worse than target for majority of 2021 and following a 
declining trend 

3 - declining 
4th month, overall 
down 24% points 
since Feb

-3.5% -21.6% 87.0% 88.0% 84.0% 75.0% 81.0% 87.0% 83.0% 83.2% 77.8% 77.8% 77.6% 66.9% 63.4% 85%

 
% of Initial visits that were within 
2 w.days of contact (S47)

Performance insecure with substantial peaks and troughs month to 
month, needs stabilisation to secure consistent better than target 
performance

2 - fluctuating   33.3% 2.5% 91.0% 79.0% 87.0% 73.0% 74.0% 70.0% 67.0% 96.3% 64.1% 92.3% 87.2% 54.2% 87.5% 85%

 
% of Strategy Discussions that 
took place within 5 w.days

Within tolerance of better than target for a good proportion of the 
last 12 months but difficulty in maintaining grip with no more than 
two consecutive months at better than target achieved and 
fluctuations to below target performance in recent months

2 - fluctuating   -0.3% -4.7% 79.0% 89.0% 90.5% 88.2% 90.5% 93.4% 87.0% 86.0% 79.5% 83.2% 90.5% 85.6% 85.3% 90%

 
% of S47 enquiries that were 
completed within 15 w.days of 
start of enquiry

Performance within tolerance or better than target for more than 12 
months but grip needed to avoid drops of 10% points every 2-3 
months

1 – in month 
improvement   6.5% 2.2% 92.5% 93.2% 90.5% 89.8% 87.6% 94.9% 92.8% 86.9% 97.6% 91.1% 93.8% 85.6% 92.2% 90%

 
% of ICPCs that took place within 
15 w.days of start fo S47 enquiry

6 month better than target performance has seen significant drops 
in Aug/Sep. Needs grip to avoid a return to low, off target trend 
seen in the second half of 2019/20

3 - declining  2nd month, down 30% 
points since July -16.0% -21.9% 83.5% 79.5% 92.2% 93.8% 65.2% 83.6% 88.0% 90.6% 92.3% 84.6% 88.2% 74.2% 58.1% 80%

 
% of children with a missing 
episode(s) who have had at least 
1 return interview 

Majority within tolerance and better than target performance Nov-
Jun, significant declining trend Jul-Sep 3 - declining  4th month -20.8% -31.4% 75.8% 66.7% 80.0% 85.5% 80.6% 80.0% 84.6% 76.1% 80.3% 79.2% 74.6% 71.4% 50.6% 82%

 

% of return interviews which took 
place with 72 hours of the 
missing episode

Performance for the previous month drops once refreshed 
indicating drift in completing return interviews. This decline has 
worsened in Aug-Sep to below 50% timleiness compared to 69% 
in Jun and 74% at the same time last year

3 - declining   10.0% -22.5% 74.0% 71.0% 77.0% 74.0% 70.0% 67.0% 69.0% 55.0% 61.0% 69.0% 49.0% 47.5% 57.5% 80%

 
% of children in care who have 
had a missing episode(s) in the 
last 12 months

Broadly static, not impacting in this area 3 - static   -0.7% 3.4% 15.2% 15.4% 14.5% 15.0% 14.6% 14.5% 14.3% 15.0% 15.3% 15.5% 15.0% 15.1% 14.4% 11%

Seeing Children
RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 

Group D.o.T. Trend
Change 

Since Last 
Month

Distance 
from 

Target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of Children in Need seen 
within the last 20 w.days

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 12 months 
and broadly static, needs grip to narrow small gap to target 1 - static   -1.7% -3.0% 93.1% 92.6% 95.6% 92.6% 91.4% 92.5% 92.1% 92.4% 91.1% 91.0% 90.4% 91.7% 90.0% 93%

 
% of children subject to a CPP 
seen within the last 10 w.days

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 12 months, 
needs increased grip to meet target required

1 - maintained 
in-month   0.9% -2.0% 93.7% 90.9% 90.9% 88.3% 90.3% 94.1% 91.9% 90.6% 92.8% 88.2% 84.7% 90.1% 91.0% 93%

 
% of children in care with an up-
to-date Statutory visit

Performance was better than target in the 4 months to the end of 
2020 but has been within tolerance throughout 2021 and has been 
static within +/- 1-2% points for 9 months, needs additional grip to 
make the small push to target levels

1 - static   0.2% -1.2% 95.8% 96.3% 95.6% 96.6% 90.3% 93.6% 92.0% 92.3% 92.9% 93.1% 94.4% 93.6% 93.8% 95%

 
% of care leavers in touch with 
their Social Worker in the last 6 
months

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 12 months, 
needs increased grip to meet target required 1 - improving   1.9% -0.9% 92.4% 93.1% 94.8% 95.5% 95.9% 93.0% 93.0% 90.2% 91.5% 92.6% 93.1% 92.2% 94.1% 95%

 
% of younger care leavers seen 
within last 2 mths (16-20 years) Low, significantly off target performance for more than 12 months 3 – in-month 

improvement   3.1% -20.5% 71.7% 73.2% 68.8% 65.8% 59.5% 47.5% 59.8% 64.6% 64.6% 71.3% 70.0% 66.4% 69.5% 90%

P
age 49



10

 
% of older care leavers seen 
within the last 6 months (21 years 
and over)

Performance had been improving over 6 months and steady for 3 
months but some slippage in September 1 - declining   -3.0% 2.7% 84.5% 89.3% 88.7% 89.0% 87.2% 86.3% 83.9% 82.9% 88.2% 95.0% 95.6% 95.7% 92.7% 90%

Child’s Voice
RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 

Group D.o.T. Trend
Change 

Since Last 
Month

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of children subject to CPP 
aged 5 and over seen alone 
within the last 20 w.days

Improved in-month and is similar to performance levels seen 
between Mar-Jun but remains some distance from target

2 - in-month 
improvement   6.8% -11.7% 76.8% 85.5% 79.8% 74.8% 70.6% 78.3% 83.8% 84.1% 85.1% 85.7% 81.8% 76.5% 83.3% 95%

 

% of children subject to CPP 
aged 8 and over completing a My 
Views form for their conference

Static, low and off target for more than 12 months 3 - static 
Mid-60's 
performance for 6th 
month

-2.2% -14.9%  60.1% 62.9% 57.1% 50.8% 54.5% 70.7% 65.3% 65.3% 65.3% 64.1% 67.3% 65.1% 80%

 
% of children in care aged 5-17 
participation in their review

Better than target performance dropped to within tolerance and 
then worse than target in Jul/Aug, in-month improvement has 
returned performance to within tolerance, needs grip to return to 
achieving target

1 - in-month 
improvement   2.4% -3.2%          99.0% 96.8% 92.4% 94.8% 98%

 

% of children in care with an IRO 
casenote recorded in the last 6 
months

Better than target performance has declined to within tolerance 
and now worse than target over the last 3 months, needs grip to 
prevent further decline, risk of slippage into performance group 2

1 - declining 
4th month, down 
8% points since 
April

-3.0% -5.0% 92.0% 92.0% 93.0% 94.0% 94.0% 93.0% 97.0% 98.0% 97.0% 96.0% 93.0% 93.0% 90.0% 95%

Low
% of children aged 5 years and 
over where their IRO has been in 
touch in the last 6 mths

Incremental improvements since Feb but pace of change is slow 
and there was a small decline in Sep. Performance remains low 3 - improving   -1.2%       52.9% 57.8% 60.0% 62.8% 63.3% 65.8% 66.0% 64.8%  

V. 
Low

% of children aged 5-11 years 
seen by their IRO in the last 6 
months

Improving trend Feb-Jul but gains beginning to be eroded in the 
last two months. Performance remains very low, impact needed to 
fundamentally shift performance levels

3 - declining  2nd month -1.5%       20.5% 22.4% 23.7% 21.2% 27.2% 30.1% 28.4% 26.9%  

Assessment, Planning and Review

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of Single Assessments 
completed within 45 w.days

Performance fluctuating between within tolerance and worse 
than target, struggling to sustain improvements and move 
performance through to meeting required target

2 - fluctuating   2.9% -3.8% 81.7% 83.5% 82.3% 83.5% 86.7% 86.2% 79.8% 78.8% 80.5% 82.9% 86.0% 80.3% 83.2% 87%

 
% of children in care with an up-
to-date annual assessment 

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 12 months, 
static within 1-2 % points for 8 months, needs additional grip to 
make the small push to target levels

1 - static  3rd month -0.6% -3.9% 94.0% 92.6% 92.2% 90.1% 86.6% 91.2% 90.6% 90.8% 92.4% 93.0% 92.8% 91.7% 91.1% 95%

 

% of Children in Need with a 
plan in place within 10 w.days of 
assessment completion or step 
down

Low performance compounded by fluctuations, need to stabilise 
to support a fundamental shift towards target 3 - fluctuating   2.9% -28.0%     60.6% 52.0% 54.5% 69.6% 51.5% 65.9% 72.5% 64.1% 67.0% 95%

 

% of children in care aged 16 
years and 3 months or over with 
an up-to-date Pathway plan

Performance in May was narrowly outside of tolerance of target 
but a declining trend now means this is significantly below target 3 - declining 

4th month, down 
15% points since 
June

-6.5% -22.3% 82.0% 83.3% 82.8% 82.0% 80.6% 78.8% 82.0% 81.6% 83.1% 83.0% 79.6% 74.2% 67.7% 90%

 
% of care leavers with an up-to-
date Pathway plan

Performance improved to within tolerance of target but plateaued 
for 4 months, needs increased grip to meet target required 2 - plateaued   -1.1% -2.5% 88.0% 85.1% 82.5% 76.8% 74.9% 78.7% 78.2% 75.2% 79.8% 86.7% 87.0% 88.6% 87.5% 90%

 
% of Children in Need with an 
up-to-date review (snapshot, 
overall)

Initial reviews impacting performance 3 - declining 
Overall declining 
trend since March 1.7% -11.3%     83.0% 82.7% 84.1% 83.4% 81.9% 81.8% 77.9% 77.0% 78.7% 90%

 
% of Children in Need whose 
Initial CiN Review completed in-
month was timely

Declining performance, significantly off target throughout 2021 3 - declining  Down 18% points 
since May -5.8% -30.2%     72.1% 71.1% 69.1% 71.1% 77.9% 68.1% 63.2% 65.6% 59.8% 90%

 
% of Children in Need whose 
subsequent CiN Review 
completed in-month was timely

 1 - strong  2nd month -2.0% 7.1%     99.0% 91.5% 95.7% 99.3% 97.6% 95.6% 100.0% 99.1% 97.1% 90%

 
% of children subject to a 
protection plan with an up-to-
date review 

Performance high and better than target for 12 months 1 - strong, 
consistent 

Ongoing strong 
trend -1.4% 1.6% 95.9% 100.0% 99.1% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.6% 97.0% 98.5% 98.2% 100.0% 100.0% 98.6% 97%

 
% of children in care with an up-
to-date review 

100% for majority of 12 months, within tolerance performance in 
more recent months 1 - strong   1.7% -0.8% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.3% 100.0% 97.5% 99.2% 100%

 
% of Children in Need on a plan 
for less than 12 months (excl 
CIN on short breaks)

 1 - strong, 
consistent   0.8% 6.1% 94.0% 94.0% 94.0% 94.0% 93.0% 93.0% 93.0% 94.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.2% 95.3% 96.1% 90%

 
% of children subject to a CPP 
for more than 2 years Static, half of children in proceedings 2 - static  4th month 0.1% 1.1% 2.1% 2.7% 3.1% 3.1% 2.6% 2.8% 2.2% 2.7% 2.7% 3.2% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 2%

P
age 50



11

P
age 51



12

Repeat Work

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 

Repeat referrals in-month 
(previous referral start within 12-
mths of current referral start)

Better than target for 4 of 5 months and slightly better than peer 
group, need to maintain a consistent trend and reduce repeat 
work slightly further to solidly secure strong performance 

1 - positive  -0.5% -1.1% 30.7% 26.4% 31.5% 29.8% 31.8% 28.3% 27.4% 29.0% 21.7% 22.5% 30.5% 21.9% 21.4% 22.5%

 

% of CP plans starting in month 
that are second/subsequent 
plans

Performance insecure with substantial peaks and troughs month 
to month. Overall, Quarter 2 performance is worse than but not 
significantly off target at 27.4%

2 - fluctuating   13.6% 5.8% 17.7% 37.7% 26.6% 13.5% 16.5% 23.4% 42.0% 29.4% 15.3% 39.5% 33.8% 17.1% 30.8% 25%

 
% of children entering care who 
have been in care previously 
within the last 12 months 

Better than target performance for the majority of 12 months 1 - strong , 
consistent   -1.1% -5.8% 0.0% 12.8% 6.9% 4.2% 0.0% 0.0% 9.7% 9.1% 2.2% 10.0% 0.0% 6.7% 5.6% 11.4%

Health and Wellbeing

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% children in care with an up-to-
date health assessment 
(snapshot, overall)

Within tolerance performance achieved in 2020 but off target 
throughout 2021, broadly static within +/- 1-2 % points, need 
impact in this area to shift performance levels back towards 
target

2 - static  2nd month 0.6% -7.4% 93.8% 92.9% 90.5% 90.0% 90.0% 89.1% 87.4% 86.9% 88.7% 88.8% 86.4% 87.0% 87.6% 95%

 
% children in care with an up-to-
date health assessment - 
(snapshot, 0-4 years)

Broadly static within +/- 1-2 % points, need impact in this area to 
shift performance levels towards target 2 - static  -0.5% -7.0% 89.0% 85.0% 79.2% 82.3% 83.9% 83.3% 80.3% 80.5% 82.5% 87.8% 87.2% 88.5% 88.0% 95%

 
% children in care with an up-to-
date health assessment - 
(snapshot, 5 years+)

Within tolerance or better than target performance in 2020 but off 
target throughout 2021, broadly static within +/- 1-2 % points, 
need impact in this area to shift performance levels back towards 
target

2 - static  2nd month 0.9% -7.5% 95.0% 94.8% 93.3% 91.9% 91.4% 90.4% 88.8% 88.3% 90.0% 89.0% 86.2% 86.6% 87.5% 95%

 % of timely of IHAs - in-month
Low performance compounded by fluctuations, need to stabilise 
to support an improving trend to narrow the significant gap to 
target

3 - fluctuating 
 

5.6% -18.8% 46.7% 72.2% 82.1% 65.2% 52.0% 84.6% 73.1% 52.6% 95.7% 63.4% 77.3% 70.6% 76.2% 95%

 % of timely of RHAs - in-month 
Low performance compounded by fluctuations, need to stabilise 
to support an improving trend to narrow the significant gap to 
target

3 - declining 
2nd month, down 
16% points since 
July/34% points 
since Sep-20

-4.8% -64.6% 63.9% 55.1% 53.8% 54.1% 48.6% 45.6% 50.0% 16.2% 33.3% 36.7% 46.2% 35.2% 30.4% 95%

 % of children in care with and 
up-to-date dental check

The improving trend seen since March slowed last month and 
has reduced slightly in September, grip is needed to improve 
performance

3 - plateaued   -0.6% -8.5% 63.5% 59.1% 50.9% 47.7% 45.3% 45.0% 42.9% 53.9% 62.7% 69.6% 75.0% 77.1% 76.5% 85%

 % of children in care with an up-
to-date SDQ

Minor fluctuations between within tolerance and better than 
target throughout 2020, dropping to minor fluctuations between 
tolerance and worse than target in 2021 with increasing 
frequency of off target performance, grip needed 

3 - fluctuating  2nd month -1.7% -6.1% 84.5% 84.4% 86.2% 84.4% 80.5% 80.2% 82.2% 82.9% 83.8% 79.9% 82.4% 80.6% 78.9% 85%

Stability and Permanence

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of children in care Out-of-
County more than 20 miles from 
home

Performance is holding steady and even seeing very small 
improvements over the last two months despite the high overall 
number of children in care. However, it is likely to be difficult to 
impact performance substantially while the current level of 
pressure remains on the system

1 - improving  2nd month -0.7% -0.1%      22.0% 21.4% 21.7% 22.9% 21.9% 22.1% 21.6% 20.9% 21.0%

 % of children in care 
accommodated under S20

Incremental reductions and better than target performance seen 
over the last 4 months. We remain higher than national levels but 
have narrowed the gap from 10% to 4% points since January

1 - improving 
4th month, overall 
down 6% points 
since January

-1.6% -3.9% 25.1% 26.4% 25.9% 26.8% 26.8% 26.3% 25.1% 25.4% 25.5% 24.5% 23.4% 22.7% 21.1% 25%

 Utilisation of available in-house 
Foster placement capacity

Performance is high but there is a significant gap between overall 
in-house foster care capacity and available capacity which raises 
questions

1 - strong  3rd month, up 9% 
points since June 0.4% 13.6%       83.5% 87.5% 95.3% 91.3% 97.7% 98.2% 98.6% 85%

 
% of children in care 
experiencing 3 or more 
placements in 12 months (All 
PoCs)

Small incremental improvement since April, trend needs to 
continue in order to narrow the gap to target and peer 
comparators 

2 - improving   -0.1% 3.2% 15.7% 16.4% 16.9% 17.9% 17.9% 17.2% 15.8% 17.9% 16.8% 15.9% 16.7% 16.3% 16.2% 13%

 
% of children aged under 16  in 
care for at least 2.5 yrs who 
have been in the same 
placement for at least 2 yrs

Performance is better than target but remains lower than that 
seen Feb-May 21 which was in line with or better than our peer 
group average

2 - in-month 
improvement   1.5% 1.0% 65.6% 65.4% 64.7% 64.3% 65.4% 68.0% 69.3% 69.8% 68.1% 67.0% 65.2% 64.5% 66.0% 65%

P
age 52



13

 % of care leavers in suitable 
accommodation 

Off target performance for majority of 12 months, broadly static 
but improvement in Sep to within tolerance of target, impacted by 
performance for 16-18 year old Care Leavers 

1 - in-month 
improvement   2.9% -4.2% 87.5% 87.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.9% 90.0% 92.1% 90.2% 91.1% 88.9% 87.9% 87.9% 90.8% 95%

Stability and Permanence continued

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 % of care leavers in suitable 
accommodation - (19-21 years)

Performance  within tolerance of target for majority of 12 months 
but broadly plateaued, needs increased grip to meet target 
required

1 - improving   2.0% -0.6% 94.1% 94.2% 95.2% 93.1% 91.9% 92.8% 93.8% 93.2% 94.5% 92.4% 91.6% 92.4% 94.4% 95%

Good % of children with fewer than 3 
Social Workers in 6 months

Improved from the 70%'s to lower mid-80%'s in March but 
broadly plateaued for 7 months 2 - plateaued   0.3%  79.3% 77.6% 78.3% 77.9% 78.6% 79.9% 82.3% 84.5% 84.6% 83.8% 83.5% 84.1% 84.4%  

Low
% of children in care with fewer 
than 3 Social Workers in 12 
months

Low performance for more than 12 months 3 - static   1.6%  63.1% 60.2% 58.6% 59.8% 59.1% 59.2% 60.4% 61.5% 61.7% 59.8% 57.6% 56.7% 58.3%  

Low % of pre-proceedings ongoing 
for more than 26 weeks Jump in performance in July eroded Aug/Sep 3 - declining 

2nd month, down 
10% points since 
June

-3.6%         68.0% 71.0% 69.0% 81.0% 75.0% 71.4%  

Low % of court proceedings ongoing 
for more than 26 weeks Fluctuating low performance 3 - declining 

2nd month, down 
12% points since 
June

-10.0%         67.0% 59.0% 59.0% 70.0% 68.0% 58.0%  

 % of pre-proceedings completed 
for more than 26 weeks (CYtD)

Broadly static within +/- 1-2 % points, performance significantly 
off target 3 - static   2.0% -24.0%     50.0% 62.0% 47.0% 56.0% 57.0% 58.0% 55.0% 54.0% 56.0% 80%

 
% of court proceedings 
completed for more than 26 
weeks (CYtD)

Broadly static within +/- 1-2 % points, performance significantly 
off target 3 -static  2nd month 1.0% -26.0%     29.0% 30.0% 33.0% 32.0% 34.0% 31.0% 31.0% 33.0% 34.0% 60%

Education – Children in Care and Care Leavers

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of school aged children in 
care with an education 
placement

 1 - strong, 
consistent   Schools 

closed -2.0% 97.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 97.0% 97.0% 96.0% 97.0% 97.0% 97.0% 98.0%  98.0%  100%

 
% of school aged children in 
care whose school place is out-
of-County

Reducing trend compared with May-21 but pressure remains 
high 3 - improving   Schools 

closed 6.0% 26.0% 27.0% 29.0% 28.0% 28.0% 28.0% 27.0% 29.0% 29.0% 27.0% 27.0%  26.0%   20%

 
% of school aged children in 
care fixed-term excluded FEXs relatively low but worse than the same time last year 1 - good   Schools 

closed -7.0% 1.0% 6.0% 8.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 12.0% 14.0% 14.0% 14.0% 15.0%  3.0%  10%

 

% of school aged children in 
care with good attendance 
(more than 90% of school days 
attended)

Static within +/- 1-2% points following lockdown 3, significantly 
off target 2 - static

  

Schools 
closed -13.0% 85.0% 83.0% 83.0% 82.0%   80.0% 81.0% 79.0% 78.0% 80.0%  82.0% 95%

 
% of school aged children in 
care experiencing a school 
move

FEXs relatively low, marginally worse than the same time last 
year 1 - good   

Schools 
closed  7.0% 10.0% 11.0% 12.0% 14.0% 14.0% 14.0% 17.0% 19.0% 19.0% 21.0%  8.0%  

 
% of care leavers in education, 
employment or training

Minor fluctuations linked to the academic year, off target low 
performance for more than 12 months 3 - low   2.5% -21.8% 46.3% 48.7% 50.6% 50.0% 47.7% 48.1% 51.0% 48.6% 49.6% 45.9% 51.0% 50.6% 53.2% 75%

 
% of care leavers in education, 
employment or training - (19-21 
years)

Minor fluctuations linked to the academic year, off target low 
performance for more than 12 months 3 - low   

4.5% -20.1% 48.4% 51.8% 51.5% 51.7% 51.7% 50.2% 51.7% 50.2% 48.8% 48.1% 52.9% 50.4% 54.9% 75%

 
% of care leavers in Higher 
Education Off target for majority of 12 months 3 – in-month 

improvement   0.9% -1.1% 4.9% 5.0% 4.6% 5.0% 4.3% 2.9% 3.1% 2.6% 3.0% 3.1% 3.2% 3.0% 3.9% 5%

Management Oversight

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of Foster Carers with an up-
to-date annual review

Performance within tolerance of target and static within +/- 1-2% 
points for majority of 12 months, additional grip needed to 
narrow the small gap to target

2 - static   -1.6% -3.8% 86.6% 89.6% 91.1% 88.6% 91.1% 92.9% 89.9% 91.4% 89.1% 85.1% 86.3% 90.8% 89.2% 93%

 
% of Foster Carers with an up-
to-date DBS check (Main Carer)

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 12 months 
but for the last 4 of 5 months has been better than target, needs 
to be maintained to ensure that this is a consistent trend

1 - strong   0.7% 0.9% 94.1% 96.5% 97.6% 96.8% 96.1% 95.3% 95.3% 96.6% 97.6% 96.3% 97.3% 97.2% 97.9% 97%

P
age 53



14

 

% of Foster Carers with an up-
to-date medical check (Main 
Carer)

While performance remains high, it has been static for 4 months 
within tolerance of target compared to the better than target 
position for the majority of Oct-20 to May-21

1 - static   -1.1% -2.3% 94.1% 97.6% 97.9% 98.2% 96.8% 96.6% 97.7% 97.3% 96.6% 95.6% 95.2% 95.8% 94.7% 97%

 

% of Foster Carer who have had 
an unannounced visit within 
timescale

Decline in performance resulting in drop from better than target 
in June to within tolerance and now worse than target in Sep and 
a move into performance group 2

2 - declining 
3rd month, down 
7% points since 
June

-1.3% -5.6% 78.1% 88.0% 87.5% 90.7% 85.4% 81.5% 89.6% 93.5% 94.5% 95.5% 91.5% 90.7% 89.4% 95%

 
% of Foster Carers with an up-
to-date supervision

Performance returned to highest level reported in 12 months in 
Sep, needs further grip to narrow gap to target

2 - in-month 
improvement   7.3% -10.0% 66.9% 66.8% 65.1% 66.0% 67.6% 70.2% 73.8% 78.2% 79.1% 85.0% 77.7% 77.7% 85.0% 95%

Management Oversight continued

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 

% of children open to Social 
Care who have an up-to-date 
case supervision

A marginal increase in Sep has resulted in this measure moving 
back up into performance group 2 but overall the trend has been 
a declining one since May and performance remains significantly 
off target

3 - declining   0.9% -14.7% 77.0% 85.3% 87.9% 84.6% 85.0% 87.1% 81.4% 85.7% 87.1% 83.8% 82.0% 79.4% 80.3% 95%

 
% of children who have had 
activity recorded on their case 
file in a timely way

 1 - strong, 
consistent  Consistently high 0.3% -0.5% 99.6% 99.8% 99.2% 99.2% 99.5% 99.5% 99.2% 99.0% 99.7% 99.7% 99.6% 99.2% 99.5% 100%

 
% of Social Workers with 18 or 
fewer Children

In-month improvement but still at some of the lowest levels seen 
in recent financial years 3 - improving  2nd month, up 7% 

points 2.2% -27.1% 77.5% 78.6% 76.9% 75.0% 78.4% 76.9% 79.2% 76.7% 72.8% 68.3% 60.9% 65.7% 67.9% 95%

 
% of Social Workers with 25 or 
fewer Children Small fluctuations 1 - strong   1.6% -2.8% 97.7% 96.7% 98.3% 97.9% 98.3% 98.6% 98.9% 98.9% 97.5% 97.2% 95.2% 95.6% 97.2% 100%

 
% of children allocated a worker 
within 2 weeks  1 - strong, 

consistent  Consistently high 0.2% -0.1% 99.9% 99.8% 99.9% 99.8% 99.9% 99.9% 99.8% 99.7% 99.8% 99.8% 99.8% 99.7% 99.9% 100%

P
age 54



15

PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD BY PERFORMANCE GROUP

Performance group 1   performance is in the 90%’s (where bigger is better) 
we have a good grip on performance and need to maintain this with the majority of indicators moving in a positive direction, 
performance in the majority of cases is better than the peer comparator average 

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month 

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of children allocated a 
worker within 2 weeks  1 - strong, 

consistent  Consistently high 0.2% -0.1% 99.9% 99.8% 99.9% 99.8% 99.9% 99.9% 99.8% 99.7% 99.8% 99.8% 99.8% 99.7% 99.9% 100%

 
% of children who have had 
activity recorded on their case 
file in a timely way

 1 - strong, 
consistent  Consistently high 0.3% -0.5% 99.6% 99.8% 99.2% 99.2% 99.5% 99.5% 99.2% 99.0% 99.7% 99.7% 99.6% 99.2% 99.5% 100%

 
% of children subject to a 
protection plan with an up-to-
date review 

Performance high and better than target for 12 months 1 - strong, 
consistent  Ongoing strong trend -1.4% 1.6% 95.9% 100.0% 99.1% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.6% 97.0% 98.5% 98.2% 100.0% 100.0% 98.6% 97%

 
% of school aged children in 
care with an education 
placement

 1 - strong, 
consistent   Schools 

closed -2.0% 97.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 97.0% 97.0% 96.0% 97.0% 97.0% 97.0% 98.0%  98.0%  100%

 
% of Children in Need on a 
plan for less than 12 months 
(excl CIN on short breaks)

 1 - strong, 
consistent   0.8% 6.1% 94.0% 94.0% 94.0% 94.0% 93.0% 93.0% 93.0% 94.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.2% 95.3% 96.1% 90%

 
% of children entering care who 
have been in care previously 
within the last 12 months 

Better than target performance for the majority of 12 
months

1 - strong , 
consistent   -1.1% -5.8% 0.0% 12.8% 6.9% 4.2% 0.0% 0.0% 9.7% 9.1% 2.2% 10.0% 0.0% 6.7% 5.6% 11.4%

 
% of children in care with an 
up-to-date review 

100% for majority of 12 months, within tolerance 
performance in more recent months 1 - strong   1.7% -0.8% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.3% 100.0% 97.5% 99.2% 100%

 Utilisation of available in-house 
Foster placement capacity

Performance is high but there is a significant gap 
between overall in-house foster care capacity and 
available capacity which raises questions

1 - strong  3rd month, up 9% 
points since June 0.4% 13.6%       83.5% 87.5% 95.3% 91.3% 97.7% 98.2% 98.6% 85%

 

% of Foster Carers with an up-
to-date DBS check (Main 
Carer)

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 
12 months but for the last 4 of 5 months has been 
better than target, needs to be maintained to ensure 
that this is a consistent trend

1 - strong   0.7% 0.9% 94.1% 96.5% 97.6% 96.8% 96.1% 95.3% 95.3% 96.6% 97.6% 96.3% 97.3% 97.2% 97.9% 97%

 
% of Social Workers with 25 or 
fewer Children Small fluctuations 1 - strong   1.6% -2.8% 97.7% 96.7% 98.3% 97.9% 98.3% 98.6% 98.9% 98.9% 97.5% 97.2% 95.2% 95.6% 97.2% 100%

 
% of Children in Need whose 
subsequent CiN Review 
completed in-month was timely

 1 - strong  2nd month -2.0% 7.1%     99.0% 91.5% 95.7% 99.3% 97.6% 95.6% 100.0% 99.1% 97.1% 90%

 

Repeat referrals in-month 
(previous referral start within 
12-mths of current referral 
start)

Better than target for 4 of 5 months and slightly better 
than peer group, need to maintain a consistent trend 
and reduce repeat work slightly further to solidly 
secure strong performance 

1 - good 
 

-0.5% -1.1% 30.7% 26.4% 31.5% 29.8% 31.8% 28.3% 27.4% 29.0% 21.7% 22.5% 30.5% 21.9% 21.4% 22.5%

 
% of school aged children in 
care experiencing a school 
move

FEXs relatively low, marginally worse than the same 
time last year 1 - good   

Schools 
closed  7.0% 10.0% 11.0% 12.0% 14.0% 14.0% 14.0% 17.0% 19.0% 19.0% 21.0%  8.0%  

 
% of school aged children in 
care fixed-term excluded

FEXs relatively low but worse than the same time last 
year 1 - good   Schools 

closed -7.0% 1.0% 6.0% 8.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 12.0% 14.0% 14.0% 14.0% 15.0%  3.0%  10%

 % of care leavers in suitable 
accommodation - (19-21 years)

Performance  within tolerance of target for majority of 
12 months but broadly plateaued, needs increased 
grip to meet target required

1 - improving   2.0% -0.6% 94.1% 94.2% 95.2% 93.1% 91.9% 92.8% 93.8% 93.2% 94.5% 92.4% 91.6% 92.4% 94.4% 95%

 
% of care leavers in touch with 
their Social Worker in the last 6 
months

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 
12 months, needs increased grip to meet target 
required

1 - improving   1.9% -0.9% 92.4% 93.1% 94.8% 95.5% 95.9% 93.0% 93.0% 90.2% 91.5% 92.6% 93.1% 92.2% 94.1% 95%

 % of children in care 
accommodated under S20

Incremental reductions and better than target 
performance seen over the last 4 months. We remain 
higher than national levels but have narrowed the gap 
from 10% to 4% points since January

1 - improving 
4th month, overall 
down 6% points since 
January

-1.6% -3.9% 25.1% 26.4% 25.9% 26.8% 26.8% 26.3% 25.1% 25.4% 25.5% 24.5% 23.4% 22.7% 21.1% 25%

 
% of children in care Out-of-
County more than 20 miles 
from home

Performance is holding steady and even seeing very 
small improvements over the last two months despite 
the high overall number of children in care. However, it 
is likely to be difficult to impact performance 
substantially while the current level of pressure 
remains on the system

1 - improving  2nd month -0.7% -0.1%      22.0% 21.4% 21.7% 22.9% 21.9% 22.1% 21.6% 20.9% 21.0%

 

% of children in care aged 5-17 
participation in their review

Better than target performance dropped to within 
tolerance and then worse than target in Jul/Aug, in-
month improvement has returned performance to 
within tolerance, needs grip to return to achieving 
target

1 - in-month 
improvement   2.4% -3.2%          99.0% 96.8% 92.4% 94.8% 98%

P
age 55



16

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month 

Distance 
from 

target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 

% of S47 enquiries that were 
completed within 15 w.days of 
start of enquiry

Performance within tolerance or better than target for 
more than 12 months but grip needed to avoid drops 
of 10% points every 2-3 months

1 - in-month 
improvement   6.5% 2.2% 92.5% 93.2% 90.5% 89.8% 87.6% 94.9% 92.8% 86.9% 97.6% 91.1% 93.8% 85.6% 92.2% 90%

 % of care leavers in suitable 
accommodation 

Off target performance for majority of 12 months, 
broadly static but improvement in Sep to within 
tolerance of target, impacted by performance for 16-18 
year old Care Leavers 

1 - in-month 
improvement   2.9% -4.2% 87.5% 87.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.9% 90.0% 92.1% 90.2% 91.1% 88.9% 87.9% 87.9% 90.8% 95%

 
% of children subject to a CPP 
seen within the last 10 w.days

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 
12 months, needs increased grip to meet target 
required

1 - maintained 
in-month   0.9% -2.0% 93.7% 90.9% 90.9% 88.3% 90.3% 94.1% 91.9% 90.6% 92.8% 88.2% 84.7% 90.1% 91.0% 93%

 
% of older care leavers seen 
within the last 6 months (21 
years and over)

Performance had been improving over 6 months and 
steady for 3 months but some slippage in September 1 - declining   -3.0% 2.7% 84.5% 89.3% 88.7% 89.0% 87.2% 86.3% 83.9% 82.9% 88.2% 95.0% 95.6% 95.7% 92.7% 90%

 

% of children in care with an 
IRO casenote recorded in the 
last 6 months

Better than target performance has declined to within 
tolerance and now worse than target over the last 3 
months, needs grip to prevent further decline, risk of 
slippage into performance group 2

1 - declining  4th month, down 8% 
points since April -3.0% -5.0% 92.0% 92.0% 93.0% 94.0% 94.0% 93.0% 97.0% 98.0% 97.0% 96.0% 93.0% 93.0% 90.0% 95%

 

% of Foster Carers with an up-
to-date medical check (Main 
Carer)

While performance remains high, it has been static for 
4 months within tolerance of target compared to the 
better than target position for the majority of Oct-20 to 
May-21

1 - static   -1.1% -2.3% 94.1% 97.6% 97.9% 98.2% 96.8% 96.6% 97.7% 97.3% 96.6% 95.6% 95.2% 95.8% 94.7% 97%

 

% of children in care with an 
up-to-date Statutory visit

Performance was better than target in the 4 months to 
the end of 2020 but has been within tolerance 
throughout 2021 and has been static within +/- 1-2% 
points for 9 months, needs additional grip to make the 
small push to target levels

1 - static   0.2% -1.2% 95.8% 96.3% 95.6% 96.6% 90.3% 93.6% 92.0% 92.3% 92.9% 93.1% 94.4% 93.6% 93.8% 95%

 
% of children in care with an 
up-to-date annual assessment 

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 
12 months, static within 1-2 % points for 8 months, 
needs additional grip to make the small push to target 
levels

1 - static  3rd month -0.6% -3.9% 94.0% 92.6% 92.2% 90.1% 86.6% 91.2% 90.6% 90.8% 92.4% 93.0% 92.8% 91.7% 91.1% 95%

 
% of Children in Need seen 
within the last 20 w.days

Performance within tolerance of target for majority of 
12 months and broadly static, needs grip to narrow 
small gap to target

1 - static   -1.7% -3.0% 93.1% 92.6% 95.6% 92.6% 91.4% 92.5% 92.1% 92.4% 91.1% 91.0% 90.4% 91.7% 90.0% 93%

P
age 56



17

Performance group 2   performance is in the 80%’s (where bigger is better) and is therefore good for the majority of children 
more grip is needed to move performance in a positive direction and meet the required target
our peer comparators have better performance across the majority of measures but not significantly so

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

Target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of children in care with  3 or 
more placements in 12 months 
(All PoCs)

Small incremental improvement since April, trend 
needs to continue in order to narrow the gap to 
target and peer comparators 

2 - improving   -0.1% 3.2% 15.7% 16.4% 16.9% 17.9% 17.9% 17.2% 15.8% 17.9% 16.8% 15.9% 16.7% 16.3% 16.2% 13%

 
% of Foster Carers with an up-
to-date supervision

Performance returned to highest level reported in 
12 months in Sep, needs further grip to narrow gap 
to target

2 - in-month 
improvement   7.3% -10.0% 66.9% 66.8% 65.1% 66.0% 67.6% 70.2% 73.8% 78.2% 79.1% 85.0% 77.7% 77.7% 85.0% 95%

 
% of children subject to CPP 
aged 5 and over seen alone 
within the last 20 w.days

Improved in-month and is similar to performance 
levels seen between Mar-Jun but remains some 
distance from target

2 - in-month 
improvement   6.8% -11.7% 76.8% 85.5% 79.8% 74.8% 70.6% 78.3% 83.8% 84.1% 85.1% 85.7% 81.8% 76.5% 83.3% 95%

 
% of children aged under 16  in 
care for at least 2.5 yrs who 
have been in the same 
placement for at least 2 yrs

Performance is better than target but remains lower 
than that seen Feb-May 21 which was in line with or 
better than our peer group average

2 - in-month 
improvement   1.5% 1.0% 65.6% 65.4% 64.7% 64.3% 65.4% 68.0% 69.3% 69.8% 68.1% 67.0% 65.2% 64.5% 66.0% 65%

 
% of care leavers with an up-
to-date Pathway plan

Performance improved to within tolerance of target 
but plateaued for 4 months, needs increased grip to 
meet target required

2 - plateaued   -1.1% -2.5% 88.0% 85.1% 82.5% 76.8% 74.9% 78.7% 78.2% 75.2% 79.8% 86.7% 87.0% 88.6% 87.5% 90%

Good % of children with fewer than 3 
Social Workers in 6 months

Improved from the 70%'s to lower mid-80%'s in 
March but broadly plateaued for 7 months 2 - plateaued   0.3%  79.3% 77.6% 78.3% 77.9% 78.6% 79.9% 82.3% 84.5% 84.6% 83.8% 83.5% 84.1% 84.4%  

 

% of Strategy Discussions that 
took place within 5 w.days

Within tolerance/better than target for a good 
proportion of 12 months but difficulty in maintaining 
grip with no more than two consecutive months at 
better than target achieved and fluctuations to 
below target performance in recent months

2 - fluctuating   -0.3% -4.7% 79.0% 89.0% 90.5% 88.2% 90.5% 93.4% 87.0% 86.0% 79.5% 83.2% 90.5% 85.6% 85.3% 90%

 

% of Initial visits that were 
within 2 w.days of contact 
(S47)

Performance insecure with substantial peaks and 
troughs month to month, needs stabilisation to 
secure consistent better than target performance

2 - fluctuating   33.3% 2.5% 91.0% 79.0% 87.0% 73.0% 74.0% 70.0% 67.0% 96.3% 64.1% 92.3% 87.2% 54.2% 87.5% 85%

 
% of Single Assessments 
completed within 45 w.days

Performance fluctuating between within tolerance 
and worse than target, struggling to sustain 
improvements and move performance through to 
meeting required target

2 - fluctuating   2.9% -3.8% 81.7% 83.5% 82.3% 83.5% 86.7% 86.2% 79.8% 78.8% 80.5% 82.9% 86.0% 80.3% 83.2% 87%

 

% of CP plans starting in 
month that are 
second/subsequent plans

Performance insecure with substantial peaks and 
troughs month to month. Overall, Quarter 2 
performance is worse than but not significantly off 
target at 27.4%

2 - fluctuating   13.6% 5.8% 17.7% 37.7% 26.6% 13.5% 16.5% 23.4% 42.0% 29.4% 15.3% 39.5% 33.8% 17.1% 30.8% 25%

 
% of Foster Carers with an up-
to-date annual review

Performance within tolerance of target and static 
within +/- 1-2% points for majority of 12 months, 
additional grip needed to narrow the small gap to 
target

2 - static   -1.6% -3.8% 86.6% 89.6% 91.1% 88.6% 91.1% 92.9% 89.9% 91.4% 89.1% 85.1% 86.3% 90.8% 89.2% 93%

 
% children in care with an up-
to-date health assessment - 
(snapshot, 0-4 years)

Broadly static within +/- 1-2 % points, need impact 
in this area to shift performance levels towards 
target

2 - static 
 

-0.5% -7.0% 89.0% 85.0% 79.2% 82.3% 83.9% 83.3% 80.3% 80.5% 82.5% 87.8% 87.2% 88.5% 88.0% 95%

 
% children in care with an up-
to-date health assessment 
(snapshot, overall)

Within tolerance performance achieved in 2020 but 
off target throughout 2021, broadly static within +/- 
1-2 % points, need impact in this area to shift 
performance levels back towards target

2 - static  2nd month 0.6% -7.4% 93.8% 92.9% 90.5% 90.0% 90.0% 89.1% 87.4% 86.9% 88.7% 88.8% 86.4% 87.0% 87.6% 95%

 
% children in care with an up-
to-date health assessment - 
(snapshot, 5 years+)

Within tolerance or better than target performance 
in 2020 but off target throughout 2021, broadly 
static within +/- 1-2 % points, need impact in this 
area to shift performance levels back towards target

2 - static  2nd month 0.9% -7.5% 95.0% 94.8% 93.3% 91.9% 91.4% 90.4% 88.8% 88.3% 90.0% 89.0% 86.2% 86.6% 87.5% 95%

 

% of school aged children in 
care with good attendance 
(more than 90% of school days 
attended)

Static within +/- 1-2% points following lockdown 3, 
significantly off target 2 - static

  

Schools 
closed -13.0% 85.0% 83.0% 83.0% 82.0%   80.0% 81.0% 79.0% 78.0% 80.0%  82.0% 95%

 
% of children subject to a CPP 
for more than 2 years Static, half of children in proceedings 2 - static  4th month 0.1% 1.1% 2.1% 2.7% 3.1% 3.1% 2.6% 2.8% 2.2% 2.7% 2.7% 3.2% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 2%

 

% of Foster Carer who have 
had an unannounced visit 
within timescale

Decline in performance resulting in drop from better 
than target in June to within tolerance and now 
worse than target in Sep and a move into 
performance group 2

2 - declining 
3rd month, down 7% 
points since June -1.3% -5.6% 78.1% 88.0% 87.5% 90.7% 85.4% 81.5% 89.6% 93.5% 94.5% 95.5% 91.5% 90.7% 89.4% 95%

 

% of children open to Social 
Care who have an up-to-date 
case supervision

A marginal increase in Sep has resulted in measure 
moving back into performance group 2 but overall 
the trend has been a declining one since May and 
performance remains significantly off target

2 - declining   0.9% -14.7% 77.0% 85.3% 87.9% 84.6% 85.0% 87.1% 81.4% 85.7% 87.1% 83.8% 82.0% 79.4% 80.3% 95%

 
% of Initial contact decisions 
made within 24 hours

Continued decline resulting in performance now 
10% points below target level. Rate of decline 2 - declining 

6th month, down 14% 
points since March -1.0% -9.9% 92.7% 66.8% 68.3% 64.7% 64.1% 78.9% 93.6% 92.9% 88.2% 84.2% 82.6% 81.1% 80.1% 90%

P
age 57



18

slowing but needs turning around.

Performance group 3   performance is in the 50%-70%’s (where bigger is better) 
we are under performing and struggling to impact performance
performance is significantly worse than peer comparators for some measures

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

Target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of younger care leavers seen 
within the last 2 months (16-20 
years)

Low, significantly off target performance for more than 12 
months

3 - in-month 
improvement   3.1% -20.5% 71.7% 73.2% 68.8% 65.8% 59.5% 47.5% 59.8% 64.6% 64.6% 71.3% 70.0% 66.4% 69.5% 90%

 
% of Social Workers with 18 or 
fewer Children

In-month improvement but still at some of the lowest 
levels seen in recent financial years 3 - improving  2nd month, up 7% 

points 2.2% -27.1% 77.5% 78.6% 76.9% 75.0% 78.4% 76.9% 79.2% 76.7% 72.8% 68.3% 60.9% 65.7% 67.9% 95%

Low
% of children aged 5 years and 
over where their IRO has been 
in touch in the last 6 mths

Incremental improvements since Feb but pace of change 
is slow and there was a small decline in Sep. 
Performance remains low

3 - improving   -1.2%       52.9% 57.8% 60.0% 62.8% 63.3% 65.8% 66.0% 64.8%  

 
% of school aged children in 
care whose school place is out-
of-County

Reducing trend compared with May-21 but pressure 
remains high 3 - improving   Schools 

closed 6.0% 26.0% 27.0% 29.0% 28.0% 28.0% 28.0% 27.0% 29.0% 29.0% 27.0% 27.0%  26.0%   20%

 
% of care leavers in Higher 
Education Off target for majority of 12 months 3 - in-month 

improvement   0.9% -1.1% 4.9% 5.0% 4.6% 5.0% 4.3% 2.9% 3.1% 2.6% 3.0% 3.1% 3.2% 3.0% 3.9% 5%

 
% of end-to-end contact 
decisions made within 48 hours

Off target for more than 12 months, significantly worse 
than target

3 - in-month 
improvement   6.0% -17.0% 85.0% 77.0% 75.0% 71.0% 68.0% 78.5% 82.0% 86.0% 81.0% 84.0% 75.0% 72.0% 78.0% 95%

 % of children in care with an up-
to-date SDQ

Minor fluctuations between within tolerance and better 
than target throughout 2020, dropping to minor 
fluctuations between tolerance and worse than target in 
2021 with increasing frequency of off target performance, 
grip needed 

3 - fluctuating  2nd month -1.7% -6.1% 84.5% 84.4% 86.2% 84.4% 80.5% 80.2% 82.2% 82.9% 83.8% 79.9% 82.4% 80.6% 78.9% 85%

 % of timely of IHAs - in-month
Low performance compounded by fluctuations, need to 
stabilise to support an improving trend to narrow the 
significant gap to target

3 - fluctuating 
 

5.6% -18.8% 46.7% 72.2% 82.1% 65.2% 52.0% 84.6% 73.1% 52.6% 95.7% 63.4% 77.3% 70.6% 76.2% 95%

 

% of decisions for Red rated 
contacts made within 4 hours

Performance insecure with substantial peaks and troughs 
month to month, significantly off target. Highest demand 
levels in two years (up 200% on 12-month average) but 
performance maintained at same levels as last month

3 - fluctuating 
 

-2.8% -19.0% 93.5% 84.1% 84.4% 81.3% 80.6% 81.5% 95.7% 90.9% 85.0% 82.5% 98.2% 73.8% 71.0% 90%

 

% of Children in Need with a 
plan in place within 10 w.days of 
assessment completion or step 
down

Low performance compounded by fluctuations, need to 
stabilise to support a fundamental shift towards target 3 - fluctuating   2.9% -28.0%     60.6% 52.0% 54.5% 69.6% 51.5% 65.9% 72.5% 64.1% 67.0% 95%

 % of children in care with and 
up-to-date dental check

The improving trend seen since March slowed last month 
and has reduced slightly in September, grip is needed to 
improve performance

3 - plateaued   -0.6% -8.5% 63.5% 59.1% 50.9% 47.7% 45.3% 45.0% 42.9% 53.9% 62.7% 69.6% 75.0% 77.1% 76.5% 85%

 

% of children subject to CPP 
aged 8 and over completing a 
My Views form for their 
conference

Static, low and off target for more than 12 months 3 - static  Mid-60's performance 
for 6th month -2.2% -14.9%  60.1% 62.9% 57.1% 50.8% 54.5% 70.7% 65.3% 65.3% 65.3% 64.1% 67.3% 65.1% 80%

Low
% of children in care with fewer 
than 3 Social Workers in 12 
months

Low performance for more than 12 months 3 - static   1.6%  63.1% 60.2% 58.6% 59.8% 59.1% 59.2% 60.4% 61.5% 61.7% 59.8% 57.6% 56.7% 58.3%  

 
% of pre-proceedings 
completed for more than 26 
weeks (CYtD)

Broadly static within +/- 1-2 % points, performance 
significantly off target 3 - static   2.0% -24.0%     50.0% 62.0% 47.0% 56.0% 57.0% 58.0% 55.0% 54.0% 56.0% 80%

 
% of court proceedings 
completed for more than 26 
weeks (CYtD)

Broadly static within +/- 1-2 % points, performance 
significantly off target 3 -static  2nd month 1.0% -26.0%     29.0% 30.0% 33.0% 32.0% 34.0% 31.0% 31.0% 33.0% 34.0% 60%

 
% of children in care who have 
had a missing episode(s) in the 
last 12 months

Broadly static, not impacting in this area 3 - static   -0.7% 3.4% 15.2% 15.4% 14.5% 15.0% 14.6% 14.5% 14.3% 15.0% 15.3% 15.5% 15.0% 15.1% 14.4% 11%

 
% of care leavers in education, 
employment or training - (19-21 
years)

Minor fluctuations linked to the academic year, off target 
low performance for more than 12 months 3 - low 

 
4.5% -20.1% 48.4% 51.8% 51.5% 51.7% 51.7% 50.2% 51.7% 50.2% 48.8% 48.1% 52.9% 50.4% 54.9% 75%

 
% of care leavers in education, 
employment or training

Minor fluctuations linked to the academic year, off target 
low performance for more than 12 months 3 - low   2.5% -21.8% 46.3% 48.7% 50.6% 50.0% 47.7% 48.1% 51.0% 48.6% 49.6% 45.9% 51.0% 50.6% 53.2% 75%

 
% of Children in Need with an 
up-to-date review (snapshot, 
overall)

Initial reviews impacting performance 3 - declining 
Overall declining trend 
since March 1.7% -11.3%     83.0% 82.7% 84.1% 83.4% 81.9% 81.8% 77.9% 77.0% 78.7% 90%

P
age 58



19

Low % of pre-proceedings ongoing 
for more than 26 weeks Jump in performance in July eroded Aug/Sep 3 - declining  2nd month, down 10% 

points since June -3.6%         68.0% 71.0% 69.0% 81.0% 75.0% 71.4%  

 
% of children in care aged 16 
years and 3 months or over with 
an up-to-date Pathway plan

Performance in May was narrowly outside of tolerance of 
target but a declining trend now means this is 
significantly below target

3 - declining  4th month, down 15% 
points since June -6.5% -22.3% 82.0% 83.3% 82.8% 82.0% 80.6% 78.8% 82.0% 81.6% 83.1% 83.0% 79.6% 74.2% 67.7% 90%

 
% of Initial visits that were within 
timescale (All)

Performance better than target for majority of 2020 but 
has been significantly worse than target for majority of 
2021 and following a declining trend 

3 - declining 
Down 20% points 
since Feb -1.6% -20.2% 87.8% 87.0% 84.7% 75.0% 80.6% 85.3% 81.7% 83.9% 76.5% 78.4% 78.1% 66.4% 64.8% 85%

RAG Measure Performance Overview - by performance level Performance 
Group D.o.T. Trend

Change 
Since 
Last 

Month

Distance 
from 

Target Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

A
pr

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

A
ug

-2
1

Se
p-

21

Ta
rg

et

 
% of Initial visits that were within 
5 w.days of referral (S17)

Performance better than target for majority of 2020 but 
has been significantly worse than target for majority of 
2021 and following a declining trend 

3 - declining 
4th month, overall 
down 24% points 
since Feb

-3.5% -21.6% 87.0% 88.0% 84.0% 75.0% 81.0% 87.0% 83.0% 83.2% 77.8% 77.8% 77.6% 66.9% 63.4% 85%

 
% of Children in Need whose 
Initial CiN Review completed in-
month was timely

Declining performance, significantly off target throughout 
2021 3 - declining  Down 18% points 

since May -5.8% -30.2%     72.1% 71.1% 69.1% 71.1% 77.9% 68.1% 63.2% 65.6% 59.8% 90%

 

% of ICPCs that took place 
within 15 w.days of start fo S47 
enquiry

6 month better than target performance has seen 
significant drops in Aug/Sep. Needs grip to avoid a return 
to low, off target trend seen in the second half of 2019/20

3 - declining  2nd month, down 30% 
points since July -16.0% -21.9% 83.5% 79.5% 92.2% 93.8% 65.2% 83.6% 88.0% 90.6% 92.3% 84.6% 88.2% 74.2% 58.1% 80%

Low % of court proceedings ongoing 
for more than 26 weeks Fluctuating low performance 3 - declining  2nd month, down 12% 

points since June -10.0%         67.0% 59.0% 59.0% 70.0% 68.0% 58.0%  

 

% of return interviews which 
took place with 72 hours of the 
missing episode

Performance for the previous month drops once 
refreshed indicating drift in completing return interviews. 
This decline has worsened in Aug-Sep to below 50% 
timleiness compared to 69% in Jun and 74% at the same 
time last year

3 - declining   10.0% -22.5% 74.0% 71.0% 77.0% 74.0% 70.0% 67.0% 69.0% 55.0% 61.0% 69.0% 49.0% 47.5% 57.5% 80%

 
% of children with a missing 
episode(s) who have had at 
least 1 return interview 

Majority within tolerance and better than target 
performance Nov-Jun, significant declining trend Jul-Sep 3 - declining  4th month -20.8% -31.4% 75.8% 66.7% 80.0% 85.5% 80.6% 80.0% 84.6% 76.1% 80.3% 79.2% 74.6% 71.4% 50.6% 82%

 % of timely of RHAs - in-month 
Low performance compounded by fluctuations, need to 
stabilise to support an improving trend to narrow the 
significant gap to target

3 - declining 
2nd month, down 16% 
points since July and 
34% points since Sep-
20

-4.8% -64.6% 63.9% 55.1% 53.8% 54.1% 48.6% 45.6% 50.0% 16.2% 33.3% 36.7% 46.2% 35.2% 30.4% 95%

V. 
Low

% of children aged 5-11 years 
seen by their IRO in the last 6 
months

Improving trend Feb-Jul but gains beginning to be eroded 
in the last two months. Performance remains very low, 
impact needed to fundamentally shift performance levels

3 - declining  2nd month -1.5%       20.5% 22.4% 23.7% 21.2% 27.2% 30.1% 28.4% 26.9%  

P
age 59



20

Page 60



Children and Families Overview Scrutiny Committee

Performance Report Quarter 2 2021/22 

45% (10)

36% (8)

52% (11)

38% (8)

38% (8)

23% (5)

18% (4)

10% (2)

19% (4)

19% (4)

32% (7)

45% (10)

38% (8)

43% (9)

43% (9)

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Q2 2020/21

Q3 2020/21

Q4 2020/21

Q1 2021/22

Q2 2021/22

On or Ahead of Target Within Tolerance (0 - 5% Worse than Target)

≥ 5% Worse than Target

Children and Young People (including Education)   
Percentage of  Corporate Performance  Indicators On/Ahead, 

Within Tolerance or Behind Target  

1. A good proportion of Audits judge Social Care practice to be Requires Improvement (RI) or better 
(90%). Performance improved slightly in Quarter 2 but performance against target has changed from 
better than to within tolerance of target due to a stretch target being implemented this quarter. The 
target rose from 88% to 91% to support the continuous drive for improvement in quality of practice. 
Two-fifths of children’s cases audited were judged of a Good or Outstanding standard (38%). This is 
a decline compared with last quarter (44%) with more cases audited judged as Requires 
Improvement in Quarter 2, 52% up from 45%. 

Our Accelerated Improvement Plan, Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework 
continue to provide the key drivers for improvement activity. Our Team Improvement Plan and 
Essentials 2.0 and 3.0 programmes enable practitioners to hone their skills in support of improving 
outcomes for children and families. Recent operating conditions have been challenging due to 
increased demand and churn in our work force. Senior leaders have taken action to address these 
including putting into place an Innovate Team to progress permanence and a case file screening 
programme to address any recording or practice deficiencies.  The risk relating to Ineffective social 
care practice, management oversight and review processes resulting in drift and delay for children 
and young people in situations of harm remains rated as Moderate (8) as work to continue to 
strengthen practice continues. 

2. Contact demand remained high in September. In the 3 previous financial years, the number of 
contacts received quarterly, on average, was between 6,500-7,500. Since March when children 
returned to school following the third lockdown, contacts have been exceptionally high, with the 
quarterly average in 2021/22 rising to more than 8,700. Around 40% of incoming demand continues 
to close following initial contact, with half of these contacts receiving advice, guidance and support at 
the point of contact. The high level of incoming demand may be impacting initial decision making 
performance, with timeliness of decisions reducing from 88.2% to 81.2%. Performance was also 
significantly lower than at the same time last year (92.4%) and worse than target (90%). 

3. Our initial response to risk also needs to improve in relation to the timeliness of initial visits. 
Performance has followed a declining trend since March 2020 when 87.7% of initial visits were timely 
compared with 69.5% in Quarter 2. Timeliness of visits to those children progressing under Section 
47, where potential harm is evident, is also under-performing at 76% (against a target of 85%). 
Timeliness of single assessments improved in Quarter 2 and is performing within tolerance of target.

Page 61



4. The proportion of repeat referrals remained similar to last quarter (24.4%). Performance remains 
slightly worse than target (22.5%). In-month, re-referrals saw a spike in July 2021 as the schools 
closed for Summer (30.5%). However, in August and September, re-referrals were better than target 
and our peer group comparator average at 21.9% and 21.4%. Performance has been better than 
target for 4 of the last 5 months indicating that the work localities are doing to review the reasons for 
re-referrals each month is gaining traction and beginning to impact the level of re-referrals received. 

5. The proportion of children starting second and subsequent plans within the quarter has been 
following a broadly reducing trend, from 32.8% at the same time last year to 27.4%. However, in-
month there are significant peaks and troughs in performance which raise questions about assurance 
in the security of overall improvement. Repeat protection planning remains worse than our peer 
comparators (23.3% Mar-20) and the South West (22.3% Jun-21). One-third of children subject to 
protection planning have had a previous protection plan (35%) and 9.5% of children are subject to a 
3rd, 4th or 5th plan. Practice needs to improve in order to make a sustained difference for children. 

6. The proportion of repeat admissions within 12 months remained low (3.4%) and better than target 
and national levels (11.4%). 

7. The number of children in care remained high throughout Quarter 2, with 834 children in care at the 
end of September. This compares to an average of 778 children in 2020/21 and 727 in 2019/20. This 
continues to place strain on the availability of suitable placements for children and our ability to place 
children within County (73%). Overall, 64% of children in our care are looked after by in-house Foster 
Carers. This has reduced for the second quarter, from 70% in March 2021.  Performance is now 
worse than target (70%). 

Note: that there have been some minor adjustments to the way in which placement stability is 
calculated based on the way the DfE categorises placement disruption. However, demand pressures 
mean that long and short-term placement stability remain a challenge. Short-term stability continues 
to perform worse than target and has worsened marginally over the last two quarters from 15.8% to 
16.2% of children in care living in more than 3 placements in 12 months. While the change in 
calculation methodology means that long-term placement stability was better than target in Quarter 2, 
performance had declined for the second quarter from 69.3% to 66%. 

The difficulties in the provider market, due to Covid-19 and other factors, continue and this is making 
it very challenging to place some children and young people. Our Sufficiency Strategy continues to 
provide the focal point for our work to ensure we have the right placements for our children and young 
people. Trevone House is now operational and providing care for some of our most complex young 
people. Plans are well advanced to extend this model to other sites. Proposals for a parent and child 
assessment provision are also well advanced. The risk relating to failure to develop sufficient 
placement capacity to meet the needs of looked after children remains rated as moderate (12).

8. Turnover within Children’s Services is marginally higher than within the Council as a whole (12.2% 
compared with 11.7%). However, turnover of Children’s Social Workers increased for the fourth 
quarter, up from 11.2% to 22.1% (relates to newly qualified Social Workers, Social Workers and 
Senior Social Workers but excludes Agency workers). Our Workforce Development Strategy 
continues to draw upon a wide range of sources in growing our own practitioners - including Frontline, 
increased ASYEs, Students, Step Up, Apprenticeships and Overseas Social Workers. We keep our 
employment offer under review and have recently revised our Agency rate to ensure it remains 
competitive. The Social Work Academy provides a rich curriculum to support professional 
development. An extensive range of employee support is also in place for practitioners. 

More recently we have experienced greater churn in our workforce and an increase in vacancies due 
to difficulties in recruitment, particularly in our Safeguarding and Assessment teams. The situation is 
further compounded by increased demand leading to higher caseloads. At the end of September, the 
number of children open to Social Care was at the highest level recorded (4,335 children). This is 5% 
higher than the 2019/20 average. This has resulted in continued pressure on achieving  caseload 
levels in line with our target of 18 children or fewer (68% of Social Workers). This is at the lowest level 
since March 2019. Senior leaders are working with HR colleagues to respond and ensure 
improvement activity is not affected.

Page 62



The risk relating to insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely impacting on pace and 
sustainability of improvement and contributing to discontinuity in social engagement with children and 
families increased from Moderate (8) to Moderate (12) while strategies to stabilise and upskill the 
workforce are ongoing.

9. Fewer young people (16-17 years old) in Gloucestershire are not in education, employment or 
training than nationally (1.3% compared with 4.5%); this is an improvement from 2.3% in Quarter 1. 
Outcomes remain poorer for our Care Leavers with 45.1% of those aged 19-21 years not in 
employment, education or training at the end of Quarter 2. While this is an improvement compared 
with last quarter (51.9%), historic trends indicate that it is a challenge for us to maintain performance 
as the academic year progresses. Performance also remains significantly below our Care Leavers 
aspirations.  

10. Just under one-fifth of our children in care, for whom we are the corporate parent, were classified as 
persistently absent (an attendance rate of 90% or less) in Quarter 2 (18.4%). This is higher than at 
the same time last year (14.8%), however, 6.3% of school aged children in care were classified as 
persistently absent due to illness in the first month of the academic year. 

11. As a result of Covid-19 pre-existing inequalities have been exacerbated and vulnerable learners 
continue to be disproportionately affected. This is a trend that is being seen nationally and as a result 
the rate per 1,000 children with an Education Health and Care plan (EHCP) has continued to increase 
(up for the fifth quarter from 23.2 to 26.6). There has been unprecedented demand over the summer 
and in September for EHCP Assessments which has impacted the service’s ability to meet statutory 
timescales. As the service works through these assessments, there is expected to be a continued 
growth in the number of children who are issued with EHCPs. This will have a significant impact on 
the high needs budget. 

12. 13 children were permanently excluded during Quarter 2 2021/22 compared with 8 children in Quarter 
2 2020/21. An increase in permanent exclusions was a potential outcome from both the return to 
school after a second period of full lockdown and the removal of “bubble” restrictions for September 
2021. The start of the new academic year has required students and staff to readjust and return to 
‘normal’, alongside mental health and behavioural impacts from 18 months of disruption and the 
ongoing impacts of Covid-19 cases in schools. The increase in demand for EHCP assessments 
resulting in delay against statutory timescales may also mean there are children not yet receiving the 
full support they require to engage with school and access the curriculum. Work is underway to 
understand the themes around exclusions in particular settings as there remains an ongoing variation 
in permanent exclusion numbers in different school settings and localities.

13. Since September, Ofsted have returned to inspecting schools under the new more rigorous 
framework which may mean that schools find it more challenging to hold onto to previously Good or 
Outstanding judgements. Changes introduced in September 2021 removed the exemption from 
inspection of schools judged Outstanding. Schools holding a long-standing, Outstanding judgement 
which haven’t been inspected for a significant period will now become subject to the inspection 
schedule. This may impact on the proportion of pupils in Gloucestershire attending Good and, 
particularly, Outstanding schools. There has been quite a high frequency of inspections in 
Gloucestershire since resumption in September. Final reports have not yet been published for the 
majority of those schools in Gloucestershire that were inspected in late September and October. The 
proportion of pupils attending Good or Outstanding settings therefore remains the same this quarter 
but may reduce during 2021/22 as the inspection programme progresses. 

14. The impact of Covid-19 has exacerbated pre-existing inequalities. Whilst national benchmarking data 
collection was disrupted in 2020 and 2021 making it difficult to assess the impact on education for 
different pupil groups and how we compare to other areas, the gap for vulnerable young people does 
appear to be widening and that vulnerable learners have been disproportionately affected. 

Page 63



The further development of the currently named Education Reference Group and closer working 
established with all settings throughout the pandemic and recovery period will be key in developing 
understanding of impacted groups and the scale of impact. This will inform planning in order to 
address those gaps, in partnership with the transformational project work already underway which is 
focused on High Needs provision. The risk relating to failure to close the gaps in educational 
outcomes for vulnerable learners and their peers resulting in adverse impacts for children and 
families, increased cost/pressures on specialist provision and damage to reputation remains 
Moderate (12). 

Page 64



Quarter 2 2021/22

Purpose of the report
To provide a strategic overview of the Council's performance for Quarter 2 2021/22.

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page number
Key to Symbols 2
Children & Young People 3
Education & Skills 5
Strategic Risk Register Summary 6

Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee

1

P
age 65



Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with the Likelihood of each risk)

Risk Symbols
Risk Value Increasing
Risk Value Decreasing
No Change

Measure Symbols
Performance Better than Target
Performance Worse than Target
Performance significantly worse than Target
No information
Missing Target
No Value

Bigger is Better A bigger value for this measure is good
Smaller is Better A smaller value for this measure is good
Plan is best Where it is better for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Key to Symbols

2

P
age 66



Children and Young People

Cllr Stephen Davies

Quality Assurance

% of audits judged as Requires Improvement (RI) or better Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 86.0% 87.0% 91.0% 89.0% 90.0% 91.0%

Performance improved slightly in Quarter 2 but
performance against target has changed from better
than to within tolerance of target due to a stretch
target being implemented this quarter. The target
rose from 88% to 91% to support the continuous
drive for improvement in quality of practice. However,
a higher proportion of cases audited were rated as
Requires Improvement in Q2 (52% up from 45%),
with a reduction in cases audited judged as Good or
Outstanding from 44% to 40%.

n/a

% of Children open to Social Care with fewer than 3 Social
Workers in 6 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 79.3% 77.9% 82.3% 83.8% 84.4% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Actual Sep21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Contact Activity

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within 12
months

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 29.6% 29.2% 29.0% 23.9% 24.4% 22.5%

Inmonth, rereferrals saw a spike in July 2021 as the
schools closed for Summer (30.5%). However, in
August and September, rereferrals were better than
target at 21.9% and 21.4%. Performance has been
better than target for 4 of the last 5 months indicating
that the work localities are doing to review the
reasons for rereferrals each month is gaining
traction and beginning to impact the level of re
referrals received.

22.5%

% of Initial Decisions made within 24 hours for all contacts Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 92.4% 66.7% 79.9% 88.2% 81.2% 90.0%
Performance remained similar and worse than target
inmonth throughout the quarter.

n/a

% Initial visits in time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 85.7% 82.3% 82.5% 79.2% 69.5% 85.0%
Performance has followed a declining trend since Mar
20 when 87.7% of initial visits were timely compared
to 69.5% in Quarter 2.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Need of Help & Protection

% of Children in Need who have been on a plan for 12 months
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 6.0% 6.0% 7.0% 5.0% 4.0% 10.0% n/a

% of Single Assessments completed within 45 working days Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 84.5% 83.0% 84.1% 80.9% 83.2% 87.0% 84.3%
% of Children becoming the subject of a Child Protection Plan
for a second or subsequent time

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 32.8% 26.6% 28.8% 28.4% 27.4% 25.0% 23.3%

% of Children subject to Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 2.1% 3.1% 2.2% 3.2% 3.1% 2.0% 2.8%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

% of Children who are fostered who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Bigger is Better Snapshot 69.0% 66.0% 70.0% 68.0% 64.0% 70.0% n/a

% of Children in Care for more than 2.5 years in the same
placement for at least 2 years

Bigger is Better Snapshot 65.6% 64.3% 69.3% 67.0% 66.0% 65.0% 68.0%

% Children in Care (CIC) reviewed in timescales Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.7% 99.1% 98.0% n/a
% of Children in Care with at least 3 placements in the last 12
months

Smaller is Better Snapshot 15.7% 17.9% 15.8% 15.9% 16.2% 13.0% 11.0%

% Children in Care persistently absent Smaller is Better Snapshot 14.8% 18.1% 20.0% 22.0% 18.4% 5.0% 10.1%
% of children who have been admitted to care within 12
months of previously being in care

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 9.8% 8.7% 3.9% 6.6% 3.4% 11.4% 11.4%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children Leaving Care

3

P
age 67

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Children and Young People

Cllr Stephen Davies

Quality Assurance

% of audits judged as Requires Improvement (RI) or better Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 86.0% 87.0% 91.0% 89.0% 90.0% 91.0%

Performance improved slightly in Quarter 2 but
performance against target has changed from better
than to within tolerance of target due to a stretch
target being implemented this quarter. The target
rose from 88% to 91% to support the continuous
drive for improvement in quality of practice. However,
a higher proportion of cases audited were rated as
Requires Improvement in Q2 (52% up from 45%),
with a reduction in cases audited judged as Good or
Outstanding from 44% to 40%.

n/a

% of Children open to Social Care with fewer than 3 Social
Workers in 6 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 79.3% 77.9% 82.3% 83.8% 84.4% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Actual Sep21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Contact Activity

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within 12
months

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 29.6% 29.2% 29.0% 23.9% 24.4% 22.5%

Inmonth, rereferrals saw a spike in July 2021 as the
schools closed for Summer (30.5%). However, in
August and September, rereferrals were better than
target at 21.9% and 21.4%. Performance has been
better than target for 4 of the last 5 months indicating
that the work localities are doing to review the
reasons for rereferrals each month is gaining
traction and beginning to impact the level of re
referrals received.

22.5%

% of Initial Decisions made within 24 hours for all contacts Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 92.4% 66.7% 79.9% 88.2% 81.2% 90.0%
Performance remained similar and worse than target
inmonth throughout the quarter.

n/a

% Initial visits in time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 85.7% 82.3% 82.5% 79.2% 69.5% 85.0%
Performance has followed a declining trend since Mar
20 when 87.7% of initial visits were timely compared
to 69.5% in Quarter 2.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Need of Help & Protection

% of Children in Need who have been on a plan for 12 months
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 6.0% 6.0% 7.0% 5.0% 4.0% 10.0% n/a

% of Single Assessments completed within 45 working days Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 84.5% 83.0% 84.1% 80.9% 83.2% 87.0% 84.3%
% of Children becoming the subject of a Child Protection Plan
for a second or subsequent time

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 32.8% 26.6% 28.8% 28.4% 27.4% 25.0% 23.3%

% of Children subject to Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 2.1% 3.1% 2.2% 3.2% 3.1% 2.0% 2.8%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

% of Children who are fostered who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Bigger is Better Snapshot 69.0% 66.0% 70.0% 68.0% 64.0% 70.0% n/a

% of Children in Care for more than 2.5 years in the same
placement for at least 2 years

Bigger is Better Snapshot 65.6% 64.3% 69.3% 67.0% 66.0% 65.0% 68.0%

% Children in Care (CIC) reviewed in timescales Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.7% 99.1% 98.0% n/a
% of Children in Care with at least 3 placements in the last 12
months

Smaller is Better Snapshot 15.7% 17.9% 15.8% 15.9% 16.2% 13.0% 11.0%

% Children in Care persistently absent Smaller is Better Snapshot 14.8% 18.1% 20.0% 22.0% 18.4% 5.0% 10.1%
% of children who have been admitted to care within 12
months of previously being in care

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 9.8% 8.7% 3.9% 6.6% 3.4% 11.4% 11.4%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children Leaving Care

4

Children in Care

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were in suitable accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 94.1% 93.1% 93.8% 92.4% 94.4% 95.0% 80.7%

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were not in employment, education or training

Smaller is Better Snapshot 51.6% 48.3% 48.3% 51.9% 45.1% 25.0% 38.6%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Youth Support

% of Young People (academic age 1617) not in education,
employment or training (NEET)

Smaller is Better Snapshot 2.4% 2.6% 2.5% 2.3% 1.3% 4.5%
NEET percentage from MI Program at end of
September (snapshot). This is significantly better than
target.

4.5%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

P
age 68

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Education and Skills

Cllr Philip Robinson

Schools

Number of pupils permanently excluded (all pupils) Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 8 26 6 16 13 13 n/a
% of pupils attending good or outstanding Secondary Schools Bigger is Better Snapshot 81.0% 81.0% 81.0% 81.0% 81.0% 81.0% n/a
% of pupils attending good or outstanding Primary Schools Bigger is Better Snapshot 86.0% 86.0% 86.0% 86.0% 86.0% 86.0% n/a
% of good or outstanding Early Years Settings Bigger is Better Snapshot 91.0% 91.0% 91.0% 91.7% 91.7% 91.0% n/a

Rate per 1,000 of children with an Education Health and Care
Plan

Plan is Best Latest Quarter 23.8 24.6 25.2 26.0 26.6 28.0

The SEN/NonSEN gap  achieving expected standard or
higher at KS2 in Reading, Writing & Maths Smaller is Better Academic Year 49.0% 57.0% 60.0%

Due to the COVID 19 Pandemic no Key Stage 2 data
has been published for the 2019/20 academic year,
this dataset was cancelled.

% points gap between disadvantaged pupils and their peers at
Key Stage 2 (achieving expected standard or above in
Reading, Writing and Maths)

Smaller is Better Academic Year 22.0% 27.0% 28.0% 28.0%
Due to the COVID 19 Pandemic no Key Stage 2 data
has been published for the 2019/20 academic year,
this dataset was cancelled.

% points gap between disadvantaged pupils and their peers at
Key Stage 4 (achieving A*  C in English and Maths)

Smaller is Better Academic Year 33.0% 17.3% 17.4%

Although no data is available, the gap between the
achievement of vulnerable children (those with SEND,
disadvantaged pupils eligible for free school meals,
minority ethnic groups and children known to social
care) and their peers is a significant concern and is
expected to widen. Provision for the children and
young people most at risk has been supported in a
number of ways by schools and the Local Authority.

% of pupils achieving grades 95 in English and Maths Bigger is Better Academic Year 47.3% 47.8% 55.0%

As GCSE results were not awarded based on a final
examination, performance is not comparable with
previous years and should be treated with caution.
However, Gloucestershire's performance is better
compared to statistical neighbours, the South West
and the national position.

49.9%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

Target
Sep21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Actual Sep21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis
Academic
Year Ending
2016

Academic
Year Ending
2017

Academic
Year Ending
2018

Academic
Year Ending
2019

Academic Year Ending
2020

Comments
Comparator
Group

5

P
age 69

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col12')


Strategic Risk

Strategic Risk Register

SR7.2
Ineffective social care practice, management oversight and
review processes resulting in drift and delay for children and
young people in situations of harm.

Spencer,
Chris

High 25 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate
8

Our Accelerated Improvement Plan, QA and Performance Management
Framework continue to provide the key drivers for improvement activity.  Our
Team Improvement Plan and Essentials 2.0 and 3.0 programmes enable
practitioners to hone their skills in support of improving outcomes for children
and families.  Recent operating conditions have been challenging due to
increased demand and churn in our work force.  Senior leaders have taken
action to address these including an Innovate Team to progress permanence and
a case file screening programme to address and recording or practice
deficiencies.

SR7.4

Failure to close the gaps in educational outcomes for
vulnerable learners and their peers resulting in adverse
impacts for children and families, increased cost/pressures on
specialist provision and damage to reputation.

Harrison,
Kirsten

High 20 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

The impact of Covid has exacerbated preexisting inequalities. Whilst national
benchmarking assessments have been disrupted  2020, 2021  making
comparative data problematical, it is clear the gap for vulnerable young people is
widening and vulnerable learners have been disproportionately affected. The
further development of the Education Reference Group and closer working
established with all settings across the Covid period will be key in understanding
and planning to address those gaps in partnership with the transformational
project works in train focused on High Needs provision.

SR7.5

Insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely
impacting on pace and sustainability of improvement and
contributing to discontinuity in social engagement with children
and families

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate
12

Our Workforce Development Strategy continues to draw upon a wide range of
sources in growing our own practitioners  including Frontline, increased ASYE,
Students, Step Up, Apprenticeships and Overseas Social Workers.  We keep our
employment offer under review and have recently revised our Agency rate to
ensure it remains competitive.  The Social Work Academy provides a rich
curriculum to support professional development. An extensive range of employee
support is also in place for practitioners.  More recently we have experienced
greater churn in our workforce and an increase in vacancies due to difficulties in
recruitment, particularly in our safeguarding and assessment teams.  The
situation is further compounded by increased demand leading to higher
caseloads.  Senior leaders are working with HR colleagues to respond and ensure
improvement activity is not affected.

SR7.7 Failure to develop sufficient placement capacity to meet the
needs of children looked after

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

Our Sufficiency Strategy continues to provide the focal point for our work to
ensure we have the right placements for our children and young people.  Trevone
House is now operational and providing for some of our most complex young
people with plans well advanced to extend the model to other sites.  Proposals
for a parent and child assessment provision are also well advanced.  The
difficulties in the provider market, due to Covid and other factors, continue and
this is making it very challenging to place some children and young people.  Our
numbers of children in care are increasing as is the proportion placed out of
county.  Placement stability, both short and longterm, has improved but more is
needed to meet our ambitions.  Utilisation of inhouse foster capacity has also
improved.

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Sep20 Dec20 Mar21 Jun21
Actual
Sep21

DoT Sep
21

Comments

6

P
age 70

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')


1

REPORT: Children’s Services Quality 
Assurance – distribution copy

MONTH: September 
2021

AUTHORS: Rob England (Head of Quality, Children’s Services)
Sam Haines (Quality Assurance & Advanced Practice Manager)

SPONSOR: Andy Dempsey (Director of Partnerships and Strategy) 
 

Quality Assurance: Performance Snapshot

RAG Measure Perf Direction of Travel

Number of audits completed to accepted 
standard and uploaded 46 Above baseline of 45, but below Aug ‘21 

(49) and previous levels (50+).
Audit completion rate 
(target 90%) 77% Reduction on 80% from August '21 and 

below 90% target.

Percentage rated Good and Outstanding
(short-term target 50%) 37% Remains at same level as August ’21 and 

below new short-term target (50%).

Percentage rated RI 50% Below target relative to proportions of 
Good & Inadequate. 

Percentage rated Inadequate
(short-term target 9%) 13% Increase on 8% in August ’21 and below 

new short-term target (9%).
% of audit actions from previous month within 
timescale
(target of 80%)

43% Improved from 35% in August ’21 and 
33% in July ’21, but still below target.

Quality of assessment 
(percentage of assessments evaluated as ‘Good’ 
or better)

37% Remains at same level as August ’21 and 
below new short-term target (50%).

SMART planning 
(percentage of plans evaluated as ‘Good’ or 
better)

37% Reduction on 49% in August ‘21 and 
below new short-term target (50%)  

Management oversight
(percentage of ‘Good’ or better oversight & 
supervision)

37%
Slight increase on 35% in Aug ‘21, but 
reduced from 53% in Jun ’21 and below 
new short-term Target (50%) 

Child/young person involvement (aged 4 yrs +)
(target of 80%) 31% Reduced from 38% in August ‘21 and well 

below 80% target.

Family involvement 
(target of 80%) 61%

Further reduction on 63% and 74% in Aug 
and July ‘21 respectively and below target 
(80%).

Social Worker involvement 
(target of 95%) 100% Improvement on 92% in July ’21 and 

above target (95%)
Team Manager involvement 
(target of 95%) 98% Improvement on 92% in July ’21 and 

above target (95%)

Independent Safeguarding Reviewing Manager 
(IRO/CPC) (target of 95%) 100%

Improvement on 85% in Aug ’21, 
returning to levels in May-Jul ’21; above 
target (95%)

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



2

1.0     Overview

Under the ILACS framework, the Local Authority’s self-assessment is required to answer 
the following 3 questions:

1) What do you know about the quality and impact of social work practice in your local 
authority? 

2) How do you know it?
3) What are your plans for the next 12 months to maintain or improve practice? 

The QA report is formatted against these questions under the paraphrased headings of: 1) 
‘How are we doing?’; 2) ‘How do we know this?’.  The third question around 
improvement work is addressed within the comprehensive reporting of the Accelerated 
Improvement Plan (AIP).  Nevertheless, some mention of improvement activity is made in 
this report as it relates to the areas identified.

In 2017 GCC Children’s Social Care were judged to be Inadequate by Ofsted.  Whilst some 
positive features were remarked upon, a number of significant concerns were raised about 
the quality of practice, and leadership of the service.  Amongst these concerns the regulator 
remarked that:

“Quality assurance processes are underdeveloped; and are not sufficiently well targeted or 
purposeful in identifying key weaknesses in practice.  Audit activity has been limited, and 
findings from audits have not been collated effectively or used sufficiently well to drive 
improvement in children’s services.”  Ofsted recommended that GCC “Implement a system 
so that findings from reviews, audits, staff surveys, complaints and serious case reviews, 
and feedback from children, parents and carers, are collected, analysed, systematically 
actioned and regularly evaluated”.

Since this inspection outcome, GCC has invested considerably in Quality Assurance to 
build a system that offers reliable and representative findings that support continuous 
learning and improvement.  With the ongoing assistance of ex-SHMI Steve Hart we have 
incrementally developed auditors and moderators whose work can be relied upon within 
monthly reporting.  

In relation to this Ofsted commented that:

The local authority has continued to develop its quality assurance framework. It is 
comprehensive and focused on improving outcomes for children. There is a well 
established cycle of casework audits and the local authority has both reduced the number 
of staff undertaking audits and provided appropriate training. As a result, the majority of 
audits seen on this visit were of good quality and accurately evaluated children’s 
experiences. 

(Ofsted Monitoring Visit, February 2018) 

And:

“The local authority has established a cycle of auditing activity to consider specific areas of 
practice as well as individual casework audits that are increasingly being used to identify 
practice deficits and target improvements. The quality of audits seen on this inspection 
were good and accurately evaluated children’s experiences”

(Ofsted Monitoring Visit, October 2018)

This consistent spine of monthly core auditing has been built upon within an expanded QA 
framework that regularly includes targeted and thematic reviews of identified areas.  This 
has included independent external reviews of, for example: Fostering, the Reviewing 
Service, the MASH, the quality of decision-making in the CP pathway, and Reunification.  
Regular internal reviews are also undertaken looking at, for example: Permanence, Re-

Page 72



3

referrals, Health Assessments and Health Passports for Children in Care and Care 
Leavers, and participation in CiC reviews.  

Since the 2017 inspection we have also developed QA capability and reporting 
arrangements in Youth Support, Early Help and Fostering which contribute to our monthly 
QA reports.  A monthly service-wide dip sampling regime is also in place to track the 
embedding of the Practice Fundamentals and to support quality improvement at team level.    

These diverse points of QA offer a richer picture of the quality of practice in the department, 
which is increasingly supplemented with the learning from Rapid Reviews, Local Child 
Safeguarding Practice Reviews and Multi-agency audits as picked up between the 
Improvement Board and Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (e.g. 
Referrals to the Front Door).  In May 2020, we revised our Quality Assurance and 
Performance Framework to reflect this wider range of assurance activity.

This has led to further affirmation by Ofsted of the QA approach through successive 
monitoring visits, most recently noted as:
 
“A well-developed quality assurance framework means that senior leaders also have 
access to accurate, reliable and up-to-date information about the quality of practice on a 
team-by-team, locality-by-locality basis. Allied to their openness to external challenge, 
including, for example, through the Partners in Practice programme, this means that senior 
leaders are better able to forensically target their improvement activity.

(Ofsted Focused Visit, November 2020)

Coinciding with the considerable contextual demands on the department in the first half of 
2021, numbers of core audits had somewhat reduced and were below both the minimum 
benchmark target of 45 audits per month, and the ambitious stretch target of two audits per 
team per month (86 audits per month).  This has been an area of leadership focus resulting 
in a rise in completion rates, with 52 audits submitted in August and 49 of these completed 
to an acceptable standard.  In September this reduced slightly to 49 submitted, with 46 to 
an acceptable standard.  Following from the September audit exemption requests we can 
see that this reduction relates directly to ongoing demands in the system.  Having 
completed 46 audits to an acceptable standard we are above the baseline target (45) but 
some distance from our aspiration for 86 audits per month.   

Added to the core auditing, the frequency of dip sampling, thematic and service reviews has 
remained constant which enables senior leaders to have sufficient understanding of the 
strengths and areas for improvement for the service.  

Within the 2017 Ofsted inspection inspectors also observed:

“A lack of a robust system to ensure that actions from case audits are consistently 
completed results in continuing drift and delay for children.“  

A central system is in place that follows up each month with team managers on the actions 
and recommendations from audit.  We have also adapted our audit tool to differentiate 
between care planning actions and case recording ‘housekeeping’ actions so that changes 
with immediate relevance to the child/young person’s outcomes can be best facilitated 
through their care plans.  

The impact from QA in GCC is unmistakable at a strategic level where the monthly report is 
deemed a top priority by the Executive and Senior Leadership Team.  The monthly report is 
also scrutinised at the Improvement Board, Children and Families Scrutiny Committee, and 
the Strategic Performance Group.  The QA, Performance reporting and the Accelerated 
Improvement Plan are well-aligned and together offer a coherent overview of how we are 
doing, how we know this, and what we are doing to improve.  QA findings have further been 
instrumental in the development of the Essentials 2.0, Essentials 3.0 and Practice 
Fundamentals interventions which continue to impact on practice improvements.  Many 

Page 73



4

Team Managers and Advanced Practitioners report that they are using audit and dip 
sample findings to support learning and quality improvements.  

The above progress is heartening but needs to be held up against our department’s 
foremost reason for auditing: that the child at the heart of each audit receives a better 
service following from the audit.   As is identified in this report, whilst performance in this 
respect is improving it remains variable and below target.  This has given inspectors cause 
to comment at successive monitoring visits.  

Priority emphasis is being given to delivering consistent improvement for each child or 
young person subject to an audit.  Locality QA surgeries (akin to, or aligned with, 
performance surgeries) has been approved and will be implemented from November.  A 
two-month review deadline has been set for this initiative to be considered by the 
leadership team.  

As the current phase of QA is consolidated, the QA framework is being refreshed in the 
autumn of 2021 to include: observations of practice and supervision; better use of 
compliments and complaints; and more explicit incorporation of the available multi-agency 
QA that captures children and young people’s journeys through services.  This review offers 
an opportunity to incorporate more innovation and systemic thinking into QA in line with the 
service’s adoption of a systemic model of practice.  

2.0 Executive summary 

As a general rule, improvement in recovering authorities is rarely linear and usually involves 
some ebb and flow, in an overall positive trajectory.  That is, improvement can be seen in 
certain areas and less so in others, and on occasion there may be lapses in previous 
improvements.  Considerable diligence, persistence and energy are therefore needed to 
gain, hold and recover the ground of better practice.

Monthly reporting therefore needs to be situated in the context of some anticipated 
variability.  Quarterly trends are more reliably informative than monthly findings with an 
emphasis on progressive momentum over time.  In Gloucestershire, the leadership are 
aiming for excellence for children, young people, families and communities; firstly, by 
minimising instances of inadequate practice, and secondly by increasing the rate of practice 
rated as good or better.  The potential for weak practice will remain even in the best 
organisations, and the challenge for leadership is to respond to this with urgency, grip and 
continuous learning and improvement.  

While Gloucestershire is ambitious to deliver the very best services, the senior leadership 
are taking a pragmatic approach.  Having sustainably achieved the previous short-term AIP 
targets for practice rated good and inadequate, these have been revised to 50% of practice 
rated as Good, and 9% of practice rated as Inadequate.   

That the previous targets were consistently secured in what has inarguably been a very 
challenging period in the department’s recent history is remarkable.  Indications in recent 
months though are showing that the system is straining to sustain the expected levels of 
practice, performance, and also QA activity.  This is likely as a result of the ongoing impact 
of Covid on operations, the considerable recent influx of work (including concentrated 
need/risk), rising staff turnover, and cumulative fatigue.  

2.1 Quality of Practice

The quality of practice in the department has progressed considerably over the last 24 
months.  Previously, practice rated as good or better regularly accounted for less than 20% 
of the quarterly sample.  In Q1 2020/21, the rate of practice deemed good or better had 
increased to 33%, to 44% in Q1 2021/22, and 38% in Q2 2021/22.  

Page 74



5

Over the same period, practice rated as inadequate has reduced from nearly 40% (Q1 
19/20) to 19% (Q1 20/21), to 11% in Q1 21/22 and 10% in Q2 2021/22.  Moreover, the 
previous AIP target of 12% or less of practice being rated as inadequate has been 
sustained for the last nine months.  It is therefore hoped that the rise of inadequate to 13% 
in September is an outlier, but it does need to be considered in the context of the current 
organisational pressures.   

This month, the practice rated as good or outstanding remained at 37% for a second month 
which is below our new AIP target of 50% and just short of our previous target of 40%.  
Practice rated as inadequate at 13% is above both our revised target (9%) and our previous 
target (12%).

We continue to track the proportion of audited work at the lower end of RI closely due to 
learning from previous Ofsted visits and the need to test the reliability of our findings.  
Monitoring this proportion has proved particularly insightful in relation to trend analysis and 
targeted improvement activity such as the Team Improvement Project.  Whilst improvement 
overall is evident, in the last 3 months the proportion of work at the lower end of RI has 
increased slightly; when considered alongside the reductions in work rated as inadequate 
the proportion of weaker practice remains broadly static.   

Compared with the service profile of 18 months ago, there is a notable reduction in the 
spread and frequency of inadequate practice across teams.  This is now much less frequent 
and concentrated in particular teams.  The reduction in those teams with a higher likelihood 
of inadequate practice through the Team Improvement Project (TIP) has enabled a shift in 
focus towards those where weaker practice is more evident.  This coaching-oriented project 
is supporting not only practice improvements and contributing to the professional 
development of team leaders and team members.    

Findings from September and recent months indicate the following practice themes:

a) The quality of assessments is broadly improving with these becoming more timely, 
analytical, detailed and confident.  The regular use of the Essentials 2.0 prompts and 
Practice Fundamentals are contributing to this improving practice.  In recent months, 
there are signs that the pressure from rising demand is impacting on the quality of 
practice in Assessment teams, requiring close monitoring.   

Assessments would be improved with more regular triangulation of evidence and less 
reliance on parental self-reporting.  Input from partners, and more especially, from the 
child would enhance the quality of assessments.  

b) The links between assessment and planning need to be improved alongside the 
consistency and effectiveness of plans, which need to be reliably C-SMART.  Some 
assessments and plans remain too process (rather than outcome) focused.  

c) Planning and direct work, whilst improving, are yet to consistently meet the benchmarks 
set out in the Practice Fundamentals.  This includes consistent application of: planned 
interventions; updating and adapting interventions and plans; using this to inform the 
analysis of impact; and better use of safety plans.  

Where visiting is undertaken through virtual means the rationale and impact needs to be 
more consistently recorded and reflected upon within supervision.  

Practice needs to better account for the capacity to achieve sustained change, including 
a fuller consideration of the history of the child and family.  To use Systemic Practice 
terminology: first-order change is prominent in and through the service, and this needs 
to develop to ‘second-order’ intrinsic change to deliver more enduring positive 
outcomes.

Page 75



6

It is recommended that Advanced Practitioners across the service focus on quality 
improvement work in teams that attends to these points of planning and direct work.  

d) Drift and delay for children and young people remain observable, particularly as a result 
of changes of social worker. This is likely to be compounded by the reduction in children 
experiencing regular updates of their plan and analytical review of progression/harm 
reduction

e) There is notable strategic emphasis on exploitation and children missing from home and 
care.  Practice with vulnerable and at-risk young people can still improve, particularly in 
relation to engagement and risk (including multi-agency risk arrangements).  The 
emphasis of this practice needs to attend to the important areas of missing and 
exploitation, but not to the exclusion of other contextual features.  Adolescent mental ill 
health, antisocial and offending behaviours, substance misuse, self-harm, harmful 
sexual behaviours, intimate partner violence, and other relevant risks to young people 
need progression.  

The GSCP task and finish group working on Extra-Familial Harm offers a good driver 
alongside the internal service project being led by the interim Director of Safeguarding 
and Care.  

f) Work is needed to better apply diversity, equality, inclusion and anti-oppressive 
perspectives to practice.  The introduction of the Social GRACES is promising but the 
impact of this has yet to be evidenced.  

g) Strategy discussions would benefit from better application of the Essentials 2.0 risk 
prompts, and children subject to s47 Enquiries should consistently have accompanying 
safety plans.  Similarly, Initial Child Protection Conferences would benefit from 
consistent and explicit application of the risk prompts including reference to protective 
factors in the life of the child and family.  

h) Improvements  in management oversight and the footprint and challenge of IROs and 
CP chairs are evident.  More is needed for this to meet the expectations established in 
the Practice Fundamentals and consistently deliver impact.  Nevertheless, these 
improvements portray the benefit of the support to frontline managers through the offers 
of coaching, the leadership & management programme, targeted team improvement, 
and work with the IRO/CP teams on escalation.  

i) The offer of Permanence (not only for Children in Care) has improved considerably over 
the last 6-10 months.  Nevertheless, there are notable areas for improvement in this 
regard, including: placement stability and matching; worker stability; practice knowledge 
about permanence; life story work; use of residential care; family finding; permanence 
practice with older children; timely and planned admissions to care (including attention 
to children in proceedings); consistent challenge from the reviewing service; 
reunification practice; and attending to service structures.    

j) Good relational practice is at the heart of all examples of good practice; yet in the words 
of our Ambassadors, this is showing “inconsistent improvement”.  The forthcoming 
emphasis on systemic and relational practice will be a timely boost in this regard.  

The experiences and progress of children in need of help and protection 

For children subject to assessment, there is a mixed picture of practice.  Practice rated as 
good or better has reduced again (from 50% to 41%), which is below our new AIP target 
(50%), but remains above the previous AIP target of 40%.  Practice rated as inadequate 
has reduced slightly (from 15% to 14%) which remains above our new target (9%), and the 
previous target (12%).  Practice at the lower end of the RI judgment, however, has reduced.

For children in need of help, practice rated as good or better has reduced for the 2nd 
consecutive month (from 41% to 38%) which is below our new target (50%), and the 

Page 76



7

previous target (40%).  Practice rated inadequate has remained stable (at 5%) which is well 
below both the revised and previous AIP targets.  Practice at the lower end of the RI 
judgment has increased for the 2nd consecutive month. 

For children in need of protection, practice improvements have not been sustained. Practice 
rated as good or better for children in need of protection has reduced (from 44% to 35%), 
which below our revised target (50%) and also below our previous target (40%).  Practice 
rated inadequate has increased for the 2nd consecutive month (from 13% to 15%) and so is 
outside both the revised and old AIP targets (9% and 12% respectively).  The level of 
practice at the lower end of the RI judgment has also increased for the 2nd consecutive 
month.  Given the inherent vulnerability for this group of children, this weaker practice 
requires focussed attention.

For children with disabilities, no practice has been identified as inadequate in the last 5 
months.  Practice rated as good or better, however, has reduced for the 2nd consecutive 
month (33% to 23%), sitting well below both our revised target (50%), and our previous 
target (40%).  The level of practice at the lower end of the RI judgement has increased. 

The experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers 

After a recently improving trajectory, September, offers a mixed picture for our Children in 
Care. Practice rated good or better has increased from 53% to 58%, sitting well above our 
new short-term target (50%).  Practice rated inadequate, however, has also increased (from 
11% to 15%). This exceeds both our new short-term target (9%) and our previous target 
(12%).  There has been a reduction in the levels of practice at the lower end of the RI 
judgment, some of which could be attributable to the increase in practice rated inadequate.

For our Care Leavers, practice rated as good or better has reduced for a 5th consecutive 
month (from 18% to 9%), which is well below our new AIP target (50%), and the previous 
target.   Practice rated as inadequate has also reduced for the 3rd consecutive month, with 
no inadequate practice being identified through audit, in the last 3 months.  Six months ago, 
the rate of inadequate practice for care leavers was 33% and was a significant outlier; that 
this rate is now meeting the renewed target for inadequate is an encouraging feature.  
However, six months ago the rate of good practice with care leavers was at 44% and the 
drop to 9% is of concern as is the continued increase in work rated at the lower end of RI.  
Senior management have localised most of the practice and performance concerns for care 
leavers to specific teams where targeted improvement planning continues.  This appears to 
be addressing the rate of inadequate as needed but particular attention is needed to lift the 
standard for practice to be consistently good.  
  

2.2     The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and families 

Taken together, our performance and quality assurance practices provide senior leadership 
with an appreciation of the strengths and areas for development across the system.  The 
department has been challenged in the past by Ofsted to increase the pace of 
improvement; and improvement is certainly evident and has been sustained as needed for 
the last 6 months.  The stretch targets for reduced rates of inadequate and increased rates 
of good proposed earlier in this report are an appropriate next step even though they 
coincide with considerable operational demands.  

The department has faced a number of notable challenges in recent months, including the 
impact of COVID-19, ICT difficulties, and pressure to improve.  Whilst anticipated for some 
time through effective analytics, latent demand is now evidently impacting on the service.  
That the quality of practice sustainably met the previous AIP targets was a remarkable 
accomplishment.  Leadership has been evident at all levels through the department and this 
report continues to note that children’s social care should be commended for the distance 
travelled in these uniquely challenging times.  

Page 77



8

Leaders remain committed to providing good and outstanding services and are following a 
pragmatic step-by-step recovery plan.  Nevertheless, the impact on leaders and staff of 
sustaining this improvement through adversity has been marked.  Leadership attention and 
corporate support remains needed so that the staff and systems delivering this 
improvement can be sustained and energised as needed.    

The system remains fragile and this needs to remain foregrounded in the oversight of 
improvement.  Since the AIP targets have been refreshed with new stretch targets the 
service has had difficulty meeting these consistently.  Reports from the field, performance 
reporting, and availability for QA activity all indicate the difficulties in sustaining the energy 
and capacity needed for improvement.   

Work rated as good continues to be clustered in a fairly consistent group of teams.  These 
managers and their teams are to be commended for this as they demonstrate how this can 
be achieved in the current system.    

In September 2020, there were 16 teams in which inadequate practice was regular.  This 
has reduced to 2 teams in the last 3 months.  Under the Team Improvement Plan (within 
the AIP) 14 teams were previously identified for targeted support on the basis of quality and 
performance concerns.  The above findings indicate the success of this intervention.  This 
progress is now allowing us to look within the TIP (and more broadly) beyond the 
concentration of inadequate practice to where practice deemed at the lower end of RI 
appears more likely.   
   
As part of the AIP, work is also underway to address permanence, and re-referrals along 
with service improvement plans for DCYPS, Fostering, and IRO/CP Chairs.  There are 
indications that these improvement plans are contributing to progress though more is 
needed to see them through to completion.  

In order to support and secure the necessary improvements, it is imperative that social 
workers and team managers consistently apply the Practice Fundamentals to their quality 
control activity in order secure the expected standards of work at the earliest opportunity.  
The application of the Practice Fundamentals is dip sampled across teams to enable team 
managers to shape practice improvement within their teams.    

Corporate commitment to the department remains high with the department being 
prioritised in attending to organisation-wide challenges like ICT, and the incremental return 
to offices.  Considerable financial and political investment has also been made in the 
service with continued commitment by corporate colleagues to respond to issues of 
capacity and resourcing so as to provide social workers every chance of delivering an 
effective service.  

2.3      QA Methodology
  

There is a well-established system of case file audits and dip samples that supports a 
reasonable self-evaluation for the department.  Completed (moderated) audits continue to 
be largely accurate in evaluating children’s experiences and the quality of practice.  This 
had been previously diminished through the limited inclusion of children and families in 
audit.  Through assertive leadership, the inclusion of children and families had been 
improving, though more remains needed as can be seen in the dip in this performance in 
recent months.  

Throughout this month’s QA metrics, capacity pressures are noticeable.  These may be 
especially marked this month due to the effect of annual leave on the availability of auditors 
to undertake audits; and auditors being able to engage with children, families, managers 
and IRO/CP chairs.  However, the indicators within QA have been showing this strain for 
some months and as noted above now clearly correlate with the wider capacity demands in 
the system.      

Page 78



9

Audits would be further improved by some auditors focussing on their conceptualisation of 
available evidence and better articulating impact for children and young people.  The areas 
of impact and analysis have been highlighted in the improvement planning and responded 
to with the creation of supportive guidance and tools for staff.  The pairing of auditors and 
moderators has been favourably received and offers further support in this regard.  Also, 
action is being taken with Heads of Service to identify staff in need of further support in this 
regard.  

As highlighted in this and previous reports, the objectivity of audit can potentially be 
compromised by the practice of auditors auditing their own work.  The potential for bias with 
this approach is usually corrected through external moderation which has been broadly 
successful. The current approach was adopted to improve ownership and highlight the 
opportunity to address issues found through audit at the stage when work is first completed 
and approved as part of our quality control arrangements.  In line with a refresh of the QA 
framework in the autumn of this year we will return to auditors reviewing work outside their 
immediate area of responsibility.   
 
While a baseline of 45 audits per month would offer sufficient representation (c. 12% - 16% 
per annum) we have a more ambitious target of 2 audits per team per year (86 audits per 
month).  With 51 audits submitted this month, the number of completed audits has 
remained in range.  However, as we enlarged the pool of auditors, audit completion rates 
have dipped under the 90% target (77% in  September).  Overall, this is still short of the 
aspiration of 86 audits which we will continue to reach for through firm exemption oversight 
and the development of more auditors and moderators.  

The current volume of audits makes available good evidence to support self-evaluation 
however it should be improved for the following reasons:

a) Management ownership and investment in understanding and improving the quality of 
practice in their teams, and for each practitioner, should result in high completion levels.

b) It would offer more resilient and detailed representations of the quality of practice by 
practitioner, team and service area.   

As noted above, the department’s foremost reason for auditing is that the child at the heart 
of each audit receives a better service as a result; yet this remains variable.  A proposal to 
attend to this is currently with Heads of Service for finalisation before being submitted to 
directors.  

3.0      How are we doing?

3.1 Children’s Social Care core audit activity 

The audit methodology reviews the overall quality of practice, implicit to which is an 
analysis of the impact of that practice for the child/young person. Better ratings should 
therefore be directly correlated to better outcomes for children.  

Patterns of audit ratings are reflected below over the last three months (Figure 1 and Table 
1) and by quarter over the last 15 months (Table 2 and Graph 2). 

Page 79



10

Figure 1

022

42
35 35

50
55

50

8 8
13

Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Outstanding % Good % RI % Inadequate %

Audit Ratings Last 3 months (%)

Table 1

Figure 2

1 3 1 3 1

35
31

44
41

37

51 53

46 45
52

14 13
9 11 10

Q2 20/21 Q3 20/21 Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22 Q2 21/22
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Outstanding % Good % RI % Inadequate %

Audit Ratings by Quarter (%)

Audit ratings by month
Actual Numbers July-21 Aug-21 Sep-21

Outstanding 0 1 1

Good 22 17 16

Requires Improvement 26 27 23

Inadequate 4 4 6

Total 52 49 46

By percentage
Outstanding 0 2 2

Good 42 35 35

Requires Improvement 50 55 50

Inadequate 8 8 13

Page 80



11

As can be seen in Figures 1 and 2 above, in September practice rated good or better has 
remained stable at 37%.  The previous levels of practice rated good or better being 
consistently over 40% has not been sustained for the 2nd consecutive month.  This means 
that the new ambitious target of 50% practice rated good or better has not been met and 
the previous target of 40% has also not been met.  This practice trajectory is also reflected 
in the quarterly profile, as shown in Figure 2.  A marked increase in practice rated as good 
or better was seen in Q4 20/21 (45%), but this has gradually reduced in subsequent 
quarters to 38% in the current quarter.   

The proportion of inadequate practice has increased in September (from 8% to 13%), which 
is above both our new target (8%) and our previous target (12%).  The quarterly profile, 
however, highlighted in Figure 2, reflects relative stability in levels of inadequate practice 
around 10% in the last 3 quarters.  After reducing the proportion of inadequate practice 
from previously very high levels, the rate of reduction has slowed in the last four quarters.  

The QA team reviews audits to attend to practice at the lower end of the RI rating and this 
provides an important indicator of trajectory and a focus for targeted improvement activity.  
In September, the proportion of this lower RI practice has reduced slightly, but when 
combined with the increase in inadequate practice, the overall level of weaker practice has 
remained relatively stable. This weaker practice continues to require focussed attention 
given it is below the levels of expected practice for children and young people and will 
impact on them accordingly. 

3.2     Audit Ratings by legal status

Patterns of audit ratings by child’s legal status are reflected below in Figure 3 and Table 2. 
Due to variances in monthly figures, these are presented as 3-month averages to support 
representability.  

Figure 3 

0 0 0 6 0 0

41 38 35

52

9

23

45
57

50

27

91

77

14

5

15 15

0 0

Assessment CIN CP CiC Care Leaver CWD
0

20

40

60

80

100

Outst Good RI Inad

Ratings by Legal Status: Last 3 months (%)

Page 81



12

Ratings by 
Status

July 2021 Aug 2021 Sept 2021 Totals

Numbers O G RI In O G RI In O G RI In O G RI In
Assessment 0 3 1 0 0 2 5 2 0 4 4 1 0 9 10 3
CIN 0 8 7 1 0 4 10 0 0 4 7 1 0 16 24 2
CP 0 2 8 1 0 5 3 1 0 2 2 2 0 9 13 4
CIC 0 6 4 2 1 6 3 1 1 5 2 2 2 17 9 5
Care Leaver

0 1 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 10 0
CWD 0 2 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 1 4 0 0 3 10 0

The profile in Figure 3 reflects that for children subject to assessment, there is a mixed 
picture of practice.  Practice rated as good or better has further reduced (from 50% to 41%), 
which is below our new AIP target (50%), but remains above the previous AIP target of 
40%.  Practice rated as inadequate has reduced slightly (from 15% to 14%), but this 
remains above our new target (9%), and above the previous target (12%).  Practice at the 
lower end of the RI judgment, however, has reduced.

For children in need of help, practice rated as good or better has reduced for the 2nd 
consecutive month (from 41% to 38%) which is well below our new target (50%), and also 
below the previous target (40%).  Practice rated as inadequate has remained stable (at 5%) 
which is well below both the revised and previous AIP targets.  Practice at the lower end of 
the RI judgment has increased for the 2nd consecutive month. 

For children in need of protection, practice improvements have not been sustained.  
Practice rated as good or better has reduced (from 44% to 35%), which is well below our 
revised target (50%) and also below our previous target (40%).  Practice rated inadequate 
has increased for the 2nd consecutive month (from 13% to 15%) and so continues to be 
outside both the revised and old AIP targets (9% and 12% respectively).  The level of 
practice at the lower end of the RI judgment has also increased for the 2nd consecutive 
month.  Given the inherent vulnerability for this group of children, this weaker practice 
requires focussed attention

For children with disabilities, no practice has been identified as inadequate in the last 5 
months.  Practice rated good or better, however, has reduced for the 2nd consecutive month 
(33% to 23%), sitting well below both our revised target (50%), and our previous target 
(40%).  The level of practice at the lower end of the RI judgement has increased. 

In September, a mixed picture has been seen for our Children in Care.  Practice rated good 
or better has increased from 53% to 58%, sitting well above our new short-term target 
(50%).  Practice rated inadequate, however, has also increased (from 11% to 15%).  This 
exceeds both our new short-term target (9%) and our previous target (12%).  There has 
been a reduction in the levels of practice at the lower end of the RI judgment, some of 
which could be attributable to the increase in practice rated inadequate.

For our Care Leavers, practice rated as good or better has reduced for a 5th consecutive 
month (from 18% to 9%), which is well below our new AIP target (50%), and the previous 
target.  Practice rated as inadequate has also reduced for the 3rd consecutive month, with 
no inadequate practice being identified through audit in the last 3 months.  Six months ago 
the rate of inadequate practice for care leavers was 33% and was a significant outlier; that 
this rate is now meeting the renewed target for inadequate is an encouraging feature.  
However, six months ago the rate of good practice with care leavers was at 44% and the 

Page 82



13

drop to 9% is of concern as is the continued increase in work rated at the lower end of RI.  
Senior management have localised most of the practice and performance concerns for care 
leavers to specific teams where targeted improvement planning is ongoing.  This appears to 
be addressing the rate of inadequate as needed but particular attention is needed to lift the 
standard for practice to be consistently good.

3.3     Audit Ratings by team

Twenty teams have had three or more audits rating practice as good or better in the last six 
months.  This sees two teams being added to this list, suggesting rising good practice in 
these teams.  One team is no longer on this list which would be good to discussing this at a 
locality level to understand any barriers to this good practice being sustained.

Over the last six months, the number of teams on this list has remained fairly stable, with 11 
of these teams remaining on this list throughout this period.  These 11 teams have 
therefore sustained good quality practice and form the core of those teams where good 
practice is consistently delivered.  All of these teams should continue to be commended for 
their progress; and learning about the success factors within these teams should be shared 
more widely.

Two teams have been identified as having had three or more audits rating practice as 
inadequate in the last six months.  Over the last six months, the list of teams where 
inadequate practice has been more frequently identified through audit has consistently 
featured two or fewer teams.  This is reflective of the reduced levels of inadequate practice 
across Children’s Services.  As a service, this is a notable improvement on the 16 teams 
identified on this list 12 months ago; none of which remain on this list now. This indicates 
that the collective targeted improvement work in these teams has been impacting positively.

Following work by the QA team to review audits identifying weaker practice, 26 teams were 
identified where 40% (or more) of all audits in the last 6 months returning a rating of 
inadequate or low RI.  This list is now a principal source of insight for the refreshed Team 
Improvement Plan.  

3.4   Audit Ratings by Area of Practice

As per Figures 6 and 7 in this section:

a) Levels of practice rated good or better have reduced across all areas, with the greatest 
reduction being seen in Relational Intervention & Review (from 49% to 34%). 

b) Our new short-target (50%) has not been met in any area of practice, although 49% of 
Permanence Planning was identified as good or better, which is just outside of this 
target.

c) Levels of inadequate practice have increased across all areas, with the greatest 
increases being seen in Risk Assessment & Response (5% to 11%) and Planning (7% 
to 13%). Relational Intervention and Review is the only area of practice where our new 
short-term target (8%) has been met, increasing from 5% to 7%.

d) The increase in inadequate practice in Planning is congruent with the findings of 
September Practice Fundamentals dip samples, which reflected 27% of files not yet 
evidencing Practice Fundamentals of Planning and Review. 

Page 83



14

Figure 6

2 2 0 2 0 2

43 35 37 37 49 35

43 54 50 54 42
52

11 9 13 7 9 11

Risk Assessment & 
Response

Assessment Planning Relational 
Intervention & 

Review

Permanence Oversight
0

0

0

1

1

1

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

September Ratings by Area of Practice

Figure 7

2 2 2 5 3 1

50 42 42 44 50
40

42
49 49 46 43

52

5 7 7 5 5 7

Risk Assessment & 
Response

Assessment Planning Relational 
Intervention & 

Review

Permanence Oversight
0

20

40

60

80

100

Outst Good RI Inadequate

Ratings by Area of Practice previous 3 months (%)

3.5 Findings from children, young people and families’ feedback in audit

In the September audits, 31% of children and young people (aged 4+) were spoken to and 
61% of parents or carers.  73% of children and young people rated the service positively 
and 27% gave a mixed response of some positive and some areas of improvement.  30% 
of parents/carers rated the service positively and 70% gave a mixed response of positive 
and some areas of improvement.

Within this feedback, positives included:

a) Having a social worker who takes the time to listen to children, finds out what is 
important for them and uses this in the plans being made.

b) Supporting families to access services from partner agencies, including additional 
school support, access to CAMHS and support with Housing applications.

Page 84



15

c) A child who felt safer because their social worker had helped her feel comfortable to 
talk about her worries and then worked with her mum and dad so that things changed 
at home.

Areas for improvement included:

a) Not having a stable, consistent social worker families can build a relationship with. A 
number of young people and parents noted a high number of changes in social worker 
recently and this had been difficult for them.
 

b) Young people, in our care, approaching 18 years old (or having recently turned 18) and 
not being clear about where they would be living or what support they would have.  
This feedback was also provided by a number of carers for young people in our care.
 

c) The social worker not involving a family in developing their plan, meaning that the plan 
had things they felt were not true and other actions which were not helpful. The plan 
was also not shared with them until the social worker had left GCC and so they didn’t 
know what was being said about them.

3.6     GCC Vulnerable children and young people’s Ambassadors audit review

GCC Ambassadors are key contributors to the QA framework through their monthly 
independent review of a sample of audits.  The particular emphasis is on practice that is 
participative and relational.  Whilst Ambassadors are GCC employees, sampled work is still 
carefully selected to avoid conflicts of interest and to ensure information is protected as 
needed.  

Ambassadors look for evidence of the voice of the child and their relationship with the social 
worker.  They look for clear evidence that the worker knows the child/young person and 
presents a picture of who that child is: including their needs, views, wishes and feelings.  
They are also reviewing whether work has been recorded in a way that the child / young 
person can understand if they decided to access their records in the future.

Of the 10 audits reviewed this month, the key findings from Ambassador review were:

a) There were 4 (40%) case summaries with a good focus on, and representation of, the 
child with accessible language.  This measure varies considerably month-on-month and 
the i.e. 90% (April), 70% (May), 40% (June), 60% (July), and 80% (August).

b) Five (50%) of the practice examples drew through the views of the child and 
demonstrated direct work to varying degrees.  This is in keeping with recent levels of 
this practice.  There appear to be missed opportunities to propose the use of Mind of 
My Own with children and young people.    

c) Three (30%) offered information about the child, their likes, dislikes, interests and 
achievements.  This has not sustained a recently improving trajectory; i.e. 30% (May), 
40% (June), and 60% (July), and 70% (August).  

d) Six (60%) used appropriate language and the decision-making could be followed.  This 
does not maintain the improving trend in recent months; i.e. 50% (April), 70% (May), 
60% (June), and 80% (July and August).  Seven (70%) indicated an appropriate 
working relationship which is line with previous months.

e) Seven (70%) of the work audited incorporated Language that Cares which is line with 
previous months.

Some of the comments from the Ambassadors about practice strengths included:

Page 85



16

- “Case summary is clear, detailed and updated. Included the family but is focussed on 
the young person. Says ‘My name is…’ and describes the young person. ”

- “There is a photo of the child. I really got a sense of who the child was because it spoke 
about her likes and dislikes in a very child focussed way. I loved how it spoke about her 
aspirations when they grow up and spoke positively “kind to everyone” It was very clear 
why services were involved and did not lose focus on the whole family.”

- “The child’s views are within their Education Plan and PEP. It is clear the views of the 
child in the meeting. The worker has done direct work to get these views.”

- “Language is clear and simple, reasons behind decisions have been explained clearly 
and simply.”

- “I did not see any jargon, it was simple language and very clear why decisions had been 
made.”

- “Yes, child friendly language, positive describing child, lovely and simple to read.”

These strengths show the good practice potential within the service.  As indicated by the 
Ambassadors’ review, more is needed to increase the frequency of this good work so that it 
is regular.  

Following from work undertaken between the Ambassadors and the QA team, 
Ambassadors are now working on ways to share the learning from audit with the respective 
workers following their review of the audit.  This includes a conversation with the worker to 
discuss 3 strengths of practice, 3 areas for improvement, and offer support to improve the 
use of the Mind of My Own app if needed.

3.7      Children of Concern

Child of Concern Notifications are generated for any child or young person audited as 
receiving an inadequate service.  This involves a review of the concerns for the identified 
child or young person, created by the QA Team, with a response provided by the 
Operational Team regarding:

a) What we are doing to ensure the child / young person is safe?

b) Assurance that our service offer is appropriate to their needs; 

c) Outlining the next steps to providing a good service to this child/young person. 

In September, 6 Child of Concern Notifications were generated.  At the time of writing this 
report, they were all subject to improvement activity under the leadership of the Director of 
Safeguarding. 

Including Children of Concern from previous months, there are currently 26 children or 
young people being tracked by the QA team until the areas of concern are resolved.  One 
of these is dated back to June 2020.  The number of Children of Concern has also been 
steadily growing (27 in August, 25 in July, 23 in Jun, 18 May) suggesting that the rate of 
resolving identified concerns for these children is slowing.  There is now additional 
oversight of these outstanding child of concern notifications, with all notifications having had 
a review by the assistant director of children’s safeguarding in the last month.  This 
increased oversight is aimed at resolving these concerns with greater expedience, and the 
pace of resolution has quickened this month as a result. 

These children continue to be reviewed each month by the interim Director of Safeguarding 
and Care and are not removed from the tracker until she is satisfied that the quality of 
practice is at a sufficient level.  The rigour and scrutiny afforded to practice rated as 
inadequate is welcome and in the interests of children and young people.  

Page 86



17

3.8   Practice Fundamentals dip sampling  

The Practice Fundamentals tool has been introduced across operational children’s social 
care teams since July 2020.  This tool is a key Quality Control and Quality Improvement 
initiative.  It builds on the findings through Quality Assurance and the work of the regulator 
that improvement is required in the fundamentals of practice.  These being: Supervision 
and Management; Visiting and Direct Work; Assessments; Planning and Review; and 
Case Recording.

The intention is that the Practice Fundamentals tool is used by practitioners and managers 
for the purposes of Quality Control, so the work they undertake and finalise meets the 
expected standards.  The department has committed to undertake monthly dip sampling 
work in each team for the purposes of further Quality Assuring the embedding and impact 
of this tool.  The above steps work in accordance with the Quality Improvement – Quality 
Control – Quality Assurance cycle that is at the heart of our quality framework.

From the most recent round of dip sampling 246 records related to Planning and Review, 4 
primary findings emerge.

a) A combination of low completion rates (54%) and higher than expected moderator 
effect (46%) may mean that the dip sample findings are not fully representative of 
Planning and Reviewing across the service. 

b) A greater proportion of children and young people are benefitting from quality actions 
and outcomes being identified in their assessments, with these being drawn into their 
subsequent planning. 
 

c) 23% of records reviewed reflected plans not being updated regularly or being reflective 
of the child/young person’s current situation.

d) Of those plans that were up to date 19% did not contain an updated analysis to 
understand the difference being made for the child/young person or whether risk of 
harm was reducing for them.  In more than half of plans, the analysis of plan 
progression required improvement.

Locality-relevant feedback from the QA team is provided to Heads of Service on a monthly 
basis to enable them to provide support to their practitioners (this includes 
recommendations to improve practice).  

Meetings have also been held between Heads of Service and the QA Team to consider 
how this practice can be established with more consistency.  In most localities Advanced 
Practitioners are meeting monthly with their Service Manager to consider how the learning 
from dip samples can be applied within their teams.  Other localities have identified specific 
teams or practitioners requiring targeted support.  This will include an opportunity to refresh 
their understanding of the Practice Fundamentals and Essentials 2.0 principles which 
continues to be delivered by the Social Work Academy. 

3.9    Fostering audit activity

The auditing of in-house foster carers’ files is a now well-established routine with monthly 
moderated audits undertaken by staff within the service.   

Of the 8 completed September audits, 1 (13%) was rated Good, 6 (75%) were rated as RI; 
and 1 (13%) was rated as Inadequate.  This sustains the improvement in quality in 
Fostering reported on in last month’s report. 

Page 87



18

The identified key learning points were:

a) Timely uploading of documents to records remains an ongoing feature for 
improvement; though some improvement was noted in the recording of supervision 
agreements and up-to-date case summaries.  

b) Previous audit reports have shown the high value and appreciation placed on foster 
carer training; however, in the last two months 37% of the audits indicated that carers’ 
attendance at training needed improvement.  

It has been noted that some foster carers are dissuaded by online sessions.  This is 
being considered within the training offer and face-to-face support groups are resuming 
this month.

c) 88% of foster carer respondents said that the support and supervision they receive 
from their allocated Supervising Social Worker is excellent.  The support group offer 
and support from fostering Champions remain valued by carers.  

d) Whilst 1 case was rated as inadequate no particular safeguarding concerns were 
highlighted.  This continues a trend of audits illustrating that safeguarding concerns are 
not regular.  

e) Concerns continue to be raised by foster carers about the numbers of Social Worker 
changes for children and young people, difficulty contacting children’s Social Workers, 
and infrequent visiting.   

3.10 Dip sample of Re-referrals

Following indications within the September performance information that indicated certain 
outlier effects, a dip sample of the 73 children who had three or more referrals in the last 
twelve months was undertaken.  A random selection of 10 (14%) was reviewed and where 
the child was part of a sibling group the group was considered as one child.  

The summary findings of this were:

a) All re-referrals made by partner agencies were appropriate.

b) Referral decisions were triaged in a consistent and timely manner by the MASH/SPA.

c) Six out of ten (60%) previous referrals were not progressed in accordance with the 
nature and level of the child’s presenting needs and risks as indicated by the detail of 
the referral circumstances.  The following themes and issues were identified:
- Insufficient consideration of the child and family history
- Professional over optimism.
- Impact of re-referrals on outcomes for children not sufficiently explored.  
- Decisions based on an adult focussed understanding of the issue. 
- Optimism about parent’s capacity to make and sustain change.
- Inappropriate assessment of risk threshold, for example escalation to Section 47.

d) Quality of supervision and management over sight was sometimes superficial, overly 
task focussed and only considered the immediate presenting need and/or risk without 
wider consideration of: previous referrals; lack of understanding about the cumulative 
impact of neglect; lack of understanding about exploitation and risk to children and 
young people outside the home as well as a lack of professional curiosity. 

e) Six out ten (60%) re-referrals highlighted professional optimism which raised concerns 
about the appropriateness of the intervention, capacity to change and an 
understanding about the ability to sustain changes over time.

Page 88



19

f) Analysis about the children’s lived experience was not sufficiently well-evidenced, in 
particular for children who had experienced continuing and long-term abuse and 
neglect. 

g) Risk assessment tools were not evidenced to inform the assessment and planning for 
the child.  This is especially concerning in respect of re-referrals relating to neglect. 

h) Previous interventions were not considered sufficiently well in relation to impact and 
outcome for the children.  For example, when stepped down from child protection 
planning there was a lack of robust analysis, especially in relation to the impact of 
domestic violence and neglect. 

i) There was insufficient evidence of robust step down planning and robust closure 
summaries including information sharing with children and families, relevant other 
agencies, for example schools that the children continued to attend. 

j) There was a lack of evidence of cultural competence and equality, diversity and 
inclusion in re-referrals. 

The above findings align closely with those from core auditing, dip sampling and case file 
reviewing team.  As such their relevance is reinforced, and they together offer some 
assurance of the integrity of our self-evaluation systems.  

3.12 Families First and Youth Support audit activity (Kat Aukett, director of Youth 
Support) 

Of the 3 audits completed in Early Help, 1 (33%) was rated as good, and 2 (67%) were 
rated as requires improvement.  

As in previous months, these audits highlighted that the use of hypothesising needs to be a 
regular feature in supervision to promote curiosity, and that the transition from working 
alongside the social worker to holding lead professional responsibility needs improving.  
The quality of direct work being undertaken is improving, largely informed by positive 
working relationships with children, young people and families.   

Practice development is a standing item in management meetings, and this learning is in 
turn cascaded through team meetings.

Of the 5 audits completed in Youth Support, one (20%) rated practice as Outstanding, 3 
(60%) rated practice as Good, and 1 (20%) rated practice as requires improvement.   

The joined-up approach of the different teams within the YST is clearly evidenced and the 
benefits of this demonstrated with excellent outcomes for young people.  Of particular note 
is the outstanding audit, which was a complex case open to the community and youth 
justice team. An excellent assessment, with high quality analysis, identifying priority areas, 
recognised the need for joint work from specialist practitioners. This was arranged and 
throughout the intervention robust communication maintained, which resulted in the young 
person receiving a timely and unified service. This is also evident in other audits this month.  
Also apparent is the benefit of full-involvement of the young person and their family in 
developing the assessment and plan.  

Work around identity is clear in the files, management oversight is strong in the majority of 
the audits undertaken but this area continues to be reinforced by senior leadership.   
Theory is regularly used to underpin the work undertaken.  There are many examples of 
this, where the learning from training and development undertaken is directly reflected in 
the recordings.

The one RI audit is in relation to a student placement and has provided good learning 
regarding the oversight and management of such placements.

Page 89



20

Youth Support continues to invest in improving its approach to QA, and applying the 
learning from this through team meetings, leadership meetings and practice forums.

4.0     How do we know this?

4.1 Children’s’ Social Care Audit methodology

There is a basic expectation that every Advanced Practitioner, Team Manager and Senior 
Manager undertakes an audit each month; one director electively audits.  ‘Standing 
exemptions’ to audit apply to those that are moderating the audits of their colleagues, those 
working 0.5fte or less (who audit alternate months), those on extended absences, and 
those in the MASH, who undertake MASH QA activity on alternate months.  All exemptions 
require sign-off from the respective Director.  

4.1.1 Audit Accuracy

As the most fundamental element of QA, the accuracy and validity of audit activity requires 
ongoing monitoring.  Within the GCC audit methodology, accuracy should be arrived at 
through discourse, debate, and collaboration which run throughout good social work.  The 
contributions of each participant (including the child/young person, family, and IRO/CP 
chair) are all valued and shaped into a completed audit.  In this, the moderator acts on 
behalf of the DCS as arbiter of the overall evaluation.  

As of February 2021, auditors have been matched with specific moderators with the aim of 
providing more consistent developmental feedback and greater opportunity for discussions 
considering different perspectives.  After 6 months together in pairs we have recently 
changed the pairings.  This is to allow for auditors and moderators to benefit from different 
perspectives in their approach to QA and avoid groupthink.  

With this in mind, Table 5 (below) indicates the ‘moderator effect’ on the ratings of audit.  In 
pursuit of congruence in our evaluation of practice we expect the moderators to have a 10-
15% effect on ratings.  Where auditors are working more subjectively in their own teams 
this effect is expected to be greater.

This is not necessarily an indication that auditors do not recognise good or inadequate 
practice.  Whilst this may be the case for some auditors, this is more likely to indicate a bias 
to editorialise, be overly-optimistic about practice that is ‘closer to home’, or demonstrate 
the dissonance between known versus recorded practice.  Nevertheless, this holds 
relevance for quality control in day-to-day practice.  For this reason, the Academy is 
tracking those auditors most likely to require support, and is working with Heads of Service 
to support development in this respect.  

In terms of the subjectivity that arises from auditing work within one’s own team, this is 
being redressed in the autumn with a refresh of the QA framework.  Until this point we will 
continue to rely on moderators militating against this factor.  

In September, there was an increase in the downgrading of audits (from 12% to 20%) and 
for practice rated as inadequate, 67% was identified through moderation. For audits overall, 
this reverses the improvement seen last month, where the moderator effect was in keeping 
with our target. With regard to inadequate practice, too many audits remain reliant upon 
moderation for this to be identified.

Page 90



21

Table 5

Percentage upgraded 
by moderators

Percentage downgraded 
by moderators

Percentage Inadequate 
directed by moderator

April 21 2 29 40
May 21 0 18 67
June 21 0 14 50
July 21 2 20 50

August 21 0 12 75
September 21 0 20 67

External review of our audits (including feedback from the inspectorate and experienced 
consultants) is that the contribution of our moderators and a strong moderator effect 
upholds the rigour and reliability of our audits.   

We are increasingly seeing greater degrees of dialogue and challenge around completed 
audits, where differences of views are being attended to through discussion between 
auditors, moderators and managers.  This is a sign of a healthy, mature system where we 
can reflect on differences in our perspectives of practice.  This discourse is valued but, 
against the significance of the moderator effect, we need to be cautious that this challenge 
is evidence-led and does not erode the effectiveness of our moderator contributions.  
Fundamentally though, the audit offers an opportunity to improve the quality of our service 
to the index child, so whatever discourse occurs it should result in this outcome.  

An addition element of QA governance is the contribution by external critical friend Steve 
Hart to reviewing the quality of auditing.  Steve’s review of 7 completed audits from 
September found the following themes that coincide with previous findings: 

a) Examples of strong auditing, such as:
- Four of the seven audits sampled (57%) “…benefited greatly from auditors and 

moderators working in ways that have added great insight and added value to the 
children’s circumstances. Different writing styles do not detract from their overall 
effectiveness and I would be very surprised if the social workers, PAs and team 
managers who receive them do not see them as a resource that will drive the 
standards of their work higher.”

- “This is an excellent audit where the auditor and moderator have combined to 
encapsulate the first-class work that has been carried out and from which [the child] 
has benefited.”

- “This audit has been conducted well and the auditor and moderator have combined 
well to identify and respond to the many issues with reasoned and acceptable 
argument. Although succinct the audit is comprehensive, and issues are drawn out 
and the auditor articulates well and clearly where there are dilemmas that need to 
be resolved.”

- “This is a complex audit, and it is without question that the auditor has been diligent 
in identifying the issues.”

- “This is a really good audit of a very complex and potentially highly vulnerable 
young woman and her unborn infant. Characterised by thoughtful appreciation of 
the work that has been carried out and supplemented by the usual high quality and 
insightful observations of the moderator, it feels like the audit outcome will make a 
real and positive contribution to the future work…”

  
b) Some auditors have difficulty identifying key issues to inform the evidence and 

experience of the child (impact).  This influences the reliability of the judgements they 
then present.  Some audits are not engaging as fully as needed with the contributions of 

Page 91



22

social workers and managers when these differ from the dominant narrative arising 
through audit.  

Moderators will work with auditors where the above issues are identified, and Steve’s 
feedback is shared with auditors and moderators for the benefit of learning.  The QA 
team will further work with the respective Heads of Service when enduring issues are 
identified.  Additionally, these points need to be addressed within the forthcoming 
refresh of the QA framework.

4.1.2 Representation

A sufficient, regular and widespread volume of audit activity is required to provide the 
Authority with a good understanding of its quality of practice to enable the necessary 
oversight.  Whilst a baseline for this is set at 45 audits per month, Gloucestershire has set 
itself an ambitious stretch target of 86 audits per month (i.e. 2 audits per team per month).  

Having said this, we are deliberately seeking a diverse range of proportionate quality 
assurance activities so that we are not solely reliant on the findings from core audits to 
inform our self-evaluation.  

Within the last 3 months, the baseline target of 45 audits has been exceeded and in the last 
6 months, nearly all practitioners have had their practice reviewed through audit.  This 
supports key review and developmental opportunities for them. By increasing the level of 
auditing, this would also increase the number of children who can benefit from targeted 
improvements following from audit.  Furthermore, 86 audits per month would offer 
considerable representability in support of our regular self-evaluation.  Figure 4 (above) 
highlights the representability of audit activity by team; where over 6 months, the target 
should result in 12 audits per team.   

In August, there was a pool of 104 staff, trained in the audit methodology.  76 of these 
function as auditors, and 26 as moderators. Two moderators are currently involved in 
supporting new moderators, rather than providing moderation.   Five moderators moderate 
either bi-monthly or at a reduced level each month, two moderators are currently exempt 
due to absence from work, and one moderator is currently involved in auditing.  On this 
basis, there is capacity to moderate 55 audits each month.  In September two moderators 
were given a single month exemption by the Director of Children’s Safeguarding.

As it takes more time to identify and develop moderators, the current auditor-moderator 
ratio means that there are more auditors than available moderator capacity.  To address 
this, we have been purchasing additional external moderator capacity and this will continue 
to be the case as the completion rate and auditor numbers grow.  This move also offers 
external objectivity, support and challenge which continue to be welcomed. 

Of the 76 auditors, there are 9 who are currently exempt from audit due to their absence 
from work or being involved in other improvement activity. This means that there are 67 
auditors available for monthly auditing.  Of the 67 available trained auditors, three did not 
audit in September, due to being bi-monthly auditors. 4 auditors chose to undertake an 
additional audit each, in September and 1 auditor was given an exemption by the Director 
of Children’s Safeguarding.  This meant that 67 children were allocated for audit from 
across all teams in Children’s Social Care. Exemptions from audit require authorisation 
from the respective director, and nil returns are expected to be followed up by Heads of 
Service.  

Following allocation of audit, a further 17 single month exemptions were given by the 
relevant Director and 1 audit was not submitted.  This resulted in 49 audits being 
completed.  Of these audits, 23 were submitted late (47%), which is an increase on the 
31% submitted late in August.  Late submissions cause considerable disruption in 
moderator availability, responding to children, and reporting activity.  Of the available 

Page 92



23

auditors in September, we had a completion rate of 77%, which is a reduction on the 81% 
in August and below the 90% target. 

There were 3 audits in September that did not meet the standard for uploading, resulting in 
46 completed audits.  This means that 72% of the assigned audits contributed towards a 
representative profile.  The 46 audits completed to expected standards is below the ultimate 
target of 86 audits per month, but above the baseline of 45 audits.

Table 6

 Oct. 
20

Nov. 
20

Dec. 
20

Jan. 
21

Feb. 
21

Mar. 
21

Apr. 
21

May. 
21

June. 
21

July. 
21

Aug. 
21

Sep. 
21 Ave

Audits 
completed 50 50 38 42 47 42 42 39 49 51 49 46 45

In the 12 months we have completed on average 45 audits per month.   As a proportion of 
the 4339 children open to Children’s Social Care in September 2021, this 12-month total 
(545) represents 13% of the service’s activity.  Were we following Hampshire CC’s (Ofsted 
rated as Outstanding) formula of 2 audits per team per month this would result in 86 audits 
per month which would offer representation of 24%.  

(See Appendix 1 for a list of those with Exemptions, Late Returns, Nil Returns, and audits 
not meeting expected standards.) 

Although an audit is allocated to every team, the single month exemptions, nil returns and 
audits not yet ready for submission means that 11 teams (24%) have not been audited in 
September.  In the last three months, there were 6 teams where two audits have been 
completed.  For reference to those teams with the fewest audits over 6 months please refer 
to Figure 4 above. Table 7 below reflects those teams that have less than three audits 
completed in the last 3 months.

Table 7

Team No of 
audits

Team No of 
audits

11-25 Gloucester South Team 2 2 Cotswolds Safeguarding Team 2 2
Gloucester Safeguarding Team 7 2 Stroud Safeguarding Team 1 2
TACS * 2 Under 11’s Team 1 2
* Auditing in TACS is different to other teams due to low numbers and turnover of families meaning auditing 
becomes repetitive and redundant if repeated too frequently.  

4.1.3 Participative Auditing

The audit methodology is intended to be delivered as a collaborative exercise with social 
workers.  Without this collaboration the accuracy of audits is diminished, as is the 
opportunity for learning and ownership of any subsequent recommendations. 

Of the 46 audits completed, all included the social worker and 45 (98%) included the 
manager.  For children who have an IRO or CP Chair, all of the audits included the views of 
their IRO or CP Chair, which sees an increase to the last two months.  Where these views 
are not obtained, this makes it more difficult for IRO’s and CP Chairs to support learning 
and improvement from audit and to reflect on the improvements needed in their own 
practice. Where CP Chairs and IRO’s are completing audits, they are now allocated 
children or young people who are allocated to them.  For these children, this will provide a 
greater opportunity for learning discussions to take place between the operational team and 
the reviewing service.

Page 93



24

31% of children and young people (aged 4+) were spoken to as part of the audit, which is a 
reduction on the 38% obtained in August.  61% of parents or carers were spoken to, which 
is a slight reduction on the 63% gathered in August.  Considered together, there remain a 
number of audits where the voice of children, young people and families have not 
contributed as needed.  Continued rigour is therefore required from both auditors and 
moderators to make best use of all possible contributions.  This can be strengthened by 
improved planning by auditors at the point of audit allocation.   

Where views were not obtained, analysis of this feedback highlights that:

a) 2 (5%) were a child with disabilities which meant they were not able to provide verbal 
feedback

b) 7 (17.5%) were deemed inappropriate to gather views by the auditor.  For a number of 
these there was not consultation about this with the social worker (as expected).

c) In 26 (65%) the child/young person or the parent/carer was unreachable, but in a 
number of examples it was not evident that persistent attempts had been made, as 
expected

d) In 5 (12.5%) the opportunity to gain feedback was declined by the parent or child

4.1.4 Impact from Audit

The primary purpose of our QA is to ensure that its findings drive effective and timely 
improvements for children and young people, and secondly to drive organisational self-
awareness, learning and change.  

Audit actions are separated into Care Planning and non-Care Planning actions, with the 
expectation that Care Planning actions are transferred directly into the child’s plan and 
reviewed at each plan update, until the identified outcomes are achieved for the child. The 
following collaborative process has been agreed:

 Children in Need/ DCYPS Early Help: audit actions will be discussed at the next Child 
in Need review/ TAF meeting and transposed into the care plan.  This should allow for 
the child/young person and family to be included.  If they are not attending the review 
then this needs to be discussed with them beforehand.

 Child Protection: the actions will be discussed at the next core group or child 
protection conference – whichever comes first – and transposed into the CP plan.  This 
should allow for the child/young person and family to be included.  If they are not at the 
core group/conference then this needs to be discussed with them beforehand. If the 
core group precedes the conference, then the CP chair needs to be made aware of the 
audit actions relative to care planning, so that their oversight is maintained.

 Children in Care: the actions will be discussed with the child/young person by the 
social worker and then with the IRO.  As outcome focussed actions are likely to 
constitute a change to the care plan, a Child in Care review should be held to consider 
the proposed action and then included in an updated CLA plan

 Care Leavers: the actions from the audit will be discussed with the young person by 
the social worker and their Pathway Plan updated with them at this point.

Team managers are expected to record on the child’s file when care plan actions have 
been transferred to the child’s plan and whether the child, family and IRO/CP Chair have 
been appropriately involved.  They are also expected to maintain oversight of non-care 
planning actions to ensure timely completion.  The QA team maintains an action tracker, 
which notes updates from Team Managers regarding their oversight of both Care Planning 
and Non-Care Planning Actions.

Page 94



25

Over the last three months, there have been 146 audits completed, of which 104 have 
contained Care Planning Actions. Of these Care Planning Actions:

a) 16 (15%) have been transferred to the child’s plan on time; 

b) 12 (12%) have been transferred to the child’s plan late;

c) 43 (41%) where the Team Manager has yet to provide an update;

d) 31 (30%) have not yet been transferred to the child’s plan. 30 of these relate to August 
audits and so it is likely that a review has not yet taken place.

In addition to this, there are 72 audits completed prior to July 2021, where the actions have 
not yet been transferred to the child’s plan or the team manager has not provided an update 
on their transfer.  These audits date back to January 2020.

Where actions have not been transferred to the child’s plan in a timely way, this could 
reflect a missed opportunity for learning from the audit to make a meaningful difference to 
the child.

Over the last three months there have been 198 non-care planning actions agreed from 
audit, of which:

a) 95 (48%) have been completed on time;

b) 31 (16%) have been completed late; 

c) 64 (32%) are overdue; 

d) 7 (4%) are not yet due to be completed

e) For 1 (1%) the social work service was ended before the action was completed

In addition to this, there are 61 non-care planning actions, from audits prior to June 2021, 
which are overdue being completed or the team manager has not provided an update. 

Compared with the August QAF report, the timeliness of audit action completion has not 
improved.  There also continues to be a number of historic audit actions which have not yet 
been achieved, which are therefore unlikely to make a meaningful difference to the child’s 
situation.  Responsiveness to audit for individual children requires ongoing attention and for 
this reason a proposal for QA surgeries has now been agreed starting in November 2021.

While impact for individual children following audit requires improvement, audit remains 
influential in the following areas:

 Core audits are consistently employed in the evaluation and support offered in the 
GCC ASYE programme. These can be linked to learning opportunities and practice 
improvements.

 Audits are being used by individual practitioners and teams to reflect and learn about 
practice improvement.

 There are clear changes in direction for practice and improved outcomes for some 
children as a result of audit; and this is most markedly the case for Children of Concern 
immediately following audit.

 The findings from audit and other forms of QA activity continue to shape the 
organisation’s learning and improvement activity.  A key example of this is the 
development and implementation of the Essentials 2.0 programme, the leadership and 

Page 95



26

management programme, the Practice fundamentals, and the Essentials 3.0 
programme all came about as a direct result of audit findings.

Page 96



27

4.2 QA governance

There are a number of forums where the QA report is considered including the Children’s 
Services Improvement Board, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
the Children’s Senior Leadership Team, and Children’s Services Improvement Executive 
meetings.  The monthly Strategic Performance and Quality Meeting also allow QA findings 
to be triangulated against improvement activity and performance and feed into the refresh.  
A monthly meeting also takes place between the Director (Safeguarding and Care) and the 
Head of Quality to review the QA findings to inform understanding and planning.  

There is now considerable alignment between performance and QA reporting and the 
response by leadership through the AIP which is the key mechanism for driving change.

5.0 Conclusions & Recommendations

It is encouraging that over a particularly demanding period, the previous AIP targets for 
work rated as good and inadequate were consistently achieved.  That these targets relate 
to children, young people and families in receipt of a better service makes it appropriate 
that these be stretched.  That this stretching has coincided with rising demand should 
neither detract from the accomplishments to date, nor the need to reach these new targets 
albeit there are notable demands on the system at this time.  

A number of practice areas are identified in this report as needing improvement (see 
section 2.1. a – j).  As a result, the following recommendations attend largely to these 
areas, along with the need to demonstrate improved impact for individual children subject to 
audit:

a) This report identifies that the rising demand, alongside the turnover of social workers, 
represent a growing risk to the service’s quality of practice.  Leadership have already 
taken steps to raise the recruitment and retention offer (e.g. the contribution of the 
Academy, MTFS planning, incentives to attract and retain, market competitiveness, 
etc.).  The recommendation from the previous report that proactive work be undertaken 
by the Children’s Services Strategic Workforce Planning Group has been picked up by 
that group and is being held as a key priority in multiple leadership meetings (e.g. LTM, 
SLT, and EIG). 

b) The Children of Concern ordinarily require urgent resolution of identified practice issues 
and it is good to see renewed vigour in this area this month.  Based on recent 
performance this vigour needs to be sustained so that timely and effective outcomes 
are realised for these children. 

c) Close attention to improvement planning for Child Protection practice is needed:

- Embed and evidence the use of the Essentials 2.0 risk prompts within the Strategy 
Discussions.

- Particular attention to safety planning for children subject to s47 enquiries.

- Statutory partners to undertake joint s47 enquiries as required under Working 
Together (2018).  

- Priority training of social workers, managers, and CP chairs supporting children 
subject to CP plans in the Essentials 3.0 Ability to Change course.  Those in the 
CfSSW Systemic Practice cohorts should benefit from the attention in this training 
on this area of practice.   

- Continued emphasis by CP chairs on their Quality Assurance Reviews, affirming 
good practice and escalating concerns about practice as these are identified.  

Page 97



28

- CP chairs to attend closely to:
o That children subject to repeat interventions are accelerated into 

proportionate intervention where needed.
o The rationale for children remaining on or coming off CP plans is evident at 

every review with reference to the Essentials 2.0 risk principles.   
o The child’s lived experience is evident in their CP plans.  
o Emotional harm not being confused with other categories of harm.  

d) The Permanence project to schedule improvement activity identified in ‘2.i.’ above, 
marking closely the evaluation of Reunification outlined in this report.  

e) Review of the Care Leaver improvement plan to drive rates of good practice to 
previous levels for this group.  

f) Attention by Team Managers and Advanced Practitioners to quality improvement work 
in their teams to consistent meet the Practice Fundamentals benchmarks for C-SMART 
planning and direct work.  

g) Embed the QA surgery proposal in all localities and review this in 2 months’ time in 
LTM.
 

h) GSCP task-finish group on exploitation to complete and submit strategy on 
Exploitation/risks outside of the home in accord with the deadline.  This to be aligned 
with the intra-departmental work on a new pathway, provision and practice for 
safeguarding young people.

i) Continuing emphasis through the Leadership Team Meeting on the implementation of 
the Social GRACES, Language that Cares, and Life Story work.  

j) Incorporate into the forthcoming QA review a clear methodology for supporting practice 
leaders that need to improve their evaluations of practice.  This will attend to the 
themes observed in this report of conceptualisation of available information, 
constructing impact statements, and reducing over-optimism.  This refresh of the 
framework to also move away from auditors evaluating practice within their own remit.  

Page 98



1. Purpose

To provide the forecast outturn figures for the 2021/22 revenue budgets.

The structure of the report reflects the commissioning view of children and families services. 
Services are grouped by Service Areas with DSG (Dedicated Schools Grant) and non-DSG 
variances identified. 

DSG is the grant allocated by the Department for Education to fund all education services 
including schools and the total for Gloucestershire is over £524 million. Of this total, £413 
million is delegated to schools and academies with the remainder relating to early years, 
high needs and a small number of central support services which are the responsibility of the 
Local Authority. High needs includes the funding for special schools, pupil referral service, 
additional SEN support for pupils in mainstream schools and post 16 support to colleges.

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 Overall Position

The current forecast for the year end revenue position as at September 2021 for non-DSG 
funded services is an over-spend of £17.159 million (13.56% of budget). Included within 
these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of COVID-19 on budgets which 
totals £9.186 million giving an underlying over-spend of £7.973 million. Significant over-
spends include the external placements budget due to increasing numbers of children in 
care partly linked to the pandemic but also the number and cost of placements, social care 
staffing and home to school transport.

Additional forecast expenditure for the impact of COVID-19 covers three key areas which are 
external placement costs including the additional cost of accommodation for care leavers, 
cost of social care staff and support to vulnerable pupils. A significant part of this forecast 
includes the continuing impact on social care and education services even though lockdown 
measures have eased.
 
Activity levels within social care continue to cause significant budgetary pressures on 
children’s services and in particular against the external placement resulting in the over-
spend. At the end of September 2021 children in care numbers were 827 compared to 754 
at the end of April 2020. Gloucestershire’s number and rate of children in care is above 
statistical neighbours, but remains below England average.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by £18.283 
million in 2021/22, which includes the deficit carry forward of £13.67 million and the deficit 
budget which was set for High Needs of £4.093 million including recent adjustments 
between Local Authorities. The deficit budget results from setting realistic budgets within 

Gloucestershire County Council

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report
Children & Families Services

Net Budget Analysis
Forecast Outturn Position September 2021

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



high needs services considering growth trends and existing activity demands on special 
school and independent provision and top up budgets. High needs top-up budgets for 
colleges, primary and secondary schools are forecasting a £1.25 million overspend due to 
increased demand.

This position is analysed in the monitoring spreadsheet provided at attachment 1 to this 
report, based on actual expenditure to the end of August 2021 and forecasts input in 
September 2021. 

2.2 Variance Summary

The major variances for non-DSG, with summary explanations are:
 Children in Care – the current forecast over-spend against the external placement 

budget is £12.787 million (41.1% above budget) and includes a contingency of £3.1 
million for new cases in-year to allow for additional placements to replace existing care 
commitments or for higher number of placements due to increased activity. The forecast 
also includes the current and future impact of COVID-19 on placement numbers which 
totals £7.047 million resulting in an underlying over-spend of £5.74 million. The current 
forecast average unit cost of a placement is £114,700 per annum, (residential/supported 
living average unit cost of £187,900). There are currently 459 external placements, of 
which 121 are residential and 123 supported living placements. 

 Safeguarding – Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast over-spend of 
£1.232 million (6.4% above budget) with an underlying position net of COVID of £936k. 
Effective management of the workforce, improved processes for recruitment, more 
effective advertising and the support and training provided by the social work academy 
should address the current cost pressure. Turnover of staff is rising and has been 
between 16.5% and 20.3% over the last six months and at the end of August there were 
85 agency workers in post. 

 Regulated Services - in-house fostering and adoption services are under-spent by 
£521k due to activity at the start of the year being below budgeted assumptions. 

 Commissioning for learning - Home to School transport is reported as £1 million 
overspent and is due to the number and cost of the transport for SEN pupils, increased 
cost of procuring new routes and the number of solo journeys required.

 Services for CYP with Additional Needs - The increase in the number of Education, 
Health and Social Care plans (EHCPs) is causing a budgetary pressure in SEN budgets 
with a reported over-spend of £288k net of COVID-19 expenditure.

The major variances for DSG include:
 Schools – the deficit carry forward is £13.67 million and relates to the high needs block.
 Education Outcomes and Intervention – the deficit budget that was set for the high 

needs block totals £4.093 million and is included under this heading. The deficit budget 
results from setting realistic budgets within high needs services considering growth 
trends and existing activity demands on special school and independent provision and 
top up budgets. 

 High Needs Top-up Budgets – forecasting a £1.25 million overspend due to increased 
demand.

2.3 Other Key Financial Information

To address this positon the strategy is to bring the child in care population more in line with 
statistical neighbours over the coming years.  This will involve a range of measures, aimed 
to impact on both numbers and associated costs, including  

Page 100



 further developing our edge of care offer to support children at home and to prevent 
their escalation and entry into care;

 increasing the number and proportion of children placed with in house foster care;
 continuing to develop our own placement provision with providers to exert a greater 

influence on the market and control costs;
 continuing to develop our permanence planning to reduce drift and delay and ensure 

children can leave our care in a timely manner by achieving permanence or 
reunification as appropriate.

3. Detailed Analysis
An analysis of the financial figures is contained in the following attachments:
 Attachment 1 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) Children & Families – SLA format
 Attachment 2 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) – High Risk Analysis
 Attachment 3 – Activity Analysis – External Placements
 Attachment 4 – Net Covid-19 Analysis

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

Services for CYP £000 £000 DSG   £000
Non DSG 

£000
Total £000 %

Education & Additional Needs Chris Spencer

Schools CF0201 -60,988 -45,897 14,591 500 15,091 -24.7%

Services for CYP with Additional Needs CF0202 25,770 26,783 164 849 1,013 3.9%

Disabled Children & Young People CF0209 4,174 4,399 0 225 225 5.4%

Education Outcomes and Intervention CF0203/04/05 5,393 8,997 3,567 37 3,604 66.8%

Commissioning for Learning CF0206 15,942 16,757 -64 879 815 5.1%

Early Years Education CF0210 33,894 33,897 4 -1 3 0.0%

Other Education Services CF02-0 612 768 -59 215 156 25.5%

Total Education & Additional Needs 24,797 45,704 18,203 2,704 20,907 84.3%

ok ok ok ok ok All ok

Children & Families Gail Hancock

Safeguarding CF0301 21,334 22,544 0 1,210 1,210 5.7%

Children in Care CF0302 33,683 46,385 0 12,702 12,702 37.7%

Regulated Services CF0303 19,965 19,444 0 -521 -521 -2.6%

Quality CF0305 2,310 2,359 0 49 49 2.1%

CF Management & Business Support CF0306 5,553 5,939 0 386 386 7.0%

Localities Coordination & Support CF0307 4,115 4,160 0 45 45 1.1%

Young People Services CF040201 4,035 4,181 0 146 146 3.6%

Total Children & Families 90,995 105,012 0 14,017 14,017 15.4%

ok ok ok ok ok All ok

Commissioned Children's Services Wendy Williams

Young People Support CF0402 4,609 4,609 0 0 0 0.0%

Commissioning of Intervention Services CF0403 886 889 0 3 3 0.3%

Health Contracts CF0405 704 704 0 0 0 0.0%

Commissioned Early Years Services CF0406 4,449 4,448 0 -1 -1 -0.0%

Other Commissioned Children's Services 10,648 10,650 0 2 2 0.0%

CF07 ok ok ok ok ok All ok

Commissioning Function Sue Hall 118 632 80 434 514

Roundings -1 1 0 2 2

Total 126,557 161,999 18,283 17,159 35,442 28.0%

Variance

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 1

Children & Families Services

Net Budget Analysis

Year-End Forecast input in September 2021

P
age 103



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

High Risk Areas £000 £000 DSG £000
Non DSG 

£000

Total 

£000
%

External Placements Wendy Williams 31,149 43,936 0 12,787 12,787 41.1%

Independent Special Schools Tracy Oosthuizen 16,969 16,982 12 1 13 0.1%

Fostering Tammy Wheatley 12,764 12,676 0 -88 -88 -0.7%

Adoption Tammy Wheatley 2,644 2,627 0 -17 -17 -0.6%

Special Guard & Res Orders Tammy Wheatley 4,557 4,141 0 -416 -416 -9.1%

Safeguarding Staff Gail Hancock 19,202 20,434 0 1,232 1,232 6.4%

Section 17 & Discretionary Payments Various 1,009 1,009 0 0 0 0.0%

Discretionary Payments 599 599 0 0 0 0.0%

Section 17 Payments 410 410 0 0 0 0.0%

High Needs Top-up Budgets Amanda Henderson 31,611 32,861 1,250 0 1,250 4.0%

Pensions Philip Haslett 3,577 3,577 0 0 0 0.0%

Youth Support - Leaving Care / After Care Mark Bone 4,035 4,182 0 147 147 3.6%

Staffing 3,045 3,242 0 197 197 6.5%

Payments 990 940 0 -50 -50 -5.1%

Transport Clare Medland 14,140 15,142 0 1,002 1,002 7.1%

Nursery Education Fees Sarah Hylton 33,614 33,618 4 0 4 0.0%

Roundings 0 -1 0 -1 -1 

Total 175,271 191,184 1,266 14,647 15,913 9.1%

Variance

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 2

Children & Families Services

High Risk Analysis

Year-End Forecast input in September 2021

P
age 104



Mth 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 Mth 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 Mth 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 Mth 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Apr 131 159 136 153 184 245 270 320 331 436 Apr 21 31 33 37 55 63 72 78 92 117 Apr 92 107 89 108 104 153 161 174 182 197 Apr 21 14 8 19 29 37 68 57

May 134 152 138 162 201 252 287 315 356 468 May 22 30 36 42 56 63 72 82 102 125 May 93 101 90 114 118 154 176 171 181 211 May 21 12 6 19 35 39 62 73

Jun 129 149 142 174 205 248 287 317 354 482 Jun 23 31 35 45 63 61 68 79 99 128 Jun 90 95 95 117 119 155 181 175 176 222 Jun 22 12 12 23 32 38 63 79

Jul 129 149 138 170 226 247 299 321 375 471 Jul 21 29 36 41 61 65 68 88 94 125 Jul 94 98 92 115 136 150 188 168 197 218 Jul 22 10 14 29 32 43 65 84

Aug 126 138 132 169 215 241 305 321 392 459 Aug 23 24 29 40 57 61 70 86 98 121 Aug 88 98 94 115 133 146 192 169 205 215 Aug 16 9 14 25 34 43 66 89

Sep 131 134 136 166 231 251 289 325 381 Sep 23 24 27 40 63 65 68 79 99 Sep 91 95 101 111 145 152 182 174 195 Sep 14 8 15 23 34 39 72 87

Oct 127 135 134 178 221 246 294 330 375 Oct 22 28 22 44 61 65 69 81 95 Oct 89 93 104 119 136 144 186 178 194 Oct 13 8 15 24 37 39 71 86

Nov 127 139 129 176 213 246 295 340 377 Nov 22 31 22 45 61 67 75 91 100 Nov 89 96 100 117 131 138 173 177 196 Nov 11 7 14 21 41 47 72 81

Dec 127 133 124 189 222 246 307 336 401 Dec 24 30 20 51 61 67 75 90 107 Dec 91 91 98 120 133 142 178 175 200 Dec 12 6 18 26 37 54 71 94

Jan 129 138 132 180 217 244 314 330 395 Jan 25 34 24 49 60 67 82 91 107 Jan 93 92 100 113 129 142 176 173 197 Jan 12 8 18 28 35 56 66 91

Feb 126 142 124 178 234 252 312 336 404 Feb 25 34 24 52 61 68 82 88 114 Feb 91 94 95 110 137 149 173 181 194 Feb 14 5 16 36 35 57 67 96

Mar 129 136 143 187 231 246 313 346 403 Mar 25 30 36 53 63 67 84 89 112 Mar 94 91 100 114 134 146 177 187 194 Mar 15 7 20 34 33 52 70 97

Average129 142 134 174 217 247 298 328 379 463 23 30 29 45 60 65 74 85 102 123 91 96 97 114 130 148 179 175 193 213 16 9 14 26 35 45 68 85

1. Youth Offending placements account for the difference between the number of residential and fostering placements and the total.

2. Activity includes unaccompanied asylum seekers

3. The numbers are based on placements in the database at the end of a month. Previous months figures are updated as information becomes available

4. Prior to 2011/12 supported living placements were included within the fostering figures

5. There were a significant number of placements which came in during March 2013 which were only identified from April 

Notes

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report

Children & Young People’s Services

Activity Analysis - External Placements

Total Agency Placements Total Residential Agency Placements Total Fostering Agency Placements Supported Living Placements

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

A
p

r

M
a

y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a

r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Total External Agency Placements 

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e

b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Agency Residential Placements 

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e

c

J
a
n

F
e

b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Agency Fostering Placements 

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e

b

Supported Living Placements 

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

P
age 105



Service Area Budget Manager
September total 

variance
Sept COVID Sept Net position

Services for CYP Non DSG £000 £000 £000

Education & Additional Needs Chris Spencer

Schools CF0201 500 500 0

Services for CYP with Additional Needs CF0202 849 561 288

Disabled Children & Young People CF0209 225 225

Education Outcomes and Intervention CF0203/04/05 37 37

Commissioning for Learning CF0206 879 75 804

Early Years Education CF0210 -1 -1

Other Education Services CF02-0 215 167 48

Total Education & Additional Needs 2,704 1,303 1,401

ok

Children & Families Gail Hancock

Safeguarding CF0301 1,210 296 914

Children in Care CF0302 12,702 7,047 5,655

Regulated Services CF0303 -521 -521

Quality CF0305 49 49

CF Management & Business Support CF0306 386 443 -57

Localities Coordination & Support CF0307 45 45

Young People Services CF040201 146 8 138

Total Children & Families 14,017 7,794 6,223

ok

Commissioned Children's Services Wendy Williams

Young People Support CF0402 0 0

Commissioning of Intervention Services CF0403 3 3

Health Contracts CF0405 0 0

Commissioned Early Years Services CF0406 -1 -1

Other Commissioned Children's Services 2 0 2

CF07 ok

Commissioning Function Sue Hall 434 89 345

Roundings 2 2

Total 17,159 9,186 7,973

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - Attachment 4

Children & Families Services

Net Budget Analysis with COVID-19 analysis

Year-End Forecast input in September 2021

P
age 106



 

 

   

 28 October 2021 Andrew Cook HMI 

Regional Director 

  
Mr Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services 

Gloucestershire County Council 

 

Sent via email: chris.spencer@gloucestershire.gov.uk   

 
 
 
 

 

Dear Chris, 

 

Thank you for meeting with me, Dominic Stevens, Senior HMI, Social Care, Jane Burchall, Senior HMI, 

Early Years, and Simon Rowe, Senior HMI, Schools, on 30 September 2021. Please extend our thanks 

to Gail Hancock, Interim Director for Children's Safeguarding & Care, Kirsten Harrison, Director of 

Education, Clare Dudman, Head of School of Improvement, Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for 

Integrated Commissioning Children and Families, Sarah Hilton, Head of Early Years in Children’s 

Services and Andy Dempsy, Director of Partnerships and Strategy, for their valuable contributions.  

 

Social Care: 

The self-assessment and performance and quality data and analysis, you shared with us before we 

met, provided a helpful foundation for our meeting. In the meeting itself and through our discussion, 

you gave us a helpful overview of the key areas in which you feel you have made progress. You also 

spoke of the challenges you are continuing to work through, including those imposed by the Covid-19 

pandemic.  

 

You told us that staffing remains a key area of focus for you. You are pleased that your reliance on 

agency staff has dropped from over 50% three years ago to about 20% now. You explained how you 

have achieved this through a range of measures, including the establishment of a social work academy 

and initiatives such as, ‘Front line’ and ‘Step-up’. You are pleased that well over 90% of social workers 

have a caseload of 22 children or less. However, you are keen to improve on your target figure of 18 

children per social worker, which currently stands at 44%. You assured us that all social workers in 

their assessed first year of practice have a caseload of under 18 children. 

 

You outlined your approach to improvement and reported that the last few months have been a 

challenging time. Demand has risen both in referrals and the number of children in care. There has 

been an 11% increase in the proportion of children in care over the last 18 months. During the 

summer, this pressure has been further impacted on by the introduction of necessary upgrades in the 

council’s ICT. For example, you told us that although you have continued to visit children regularly, the 

recording of this was not as swift, or as complete, as you would want it to be in all cases. You are 

continuing to plan improvements in your ICT. This includes plans to better integrate the recording and 

accessibility of records of early help interventions and referrals to your Single Point of Access. You plan 

to have these improvements in place by January 2022. You told us that the timeliness of return home 

2 Rivergate 
Temple Quay 
Bristol 

BS1 6EH  

 

T 08456 40 40 40  
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

www.ofsted.gov.uk 

 

Direct T  03000131236 
Direct F  

Andrew.Cook@ofsted.gov.uk 

Page 107

Agenda Item 11

mailto:chris.spencer@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

 

 

interviews has also slipped over the last few months. You acknowledged this, noted that it was most 

probably linked to a rise in demand, and restated a commitment to improve timeliness. 

 

Alongside a rise in demand at the ‘front door’, you have also noted a rise in repeat referrals and repeat 

child protection plans. You believe the increase in repeat referrals may be connected to a possible risk-

aversion from some partner agencies. You also highlighted the need to have a greater shared 

understanding of referral criteria. You are working with these partner agencies, in particular health 

agencies, to achieve this. You told us that the rise in repeat child protection plans is connected with a 

‘legacy’ of historic poorer practice in sufficiently understanding and addressing the difficulties faced by 

children and their families. 

 

We heard that you have a focus on improving services for children on the edge of care. You told us 

that you have strengthened your monitoring of the pre-proceedings element of the public law outline. 

You have introduced an entry to care panel and, to further reduce delay for children, are drafting joint 

letters of instruction for expert witnesses much earlier. Although the number of children in care 

continues to rise, you believe that these measures have made a positive difference for children and 

have reduced the rate at which the number of children in care has increased. You are confident that 

the edge of care team is not only focused on diverting children from care, when this is in their best 

interests, but also on supporting children in their placements and enabling re-unification with birth 

families when possible. 

 

Sufficiency of placements also remains both a challenge and an area of significant focus for you. You 

told us about several pro-active developments, both ‘in-house’ and with partner agencies, to broaden 

and deepen the range of placement options you have for children and young people. You are proud of 

the new Trevone House development and told us about the assessment suite, two ‘tier four step-down’ 

beds and the ‘PACE’ bed that have been developed. 

 

You told us that during the pandemic you worked hard to keep in touch with care leavers. You also 

strengthened your support to them in a number of ways, including practical measures such as food 

parcels and additional funding. Your own quality assurance highlights some areas of weaker practice 

with care leavers. You explained that this is not an issue across the service. It is limited to specific 

teams and individuals who you are working closely with to help improve practice.  

 

Since Ofsted’s last visit you told us that you have worked to improve the quality of personal education 

plans. You explained that your own quality assurance tells you that these are improving. The 

proportion of young people not in employment, education and training increased slightly over the last 

six months. We discussed how you continue to liaise with schools and direct the resources of the 

virtual school to achieve progress. You kindly agreed to share further data and information with us 

beyond this meeting to illustrate the steps you have taken and the progress you have achieved. 

 

Overall, you are confident that the improvement you have achieved to date means that children in 

Gloucestershire are no longer receiving an inadequate service. You aspire to continue improving the 

quality and impact of the services you provide to children and families. You would like your next visit 

from Ofsted to be a judgement inspection. 

 

Page 108



 

 

 

Schools: 

We recognised that you have a relatively new local authority leadership team working with schools. 

You shared the presentation that you made to the scrutiny committee. We asked about your initial 

priorities for this team. You made clear that an initial priority is to build effective partnerships with 

schools in order bring about a good quality of education for pupils. You stated that visits to schools had 

begun to establish these valuable relationships. 

 

An education reference group (ERG) has been set up. This group is to enable the local authority, the 

regional schools commissioner’s representative and local education leaders to come together and 

discuss ongoing issues and/or concerns in Gloucestershire. It was noted that, while the group had 

been set up two years ago, only two meetings have taken place so far. You recognised that it has been 

a challenge, in the recent past, to bring important stakeholders together due to the historic lack of 

positive relationships and engagement. Therefore, this group is a step forward towards the local 

authority’s ambition to ensure education leaders work together. To develop this group further, you 

intend to invite leaders from key multi-academy trusts. 

 

We noted some outcomes from recent inspections of schools 

 

▪ Brimscombe Church of England Primary School received a section 8 inspection in summer term. 
While the school retained its ‘good’ rating, inspectors will return to conduct a full section 5 
inspection due to concerns about mathematics and pupils’ vocabulary development. 

▪ St James Church of England Junior School has recently received a section 5 inspection. The 
provisional judgement is that the school requires improvement. This means that, in the school’s 
last three inspections, it has been judged to be inadequate and to require improvement twice. 
The school has fundamental weaknesses in its curriculum design and implementation. 

▪ Peak Academy was deemed inadequate due to serious safeguarding failures. You have 
contacted the regional schools commissioner about this school and the CEO of the multi-
academy trust, responsible for the school, to seek reassurances that pupils are now 
safeguarded. 

 

We highlighted some key issues. We discussed the proportion of pupils being electively home 

educated. While you did not have up-to-date information at this time, you have begun to see a modest 

number of pupils beginning to return to school again. We also talked about the recommencement of 

routine inspection of outstanding schools. We discussed the sexual abuse review that Ofsted undertook 

in the summer term and explained that learning from this review will inform school inspection. We also 

asked you to provide us with an update on engagement in post-16 education. 

 

SEND: 

 

We talked about provision for children and young people with special educational needs and/or 

disabilities (SEND). We shared our concern that, during the initial teacher education (ITE) inspection of 

the University of Gloucestershire, some trainees said they did not feel confident to meet the needs of 

pupils with SEND within the classroom. When some headteachers were asked about the training they 

had put in place, they appeared to not acknowledge the importance of this work. Some felt this wasn’t 

necessary as their schools had low numbers of pupils with SEND. You reported that there has been a 

significant increase in the number of requests for education, health and care (EHC) plans. You also 

shared your concerns that pupils that are excluded from school are often those with an EHCP. 

Page 109



 

 

 

 

Early Years: 

Your annual childcare sufficiency report was approved by cabinet last week. You remain confident that 

you have sufficient childcare places for every child who requires one. You told us that you continue to 

monitor the position closely to ensure you identify any risks to sufficiency early. For example, you 

explained how you are utilising birth data and data from planning colleagues to ensure that places are 

created where they are needed. In addition, you told us that you are also focusing on the creation of 

places for two-year-olds to prevent a potential shortfall. You reported your ongoing efforts to support 

settings impacted by COVID-19. This has included the provision of funding as well as support for 

settings to create business plans as a way of ensuring long-term viability. 

 

We discussed the weaker early years settings in your area. Your early years team are providing support 

for the two settings that have recently been judged to be inadequate. You have noted a theme in the 

shortcomings of these settings related to safeguarding and you are addressing this through the 

implementation of improvement plans and the delivery of safeguarding training. In addition, you are 

confident that your early years team are now working more closely with your Local Authority 

Designated Officer (LADO) to ensure settings get the support they need. You are pleased that your 

LADO is delivering a presentation at your forthcoming early years conference as this will raise 

awareness of the LADO role and the local safeguarding children partnership procedures. 

 

You noted a pleasing increase in the number of settings that are accessing safeguarding training now 

that you are making greater use of your online training platform. You are conscious that there may still 

be some settings who are not engaging in training but who would benefit from doing so. You are using 

information gathered through your early years setting’s annual safeguarding audits to prioritise those 

you work with. In addition, you told us that you are analysing safeguarding referral data to help you to 

identify further settings who may benefit from some intervention. 

 

You reported that you have delivered a range of training for providers to support the implementation 

of the early years foundation stage reforms. You feel the majority of settings are managing the 

changes well. You are using your meetings with managers to build leadership capacity in individual 

settings. This is because you have identified that some are over-reliant on your team to ensure they 

are up-to-date with changes in the sector. 

  

We shared our emerging concern about the use of apprentices in the early years sector. Information 

indicates that nationally some settings are not supporting apprentices well enough and do not 

understand the requirement to ensure that all staff, including apprentices, are trained in safeguarding. 

While you have not noted this to be a specific issue in your area, you will continue to work with 

providers to ensure they fully understand the requirements and ensure apprentices are trained and 

used appropriately. 

 

I thanked you and your colleagues for the time spent preparing and for their contributions to this 
useful meeting.  

 

Yours sincerely,  

Page 110



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Andrew Cook HMI 

Regional Director, South West, Ofsted 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Safeguarding Children in Gloucestershire
	6 Improvement Board Update
	7 Accelerated Improvement Plan
	8 Performance Report
	C&FOSC Q2 2021-22 Performance Report
	C&FOSC Q2 2021-22 Performance Scorecard

	9 Quality Assurance Framework
	10 Revenue Monitoring Report
	Copy of P06 CF Sept 2021 App SC (2)

	11 Ofsted Annual Conversation Outcome Letter



